THE THEORY

OF

INTERNATIONAL TRADE



THE THEORY

OF

INTERNATIONAL TRADE

WITH

SOME OF ITS APPLICATIONS TO ECONOMIC POLICY

BY

C. F. BASTABLE, M.A., LLD.

PROFESSOR OF POLITICAL ECONOMY IN THE UNIVERSITY OF DUBLIN, ETC. AUTHOR OF 'PUBLIC FINANCE,' 'THE COMMERCE OF NATIONS,' ETC.

THIRD EDITION, REVISED

London

MACMILLAN AND CO., LIMITED NEW YORK: THE MACMILLAN COMPANY

1900

All rights reserved

First Edition, published elsewhere, 1807; Second Edition, 1807; Third Edition, 1900

NOTE TO THIRD EDITION

THE text has been again revised and some mistakes corrected. In particular, Professor Edgeworth's criticism has led to the removal of a serious error, and one of the statements as to comparative cost has been modified at the suggestion of Professor Marshall. An additional Appendix dealing with some disputed points has been added, and the text has by this means been relieved of some controversial matter unsuitable for ordinary students who may require to use the book.

C. F. BASTABLE.

TRINITY COLLEGE, DUBLIN, June 2, 1900.

NOTE TO SECOND EDITION

In this edition the text has been revised throughout, some matter of temporary interest omitted, and the various discussions brought up to date. As the book is specially intended for serious students of economic theory, the principles of the subject are considered, freed as far as possible from unnecessary details. Those who desire to follow the actual course of commercial policy and the several phases of protectionism and free-trade, may be referred to the author's *Commerce of Nations* (Methuen), which supplements, and is supplemented by, the present work.

Very hearty-thanks are due to Mr. A. B. Clark, M.A., for his kindly interest manifested by reading the proof-sheets, and furnishing many valuable suggestions and criticisms.

C. F. BASTABLE.

FROM PREFACE TO FIRST EDITION

THE present work is an attempt to restate, in a more complete form, the doctrines of the classical English School on an important and difficult branch of political economy. That school has, in recent years, been severely criticised from several different standpoints, and there need be no hesitation in admitting that the whole body of economic science stands in need of a thorough revision, and, in some of its parts, an entire reconstruction. But it is not, therefore, incumbent on us to throw aside the more solid portions of the older building: it will rather be expedient to utilise all sound material already existing, and, as far as possible, to preserve that continuity of development which is one of the notes of a truly scientific system.

The theory of international trade has, therefore, been selected for exposition as being one of the products of the older political economy which is well worth preserving, and one, moreover, which is peculiarly suited for students, both on account of its intricacies and the logical processes employed, as also by reason of its bearing on the old, but still unclosed, controversy respecting the comparative merits of "protection" and free-trade.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER I

PRELIMINARY-THE GENERAL FEATURES OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Preliminary difficulties—Political meaning of the term "nation"; economic meaning—Objections to the theory of international trade—Its real basis—The principle of comparative cost; its applications and consequences—The advantages of foreign trade Pages 1-21

CHAPTER II

THE THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL VALUES

The problem of international values—J. S. Mill's hypothesis; its character and assumptions—In the simplest case the terms of exchange depend on comparative intensity of demand—Effect of (a) combination; (b) diminishing or increasing return; (c) hindrances to competition; (d) impelliments to exchange; (e) several commodities; (f) several countries—Complexity of international trade—Comparative productive power—Computation of gain— Freights—Active and passive trade Pages 22-48

CHAPTER III

MONEY IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Foreign trade really barter—Money a commodity; its peculiar features —International distribution of money—Ricardo's law; its consequences—Gains from foreign trade restated—Case of different cur

CHAPTER IV -

THE EQUATION OF INDEBTEDNESS

Exchange of goods not the sole commercial relation of nations—Other elements : loans and interest thereon ; earnings ; gifts ; freights ; government expenditures, and tributes—The equation of indebtedness must be ultimately established Pages 73-78

CHAPTER V

THE FOREIGN EXCHANGES

Trade adjusted by bills of exchange; simple illustration—Par of exchange—Elements in exchange relations—the specis points the normal limits to fluctuations—The Paris and New York Exchanges —Exceptional cases in which limits are exceeded—Exchange with (a) inconvertible paper, and (b) silver-using countries—Ordinary fluctuations—The correctives of the exchanges—"The exchanges have a tendency to return to par "—Triangular trade—The exchange in gold-producing and gold-distributing countries—The tendency towards equilibrium . Pages 79-96

CHAPTER VI

THE INFLUENCE OF FOREIGN TRADE ON THE INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION OF WEALTH

The Ricardian theory of distribution—Later amendments—Foreign trade cheapens products, and thus benefits capitalists or labourers — Under the law of diminishing return foreign trade tends to lower rent—Where internal competition is absent it checks monopoly—In countries that export food foreign trade may injure labourers and benefit landlords — This result not likely to be realised—Foreign trade by altering prices may affect the interests of classes—It breaks down custom Pages 97-109

CHAPTER VII

TAXATION FOR REVENUE IN ITS EFFECTS ON FOREIGN TRADE

CHAPTER VIII

THE RATIONALE OF FREE-TRADE

The policy of free-trade a deduction from the theory of foreign trade —Other arguments: (1) natural liberty; (2) general utility; (3) specific experience; (4) social development—Protection resembles difficulty of transport—Losses incurred under protection—Difference according as the law of increasing or that of diminishing return is operative—Prevalence of protection Pages 128-138

CHAPTER IX

ARGUMENTS FOR PROTECTION-REASONS FOR ITS PREVALENCE

The infant industry argument—Encouragement to manufactures—Noneconomic arguments—Political grounds for national safety; navigation laws—Protection to (a) agriculture; (b) manufactures— Diversity of industry argument—Complicated nature of foreign trade—Political evils of protection—Forces which support it: (1) interests of some producers; (2) ignorance of economic principles; (3) national sentiment . Pages 139-156

CHAPTER X

CONCLUSION

APPENDIX A

HISTORY OF THE THEORY

APPENDIX B

ON SOME COUNTER-THEORIES OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE .

Cournot, Mr. Sidgwick, Mr. Shadwell

Pages 173-180

APPENDIX C

ON SOME DISPUTED POINTS IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE

 The use of money in the exposition of the theory of International values—(2) The effect of an improvement in production on foreign trade—(3) Free-trade and loss of population . Pages 181-192

CHAPTER I

PRELIMINABY-THE GENERAL FEATURES OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

THE theory of Foreign Trade, with the various applications of that theory, admittedly forms one of the most complicated branches of economics. After all that has been written on the subject, there seems to be a haze over some of its most critical points, and even some difficulty in exactly apprehending its foundation. Much of this confusion is due to the vacillating attitude of the propounders of economic principles; but then it is also true that this vacillation is in itself evidence of the intricacy of the subject-matter to be dealt with. It. is not possible to doubt that the difficulty thus arising is due to the fact that the phenomena under examination, as well as the theory which deals with them, have been changing during the course of history, so that an analysis which would be accordant with the objects to be examined at a former period is no longer well-In brief, we have here the opposition so founded. often to be found in economic, and indeed in all social inquiries between the historical and the analytical method. Closer investigation of the basis of the theory which we are considering will make the assertion still clearer. For wherein lies the first difficulty which perplexes the student? Is it not in the very conception of a separate "international" as opposed to other kinds of trade? The statement that there are special conditions which render this branch of exchange so peculiar as to need a different form of exposition, has been questioned, not only by untrained and sentimental writers,¹ but also by sober and eminent economists. And even among those who accept it, the reason which is assigned does not always bear a strict investigation.

To elucidate this matter, it is necessary to consider the origin of the distinction. It is beyond dispute that it is historical. The early writers on trade found that nations were in reality isolated, and, more especially since they treated economic matters from the side of art rather than of science, their attention was directed towards the various ways in which national prosperity might be increased. The strength with which mercantilist doctrines were held at that period led to a very general advocacy of restraints on the course of foreign trade, for the purpose of increasing national wealth, and also, in some cases, adding to the relative power The examination of the conditions of the State. under which such measures should be used formed a groundwork for a theory of international exchange, based, it is true, on erroneous views, but yet useful, as furnishing a starting-point for further development. The overthrow of mercantilism by Adam Smith and

¹ Thus Mr. Ruskin, *Munera Pulveris* (edition of 1886), p. 111, tells us, "International value is regulated just as inter-provincial or interparishional value is."

GENERAL FEATURES OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 3

his followers, though it was accomplished by showing that the economic interests of nations were, for the most part, harmonious, nevertheless left the scientific problem open for discussion, and it is from this side that the theory has in reality been worked out. International trade is, then, in its development, as the very name implies, "trade between nations," so that it is necessary to explain what is meant by the term "nation" in ordinary and general use. Political philosophers have found it hard 3 give a concise and, at the same time, definite explanation; but here we may say with Mr. Freeman,¹ that " the word suggests to us a considerable continuous part of the earth's surface, inhabited by men who at once speak the same tongue and are united under the same government." Though the term "nation" is thus borrowed from political science, it is the economic features of the bodies coming under this description that have here to be noticed, since it is from them that the peculiar aspects of international exchange result; and economists have consequently followed this course. Bagehot, for instance, who would, on the political side, quite accept Mr. Freeman's description,² yet, from our special point of view, speaks of "a nation in the economic sense-that is, a group of producers within which labour and capital freely circulate "; " and again, " English Political Economy, as we know, says that capital fluctuates from trade to trade within a nation; and it adds that capital will not, as a rule, migrate beyond that nation."⁴ Thus, for the purpose of economic inquiry,

¹ Comparative Politics (1st ed.), p. 81.

² See Physics and Politics, chap. iii.

* Economic Studies, p. 240. 4 Ibid. p. 88.

CHAP.

the meaning of the leading term is altered, and a new connotation given to it, though the thread of connection between the two meanings is plain enough. Nations have been kept apart by various barriers of language, religion, mutual dislike, and, in most cases, by geographical distance, so that the economic conception of a nation is in truth a natural outcome of the facts of history. Still the alteration of meaning has to be carefully remembered, as well as the possibility in some cases of nations in the ordinary sense being excluded, and even more probably of some new cases being included in the new conception. Nor is it at all unusual to meet with these developments and amendments of popular language in economics. The term "rent," for example, instead of being "applied to whatever is annually paid by a farmer to his landlord," is confined, by Ricardo, to "that portion of the produce of the earth which is paid to the landlord for the use of the original and indestructible powers of the soil."¹ The analytical description of a "market," as given by Jevons,² is another instance, and many such cases may be found in other social sciences.³

The meaning which is thus conveyed by the word "nation" has, in some cases, been expressed by other terms which have, however, proved less convenient. In the *Wealth of Nations* it is of "every society or neighbourhood" that the mobility of labour and capital is predicated, and the later theory of international exchange would seem to be applicable to these "neigh-

¹ Ricardo, Works (ed. M'Culloch), p. 34.

² Theory of Political Economy, pp. 91-94.

³ The treatment of some fundamental juridical conceptions, by Austin and the analytical school, at once instructively illustrates this process, and also shows its use in a kindred subject.

bourhoods."1 Again, in Jevons' interesting examination of exchange, in his Coal Question, we have the term "trading bodies" used, as it appears, in a somewhat similar sense; but, on the whole, the old and long-established title has held its ground, and with good reason; for though the immobility of industrial agents may seem an insufficient justification for forming the boundaries of nations for the purpose of economic inquiries, still it cannot be denied that the political and economic boundaries do often coincide. It must. too, be noticed that both these classes of forces act and react on each other. The absence of the free and steady circulation of labour and capital helps to support political differences; while, as we have seen before, the political influences tend towards economic separation: and to the causes given above may be added the specially economic influences of different currencies and different financial systems. The operation of the various customs duties, too, is in itself a potent reason of estrangement between nations. From the point of view of social science in general, we may further say that international trade is trade between "societies," i.e. between the different social organisms which Sociology assumes as its field of investigation.

It results from the foregoing considerations that this description of a nation implies two conditions, one positive, and the other negative, viz.—(1) The free circulation of labour and capital within each group; and (2) the complete immobility of all the agents of production as regards transfer to other groups. To this assumption, however, objections from opposite sides

¹ See *Wealth of Nations*, book i. chaps. vii. x. Ricardo almost invariably uses the word "country" for this purpose.

may be and have been advanced. On the one hand, it may plausibly be argued that exchange is never between nations, but always between persons, either natural or artificial. Russia and the United States did indeed trade, when the transfer of Alaska from the former to the latter was arranged; but in almost every foreign exchange it is the individual member of a nationality which trades with members of another nation; and it may, therefore, be urged that as the laws of value do not change with climate or circumstances, there is no reason why the mere accompanying fact of immobility should alter the general law of the phenomenon? Some disputants would further argue that the laws of value should be simple, and reducible to one great general principle.¹ A conclusive answer to this class of objections is to be found in the fact that the power of free movement is essential for the existence of competition, and that value is altered by the presence or absence of that element; not, in any wise, by setting aside the so-called law of supply and demand, but by affecting the forces which are concisely described under that frequently misused phrase. The position of the parties under different social organisms, or different "nations," is thus a condition which affects the law of exchange, and which should be taken into account. The argument from simplicity, though supported by an appeal to "physical science," is but the old scholastic maxim that "Nature always acts by the simplest means," and

¹ "If, then, Economics is a Physical Science, and to be treated after the methods of a Physical Science, it is the essential condition of its being so that all the phenomena in it should be reduced to one grand General Theory."—H. D. Macleod, *Elements of Economics*, vol. i. p. 104.

does not need refutation. The supporters of these objections are not indeed agreed in their general views regarding economics, since some of them accept the Ricardian doctrine of cost of production as the main regulator of value, while others either rest on some vague account of "demand," or else appeal to moral and "human" considerations.

There is, however, another class of objectors who contend that it is not the adoption of the theory of international trade which is unfounded, but rather its limitation to any special cases. The principal representative of this opinion is Cliffe-Leslie, whose views are most distinctly given in the following passage:—

"The distinction which Mr. Mill has drawn between international trade and home trade, in respect of the transferability of labour and capital, and the equalisation of wages and profit, if it had once some foundation when trade at home was simpler and better known, and when foreign countries were almost wholly unknown, cannot now be sustained. Not that the doctrine of the equality of profits, and of the determination of comparative prices by comparative cost of production, is now applicable to both, but that it is applicable to neither. It was a step in the right direction to recognise its inapplicability to the exchanges between different countries; but the further step is now required of abandoning it altogether."¹

The facts which form the basis of the argument contained in the above passage have been recognised by most modern writers on economics; but though the operation of competition, and its essential condition the free movement of labour and capital—is, to some extent, impeded even in a single country, still the existence of special obstacles to transfer, in the case of

¹ Essays, p. 232. The same argument is brought forward by Mr. Laughlin in his useful edition of *Mill*. See p. 379.

international trade, cannot be denied. As we have seen, the influence of language, distance, special currency systems and other economic and social peculiarities, gives us a valid reason for regarding foreign trade as the particular field in which the immobility of the industrial agents may be bust perceived. It is

arities, gives us a valid reason for regarding foreign trade as the particular field in which the immobility of the industrial agents may be best perceived. It is further to be remembered, that even if there is "no free competition between all the industrial groups within a country,"¹ still this of itself furnishes no sufficient reason for abandoning the special form of theory hitherto adopted for our subject. Two other courses are open to us, viz. either (1) to freely extend the theory to all non-competing groups, thus adding to the number of objects to be dealt with; or (2) to treat each nation as a compound group, including several minor bodies, to which in turn the theory may be applied, while the exposition of the general doctrine is modified by the presence of these groups, so far as in fact they alter the operating forces. The objections, therefore, urged from so many different points of view against the theory of international trade, which has been a noteworthy product of the English economic school, may be either traced to misconceptions regarding its nature, or be set aside as irrelevant.

It remains to examine the precise nature of the immobility which has been assumed as the foundation of the theory. If by it be meant that labour and capital never pass beyond the bounds of a nation, it is plain that such an assertion is opposed to the most obvious facts. Superficial observation would rather select the great freedom of movement possessed by both these agents of production as a striking feature

¹ Laughlin's Mill, p. 879.

of the present economic period. It may with reason be held that, "a cosmopolitan loan fund exists which runs everywhere as it is wanted, and as the rate of interest tempts it."¹ The mobility of labour, it is true, is much less pronounced, but it is as certain as any future event can be, that this tendency will become stronger as the means of communication are further improved. It would, however, be a complete misapprehension of the real basis of the "international trade" theory to suppose that absolute fixity of the industrial agents is required in order to render it applicable. The truth on this subject has been very well stated by Cairnes, who points out that—

"It is by no means necessary to the truth of the doctrine, as it has been laid down, for example, by Ricardo and Mill, that there should be an absolute impossibility of moving labour and capital from country to country. What the doctrine requires is not this, but such a degree of difficulty in effecting their transference as shall interfere substantially and generally—that is to say, over the whole range of the commodities exchanged with the action of industrial competition."²

It is extremely likely—to take a hypothetical case —that double wages or double profit, in any country, over those to be obtained elsewhere, would cause a rapid migration to the country where those specially high gains were to be obtained; but it is not so clear that an advantage of one-fifth, or twenty per cent, in either wages or profits, would cause a movement of labour and capital. Another point needing consideration is, the evidence which such high rates of wages and profits, as 'are assumed in the former instance, would afford of the existence of special conditions of production, which would of themselves suggest the ' Bagehot, *Economic Studies*, p. 89. * *Leading Principles*, p. 363.

I

adoption of a special theory for cases of exchange between the supposed country and other lands, where industry was carried on under less favourable circumstances. It is plain, too, that if the movement brought about a reduction of gain in the favoured country of our supposition, at some point the obstacles set by the various retarding elements previously noticed would again arise, and, as a necessary consequence, with a new distribution of the sum of industrial forces, a new series of "international exchanges" would be carried on. The exact amount of difference in wages and profits which will cause movement from country to country can only be ascertained by observation; as might be expected, it varies in different countries and different periods. On the whole, it ought to be sufficiently plain, that in the fact of difficulty of movement there is an adequate reason for the special form of exposition that we are about to adopt. It' is requisite also to add, that the other features of difference which each country exhibits in its economic arrangements-such as its currency, its commercial legislation, its peculiar language and sentiments; in short, the existence of national character in the widest sense of the term, entirely apart from their effect in producing, or at least increasing, the difficulty of transfer, which is the main condition in operationjustify fully this line of investigation.¹

¹ Signor Lorini, in a recent interesting work (La Mometa e il Principio del Costo comparativo, pp. 82-84) regards the discussion in the text as "complicated" and "dangerous." He seems to overlook the importance for the theory of international trade of forming a clear conception of the varied influences that build up the barriers hindering the flow of labour and capital. The complication consists in the nature of things, and apparent simplicity can be gained only by ignoring real elements in the problem.

A clearer illustration of the exact application of the term country, or nation, might also be here desired. We may be asked-Does trade between England and Ireland come under the category of foreign or domestic trade? And if it be referred to the former, we may next be asked-Under what head is trade between Ulster and the other provinces to be dealt with? And thus by degrees the field may be reduced till we come down to trade between individuals. The answer to such a question must be made with reference to the particular facts of each case, and no general explanation will suffice. To take the instances just indicated. It seems to be undoubtedly true that trade between England and Ireland is rather "international" than domestic, even though some important features of "foreign trade" are absent. Again, exchange between the different provinces of Ireland seems rather to be domestic than "international," since the connection of the banking system of Ireland is very close and compact, and the rate of profit, as well as of wages, apparently tends to a common level. It is of course possible that on fuller investigation reasons for treating this last case as "international" might appear; and also for certain purposes it might be convenient to regard the United Kingdom as a single body, composed of several non-competing groups. Nothing but observation can completely solve difficulties of this class.¹

¹ "The obstacles to the free movement of labour and capital, which produce the conditions called 'international,' are, according to Cairnes, '(1) Geographical distance; (2) difference in political institutions; (3) difference in language, religion, and social customs—in a word, in forms of civilisation.' These differences exist between Maine and Montana, or even between two adjoining States, Ohio and Kentucky."—Laughlin's The reasons for a particular theory of foreign trade have now, it may be hoped, been sufficiently set forth. There is, however, one misconception, which, as it is suggested by the statements of Mill, needs to be examined. In several passages of the *Principles* it is implied that the fact of distance is the only reason for adopting a peculiar form of exposition, and foreign trade is regarded as being one instance of the wider case of trade between distant places.¹ It is true that

adopting a peculiar form of exposition, and foreign trade is regarded as being one instance of the wider case of trade between distant places.¹ It is true that the whole course of the discussion contained in his several chapters on foreign trade and values makes it clear that it was the immobility of labour and capital which, in Mill's opinion, so altered the phenomena of foreign trade, and that he has merely dwelt on distance as being one prominent cause of that immobility; but unfortunately, when trying to assail the system of a great writer, it is easier to select detached passages for criticism than to judge the exposition of a connected and developed theory; and we therefore find that Mr. Macleod has selected this doctrine for attack, by pointing out that distance is a matter of degree, and that it is impossible to fix the boundaries between domestic and foreign exchanges: and, granting that such was

Mill, p. 379. Cherbuliez would regard trade between the different Swiss Cantons as being international, *Precis*, vol. i. p. 376. The trade between England and her colonies is undoubtedly international; but in all these cases the political element is, to some extent, to be found. If the adoption of a new term were permissible, "region" would perhaps best suit the purpose; but "inter-regional" would prove a troublesome word: it is therefore better to adhere to the old term.

¹ "Does the law that permanent value is proportioned to cost of production, hold good between commodities produced in distant places, as it does between those produced in adjacent places? We shall find that it does not."—Mill, *Principles*, iii. 17, § 1.

12

CHAP.

1 GENERAL FEATURES OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 13

Mill's view, his position seems incapable of defence. This misinterpretation of the theory has been accepted by Mr. Sidgwick, who proceeds to develop a theory of the conditions determining value between distant countries, based on the existence of a double cost of carriage—a doctrine which will need examination, when we reach the problem of value, but which, it may be said at present, is inconsistent with the basis of the theory as we have stated it above.

We have now before us the elementary facts to which the doctrine has to be applied, viz. the various groups which, as we at present assume, exchange commodities, but between which industrial agents do not pass. It is important to see clearly the nature of the trade thus established. Will it not be exactly the same as trade carried on between separate individuals, who may indeed exchange the products of their labour, but cannot transfer their special industrial aptitudes ? The reason for all exchange is the increase of utility resulting therefrom-a reason which applies to non-competing groups, as well as to individuals; each exchange, however, necessarily implies an increase of utility, or at least the expectation of it by those who are best fitted to judge-the actual exchangers-and it further implies an increase of utility on each side. There is, moreover, no relation between the sacrifices incurred on one side and those undergone by the other. An individual about to exchange one commodity for another, does not consider the efforts of the other party to the exchange; he simply seeks his own satisfaction. The cost of the article that he receives is, for him, determined by the sacrifice which he incurs in producing the commodity given in return, from which it

follows that, with all goods obtained through exchange, the cost of production is replaced by the cost of acquisition.¹

Illustrations of this fact abound. The professional man who, with a single fee—the payment for, perhaps, a few moments' attention—obtains a ton of coal or more, does not incur anything like the sacrifice that the collier does, who has to devote hour after hour of hard toil to obtain a similar result. Again, it is evident that the more skilful producer may yet find it for his advantage to obtain a product by exchange, and thus avail himself of his still greater skill in producing another commodity. The often-quoted instance given by Ricardo may once more be used :—

"Two men can both make shoes and hats, and one is superior to the other in both employments; but in making hats he can only exceed his competitor by one-fifth, or 20 per cent, and in making shoes he can excel him by one-third, or $33\frac{1}{2}$ per cent. Will it not be for the interest of both that the superior man should employ himself exclusively in making shoes, and the inferior man in making hats i^{n}

A simple calculation shows that both parties gain by such an arrangement.

These facts, which, in our modern societies, are masked by the complex organisation of industry, or are referred to the working of other forces, as, *e.g.* competition, obtain prominence in the theory of international trade. It is there distinctly recognised that the cost of a country's imports must be measured by

³ "What everything really costs to the man who wants to acquire it, is the toil and trouble of acquiring it."—Wealth of Nations (ed. Nicholson), p. 12.

² Works, p. 77.

that of its exports, and that the former is the satisfaction for which the latter is the necessary sacrifice —a view which at once disposes of the cruder forms of Protectionism. The other cases are necessary and simple deductions from the formula which is accepted as that governing foreign trade, viz. the law of comparative cost,¹ which has been succinctly stated by Cairnes in the following terms :—

"The one condition at once essential to, and also sufficient for, the existence of international trade is a difference in the comparative, as contradistinguished from the absolute, cost of producing the commodities exchanged."²

This principle is undoubtedly the main regulative condition of international exchange; but it has been so often misunderstood and misinterpreted that some further development is needed. And, first, it may be said that the comparison is not of prices, but of sacri-The scale of prices in different countries fices. depends on conditions which will need examination later on; but for the present, trade must be treated as if it were all carried on in the form of barter. A second point requiring explanation is the statement that comparative cost is the sufficient condition for international exchange. This assertion is only true if all retarding elements-all those hindrances which arise from cost of carriage and customs duties-are neglected, and then only if the inquiry is confined to two countries. A third point of equal importance is

¹ This expression was, so far as I am aware, first used by J. S. Mill, in his *Essays*, p. 2; but the principle is substantially to be found in Ricardo, and is further worked out by James Mill, *Elements*, p. 88.

² Leading Principles, p. 372.

the exact comparison which is to be made. "The costs compared, it must be carefully noted, are the costs in each country of the commodities which are the subjects of exchange, not the different costs of the same commodity in the exchanging countries."¹ Or, in other words, it is the productive powers of the exchanging countries, applied under different circumstances, that have to be taken into account and their results compared. And, finally, it may be said that all foreign trade is carried on within the limits set by comparative cost of production.

From this law has been deduced the apparently paradoxical doctrine that it may be a country's interest to import a commodity which it could nevertheless produce with less cost than the exporting country. The illustration quoted above from Ricardo is used by him to show this fact; and as it is plain that there may be a difference in the comparative cost, under the circumstances supposed, the case is evidently possible, while Bowen and Cairnes have brought forward actual instances in the case of the trade between New York and Barbadoes, as also in that between Australia and Ireland.² Another paradox, which has also been illustrated in the case of individuals, can be deduced from the principle of comparative cost, viz. that it may be for the interest of a country to produce an article for the production of which it appears to possess less technical

¹ Leading Principles, p. 373.

² Bowen, American Political Economy (1st ed.), p. 460. Cairnes, Leading Principles, pp. 376-377. It is probable that the trade of the Channel Islands with England supplies another illustration. Jersey could produce wheat more efficiently than England, but she finds it more advantageous to grow fruit and early potatoes, importing the corn that is required.

facilities than it does for that of another article which it may nevertheless find it to be more profitable to obtain by exchange. Here, again, the principle of comparative cost, as stated above, shows the possibility of the case; and it may be plausibly conjectured that the difficulty which American manufacturers find in competing with English producers, notwithstanding their abundant natural resources, is an illustration in point.¹

Though, for the purposes of theoretical exposition, the extreme cases we have been just considering attract most attention, since it is on their existence that most of the shallow objections to the theory are built, it yet would be a serious mistake to regard all, or even the greater part, of foreign trade as being of this kind. In the most numerous instances, each country obtains articles for the production of which it has no great facilities, by exporting those goods which it produces with comparative ease. The coal and iron of England are exchanged against the wines and silks of France, with great advantage to both the parties concerned, and such is the normal character of international exchange. The rule is, that each nation exports those commodi-

¹ The cases given above may be illustrated symbolically in the following way. Let A and B be the two nations or individuals in question, x and y the commodities. Let it be assumed that each nation has two units of productive power, each of which can in A produce 2x or 3y, in B x or 2y. Then, if there is no interchange, the total production will be 3x+5y, while if each country confines its production to that commodity in which it has the greatest *comparative* advantage, the total will be 4x+4y; but it is evident that x is more valuable than y, since more productive power is needed for its creation (viz. in A, $\frac{1}{2}$ unit against $\frac{1}{3}$; in B, a whole unit against $\frac{1}{3}$). Therefore it is expedient for A to produce x only, and for B to produce y only. It is, moreover, evident that A has superior facilities for the production of *both* commodities.

anosially suited

CHAP.

ties for the production of which it is specially suited, obtaining in return articles which it could not so easily make for itself.¹ The exceptional cases are those in which (1) a nation of superior powers imports an article which it is, so far as technical reasons are concerned, better able to produce for itself; or (2) gives up the production of an article for which, on technical grounds, it seems better suited than for those which it actually exports. The general advantages of international trade may then be all included in the one phrase, "increase of utility." By means of exchange, a nation obtains a greater amount of satisfaction, with a given effort, or a given amount of satisfaction, with a less effort; and thus discharges, in a better manner, its function as an economic machine.

The gains may, perhaps, be better realised by regarding them in a more concrete way. From this point of view it appears that a nation gains the following advantages by its foreign trade :---1st. It is able to procure commodities which it is absolutely unable to produce

¹ Mr. and Mrs. Webb (Industrial Democracy, vol. ii. pp. 864-863) are mistaken in supposing that the proposition in the text rests on a confusion between "cost" of production and "expenses" of produc-It was in part with the intention of emphasising the difference tion. between the two ideas that "international values" were treated (in chap. ii.) before the subject of "money" was introduced (in chap. iii.). Nor does there appear to be any foundation for characterising the statement as "optimistic." It is rather the assertion of a somewhat obvious feature of foreign trade. It would be unjust without very conclusive evidence to attribute to the authors of Industrial Democracy the belief that the greater, or even a moderately large, part of the export trade of the world is carried on by-to use their term-" parasitic industries." There is, however, some satisfaction in obtaining the high authority of Mr. and Mrs. Webb for the doctrine that "the existence of parasitic trades . . . adds no weight to the case for • protective tariff" (Industrial Democracy, vol. ii. p. 865).

itself-tropical spices furnish a good example. 2nd. It obtains commodities which it could not produce with the same faculty, even from the technical aspect; and it may be noted, that between this case and the first, the difference is sometimes very slight. There are very few articles which could not, to some extent, and by sufficient outlay, be produced in any country. " By means of glasses, hot-beds, and hot-walls," says Adam Smith, in his celebrated reductio ad absurdum of the mercantile theory, "very good grapes can be raised in. Scotland, and very good wine, too, can be made of them. at about thirty times the expense for which at least equally good can be brought from foreign countries."1 In fact, there are many commodities which could not be produced in sufficient quantity, or at a price low enough, to induce consumers, but which are easily obtained by means of international exchange. Again. there are many articles which could be produced at a moderate cost at home, but which can be gained at still lower terms, owing to the superior resources of other countries. 3rd. The case of a country, with superior powers of production, importing from one which is inferior in all respects, comes next in order, and the examples already given need not be repeated. 4th. The productive force of each community is set free for application to those natural agents and materials which offer the best chance of high returns, so that the efficiency of each productive unit is much increased. 5th. The concentration of special branches of production in one place leads, as the law of increasing return so generally applicable to elaborative industry implies, to further gain. This advantage is nothing else than one

¹ Wealth of Nations (ed. Nicholson), p. 185.

CIIAP.

of the advantages of division of labour, since international exchange is really, what Torrens ¹ has well called it, "the territorial division of labour."

In enumerating these several advantages, no place has been made for that which is most often put forward in popular discussions, viz. the creation of new markets for exports. At the same time, the bond which, as we shall sce, connects all international trade, and establishes a definite relation between imports and exports, must not be lost sight of. As has been already said. exports are the sacrifice made in order to obtain imports, and anything that makes the gain by exchange greater. which new markets may do, ought not to be overlooked in a complete theory. The truth is suggested (if we make allowance for looseness of expression) in Adam Smith's statement, so severely commented on by Mill.⁵ that foreign trade " carries out that surplus part of the produce of their land and labour for which there is no demand among them, and brings back in return for it something else for which there is a demand." If "surplus" and "demand" be understood in a comparative sense, then this passage very fairly sets forth the real advantage of foreign, as indeed of all, trade, that is, the increased utility which results therefrom.⁸ It is highly probable that the opening of new markets will stimulate industry, and also bring about a better adjustment of productive force. The powerful influence of foreign trade, in developing increased industrial energy

¹ The Economists Refuted, p. 14.

* Wealth of Nations, p. 181; cp. J. S. Mill, Principles, iii. 17, § 4.

* In reality all exchange is of the "comparatively superfluous for the comparatively necessary" (Jevons, *Primer*, p. 97); or to use the quaint language of Dudley North, "Trade is nothing else but a commutation of superfluities."—Select Tracts on Commerce, p. 516.

I GENERAL FEATURES OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 21

among nations at an early stage of development, has been pointed out by Mill; but his statement may be extended to the case of an increased foreign demand for an article which may increase the industry of home producers.

The social and moral effects of foreign trade, though in no respect inferior to the purely economic ones, may best be reserved for that part of our inquiry in which we deal with the applications of the theory.¹

¹ For discussion of the possible disadvantages arising under international trade, see the present writer's *Commerce of Nations* (2nd ed.), pp. 17-21; also the articles "Free Trade" and "International Trade," in Mr. Palgrave's *Dictionary of Political Economy*.

CHAPTER II

THE THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL VALUES

THE general account of the character of, and the advantages which result from, international exchange given in the preceding chapter, suggests a further investigation of great importance, but one which will necessarily be of a somewhat complicated kind. It may concisely be stated in the following shape :---What are the conditions which determine the division of the gain resulting from foreign trade among the different parties to the exchange? Or, In what way will the values of commodities which are the subject of foreign trade, be affected by the conditions under which that trade is carried on ? In working out this problem, it will be most convenient to follow somewhat closely the course adopted by J. S. Mill, not only since his 'treatment is the most thorough, but also because students have generally gained their first notion of the subject from his pages.¹

¹ Professor Nicholson, in his important *Principles of Political Economy* (published since the second edition of this work), has followed Cournot by handling the problems of foreign trade in terms of money without any preliminary discussion from the point of view adopted in the text. His treatment is interesting and suggestive, but, on the whole, the disadvantages of his method of procedure appear to outweigh the advantages. For a fuller notice see Appendix C.

сц. и THE THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL VALUES

Let it, then, be assumed that there are but two nations, countries, or "trading bodies" in existence, and that these nations trade in but, indeed we may say can produce only, two commodities. Let the countries in question be styled A and B, the commodities x and Let it further be granted that a unit of productive 11. power in A can produce 10x or 20y; and that a unit of productive power in B can produce 10x or 15y. It follows, from the law of comparative cost, that it will be the interest of A to confine itself to the production of y, and of B to devote its resources to the production of x. The question which has now to be answered is: What are the terms on which the exchange of x and y will take place? And in the answer to that question lies the solution of the problem of international values, as distinguished from that of international trade.

Before, however, entering on this inquiry, it will be best to dwell for a little on some assumptions made in, and on some special features of, our supposed case. (1) It is assumed that the commodities x and y are both capable of being proportionally increased up to any assignable limit by a proportionally increased amount of productive power, from which it follows that their value is determined by, or at least moves parallel with, their cost of production, so that in A 10x will exchange for 20y, and in B for 15y. The existence of different costs of production for different amounts of commodities produced, of a set of noncompeting industrial groups, and of all those retarding agencies which have been loosely summed up under the name of "custom," are for the moment ignored. Nor is such a method of procedure illegitimate. The

expediency, and even the necessity, of employing provisional hypotheses in economic observation, has been recognised by Leslie as well as by Cairnes, by Dr. Ingram as well as by Mr. Sidgwick. In Germany it is conceded by Schmoller.¹ The real error lies, not in the use of hypotheses, but in forgetfulness of the fact that they are unreal, or, at all events, incomplete. (2) The term "productive power" may be noticed. It is used to escape the awkwardness, if it be not something more, of estimating the exertions of a country in units of labour or of capital-a mode of procedure which leaves it open to the critic to speak of the omitted element as if it were an essential condition.² There can be little difficulty in conceiving a given amount of labour working with an average amount of capital, and thus producing a definite amount of a commodity. (3) There is a further caution which will save the student from some confusion as he proceeds; it is that the "units" spoken of need not necessarily, or even usually, be the same

of need not necessarily, or even usually, be the same in both countries; for instance, the unit in A may be one day's labour and £5 capital; in B it may be ten days' labour and £30 capital. The apparent equality of productive power in the case of the commodity x-10 in each country—is adopted to secure, as it were, a common denominator, and to enable the division of gain to be more easily understood. (4)

¹ Cp. Leslie, Essays, p. 158; Cairnes, Logical Method, pp. 77-84; Ingram, History of Political Economy, pp. 187, 242; Sidgwick, Principles, Introduction, chap. iii.; Schmoller, Jahrbuch (1888), p. 256.

² Thus Cournot, *Théorie des Richesses*, p. 344, objects to the undue exaltation of capital by the English school, though, curiously enough, it is labour that Ricardo and J. S. Mill mainly consider in their theories of international value.

Finally, we must add that all impediments to exchange, arising from cost of transport and from customs duties, or any other cause, are for the present neglected.

Having cleared the way by the foregoing remarks, let us now follow out the working of our hypothetical case. When each country produced for itself, the total production was 20x + 35y. When each country applies itself to the product in which it has the greater comparative advantage (or less disadvantage), the total production becomes 20x + 40y, that is, a gain of 5y. It is the conditions which determine the division of this amount of 5y between A and B that must now be looked for. The analogy between international and individual exchanges, as pointed out above (p. 13), seems at first to suggest that the problem is a hopeless one, for if A and B were individuals, it is plain that the ratio of exchange might lie anywhere between 10x to 15y and 20y. In fact, we come to what Jevons has called the "failure of the equations of exchange";¹ and such is substantially the conclusion at which J. S. Mill arrived on closer reflection.²

There are, however, several modifying circumstances in international, as opposed to individual, exchange which assist us in indicating generally the conditions that we are in search of. Why, it may be asked, should the terms of an exchange between separate individuals be so hard to predict? Simply because it

¹ Theory of Political Economy, p. 134.

² Cp. "Ten yards of cloth cannot exchange for more than twenty yards of linen, nor for less than fifteen, but they may exchange for any intermediate number."—*Principles*, iii. 18, § 2, with iii. 18, § 6, and iii. 18, § 8.

II
is hard to get the needed information. "The result of the bargain," in a case of the kind, "will greatly depend upon the comparative amount of knowledge of each other's positions and needs which either bargainer may possess or manage to obtain, in the course of the transaction. Thus the power of reading another man's thoughts is of high importance in business, and the art of bargaining mainly consists in the buyer ascertaining the lowest price at which the seller is willing to part with his object, without disclosing, if possible, the highest price which he, the seller [buyer 1], is willing to give. The disposition and force of character of the parties, their comparative persistency, their adroitness and experience in business, or, it may be, feelings of justice or of kindliness, will also influence the decision." I In such a case even the main influencing force-the comparative urgency of demand-is unknown to an outsider. In international exchange, on the other hand, there is the steadying effect produced by the existence of a large number of persons on each side. It may be impossible to estimate the amount of x which A (an individual) would give for y; but if A be a body of persons, its demand will come under the law of averages, and can, with the aid of statistics, be determined within tolerably narrow Returning to our particular case, let us limits assume that the trade between A and B is opened at the ratio—suppose of 10x for 16y. At that rate we find that 1000 times 10x is demanded by A, and that 1000 times 16y is demanded by B, and that thus there is no unsatisfied demand on either side; it

¹ Jevons, Theory, pp. 134-135: Cp. Bagehot, Economic Studies, pp. 136-145.

 $\mathbf{26}$

follows that the trade is in equilibrium, and that 10xto 16y will be the ratio of exchange. A will gain $4y_1$, and B will gain 1y, by the opening of the trade. The result may, however, be different; for A may require a larger amount of x at the ratio 10x to 16y, say 1100 times 10x, while B only requires 1000 times 16y at the assumed ratio. It will therefore be necessary for A to offer a greater amount of y in exchange for x, say 10x for 17y. Now, it is apparent that at this new ratio A cannot require more than it would at the lower rate, and, in all probability, will require a less amount, which we shall suppose to be 1050 times 10x. On the other hand, B cannot require less of yat the new ratio than at the older and more unfavourable one, and, indeed, will be likely to require more, which increased amount we shall assume to be 1050 times 17y. Here, again, we have a state of equilibrium, the demand on either side being satisfied. It is possible that several ratios may satisfy the condition to which, as we have just seen, international exchange conforms; but, owing to the fact that large groups of persons are the source of demand on each side, it is probable that the equation of demand once satisfied will not lightly be departed from, so that, to some extent, it will not only be a position of equilibrium, but also one of stability, though, in some cases, a departure from it would perhaps lead to a new state of equilibrium at a different ratio.

The foregoing inquiry leads directly to J. S. Mill's conclusion in his first and soundest exposition of his theory. The ratio of exchange, in the case of commodities which are the subject of international trade, depends on the comparative intensity of demand on

11

each side, always, of course, operating within the limits set by comparative cost. As Mill has pointed out, it is conceivable that all the gain by exchange would go to one country; for, suppose that A only requires a limited amount of x, which will not be increased by a reduction in its value, while B requires a large amount of y, it is possible, and, under such conditions, even likely, that the terms of exchange will be 10x for 15y, since B, in order to satisfy its demand for y, will offer increasingly favourable terms, even up to the limit set by its power of producing yfor itself.

This "first elementary principle of international values,"¹ important as it is, stands in need of large developments and additions before it can be applied to actual cases. Up to the present we have paid no attention to the industrial constitution of the countries or nations whose supposed bartering we have been using as a guide in our inquiry. The proposition just developed may be further explained by looking at the results of different systems of organisation. If we make the unlikely supposition that A and B are both "socialistic " States, the exchange will then be in form exactly the same as that between individuals. The ratio of exchange must be arranged by treaty, and will be a high act of State,² so that any attempt to determine it would be practically impossible. When the usual state of individualistic industry is to be found, we have seen that reciprocal demand may be

² For a good argument against socialism, based on the difficulty of conducting international trade under that *régime*, see Leroy-Beaulieu, *Le Collectivisme*, pp. 393-399.

¹ J. S. Mill, Principles, iii. 18, § 2.

regarded as a fairly steady condition for determining the ratio of exchange; but it appears that it is possible to alter the ratio by means of the combination of. dealers on each side. It is, as we shall see, also possible to affect the ratio of exchange by the imposition of charges on the act of exchange, or on the transfer of the commodities from country to country;¹ still the fundamental condition is what Mill has called "the equation of reciprocal demand," and all other operating forces work through it.² It is therefore requisite to see the extent to which the results attained by our purely hypothetical case are affected in the complex conditions of international trade. We may first give up the conception of the commodities x and y as being always produced at a fixed cost, and lregard them as subject to the laws of diminishing or ε increasing return; the consequence which will neces- n sarily follow is, that the limits set by cost of production which, up to the present, we have regarded as fixed become movable. Increased demand for a commodity subject to the law of diminishing return, will remove the limits set by comparative cost, and may also allow of the commodity being partly produced in both countries; thus, in the case already considered, some units of productive power in B may produce 25y,

¹ See Chap. VII.

² The attempt made by Mill to amend his theory by introducing the additional element of the amount of capital set free for the production of exports is, as he even seems to admit, a failure; for, in the case of two countries and two commodities, the amount of freed capital, or, as I should prefer to say, "productive power," is evidently determined by reciprocal demand, so that nothing is gained by the laborious and confusing discussion in secs. 6, 7, 8 of chap. xviii. Professor Edgeworth's authority may be quoted in support of this criticism. See his "International Values" in *Economic Journal*, vol. iv. p. 609.

II

others 20y; but the unit on the margin will, ex hypothesi, produce but 15y. Now, when international exchange commences at, say, 10x to 17y, all units in B which produce less than that amount are withdrawn from the production of y, and directed to that of x; but those which produce 17y, or any greater amount, remain employed as before. The law of diminishing return may also affect A. Some units there may produce 40y, some 30y; but those at the margin will, ex hypothesi, produce but 20y. The extended production which results from increased demand will probably lower the margin of cultivation, or, to speak more generally, of production; but when the margin comes down to 17y, there will be no further gain by international exchange to A, so long as 17y is given for 10x. The law of increasing return operates in the opposite direction; thus, if the increased demand for y, which arises from the growth of international exchange, causes it to be produced in A with greater ease, so that each unit will produce, say, 25y, then it is clear that, in order to dispose of the additional supply, y must be offered at lower terms; and it may also be inferred that if y be subject to the law of diminishing return in B, as we have supposed, some more units of B's productive power will be withdrawn from the production of y and devoted to that of x. It is of course not likely that the same commodity will be subject to such contrasted conditions in two different countries. It is, however, possible that the recent development of agriculture in the United States and Canada has taken place under the law of increasing return, and that its effect on British farming is more noticeable, since the latter comes

under the law of diminishing return. The same considerations may, too, explain the predominance of a manufacturing country, when once attained, since its productive power is steadily increasing, and thus extending the field of international exchange to the dismay of the native producers of manufactures in other countries: but whatever be the limits of their operation, it is demonstrable that the operation of the law of diminishing return tends to limit the area of international exchange, while that of the law of increasing return is calculated to extend it.

Another of our assumptions has been that there ζ is perfectly free competition, which implies complete mobility of labour and capital within each of the countries or nations A and B; though in considering the general features of the subject, we have seen that both these factors of production are, in a greater or less degree, impeded by the existence of customary conditions, as well as by the ignorance of producers, which is a necessary result of the great and increasing complexity of industrial organisation.

It now becomes necessary to consider the effect which the admission of this new element produces on the rates of international exchange. It is evident that hindrances to free competition may take one of two forms; for the whole body which produces x in either of the countries A and B may be rigidly marked off from that which produces y, or, again, each of those commodities may be produced by a number of groups which are not in effective competition with one another. In the former case, the element of cost of production is absent as a regulator; and, in truth, the producers of x and those of y are two completely

II '

CHAP.

distinct trading bodies, or in the economic use of the term, "nations"; so that we have reached the complex case of three or more trading bodies which we shall investigate later on. In the second form of arrested competition it is probable that some of these groups will be in effective competition with the producers of the other commodity, be it x or y; and to that extent, the changes in the distribution of productive power will be just as in the case of perfectly free competition. Where competition is arrested, the group will be to that extent a distinct nation, and will have to be treated as such. The limits which custom. and, in less degree, cost of transport, set to effective competition are, in general, not of so rigid a character as has just been represented. The production in an industry which is carried on under customary condi-tions, or with exceptional advantages of any kind, whether resulting from situation or training, will not indeed alter under any slight change in the terms of supply brought about by the opening or development of foreign trade; but a large and sweeping variation will tend to break down the barriers of even the bestestablished custom, and to neutralise the effect of special aptitudes or facilities.

One peculiar feature of changes in the relations of non-competing groups, which is brought about by foreign trade, ought to be emphasised. We have seen that the advantage of foreign trade is due to the superior productiveness of industry, in consequence of its more efficient operation, by being applied to those industries only in which it possesses a relative advantage; and for this object, an actual change in the distribution and employment of productive force is

needed. Where, however, there is no effective competition, no change can take place, and what really happens is a readjustment of the terms of exchange, so that what is gained by one group is lost by another, and, in appearance, there is no advantage to the country as a whole. On closer examination it will be discovered that a real advantage is gained, but that it consists, not in a more effective employment of productive power, but in the breaking down of a monopoly. For let it be assumed that the conditions of exchange in B are such as to establish the terms of 10x for 15y, and further, that this ratio is the result of supply and demand, unaffected, or only partially affected, by cost of production; now, if by foreign trade the terms of exchange would be so altered as to give 10x for 17y, but that the producers of y, being a non-competing group, are unable or unwilling to transfer their efforts to the production of x, and, instead, are ready to give 17y for 10x, so that there is no necessity for carrying on foreign trade, is it not evident that the producers of y have hitherto been in possession of, at least, a qualified monopoly, by means of which they have been able to exact from the producers of x peculiarly favourable terms, and that by the opening of foreign trade this monopoly has been abolished, or to some extent, diminished? The same considerations apply to the case of personal or local aptitudes, the gains of, which always tend to be reduced by the opening up of other sources of supply. The importance, in a practical sense, of this fact will be best seen in relation to the protectionist controversy.

Up to the present we have retained the main elements of our original hypothesis, viz. two "nations,".

two commodities, and absence of all impediments to exchange. In order to approach, in some degree, the complexity of actual trade, let us insert each of the omitted elements, but in reverse order. Retaining the idea of two countries and two commodities, we first add the element of cost resulting from impediments to exchange, whatever be their character. To the legitimacy of this procedure, as adopted by Mill. objection has been made by Mr. Sidgwick;¹ but by the manner in which the general problem has been stated in the preceding chapter, this difficulty has been removed. Cost of transfer is not a necessary element in exchanges between individuals, or even between adjacent groups, and in many cases it is a very slight one."

The effect of impediments will, of course, be to lessen the gain by foreign trade. In our hypothetical case we saw that 5y was the gain obtained by the opening of international exchange; but if we assume that the ratio of exchange is 10x to 17y, and that the cost of transfer of each of these amounts is 1y, the gain will be reduced to 3y, and the ratio of exchange will not, in general, be the same in both countries, since the cost of transfer, or some of it, will have to be added to the commodity in the importing country. It follows that the alteration of value will produce a readjustment of the terms of international exchange; but it is impossible to say in what way the loss, arising from the sum of impediments, will be

Principles, p. 206.

² It is not at all clear that Mr. Sidgwick's criticism would hold as against Mill. Even granting that cost of carriage is a necessary element, may it not still be legitimate to make provisional abstraction of it, in order to facilitate reasoning !

divided between the two countries. We have seen that in one unlikely case the whole gain of exchange might accrue to one country (p. 28), and under similar circumstances the whole cost of transfer might be placed on one of the parties; thus, if in A the demand for x was so intense as not to be reduced by its higher value, while in B the demand for y was so weak as to decrease more than proportionally to its rise in value, then the whole cost would fall on A. and the value of y would be the same in both countries. though, as, in such a case, B would, if there were no cost of carriage, have obtained the whole gain from foreign trade, the impediments would in reality be a deduction from its gains. It may, at any rate, be said with confidence, that the effect of impediments on foreign trade is, in general, to inflict a loss on both parties, but that we do not possess sufficient data to enable us to divide the amount of loss, any more than that of the total gain from foreign trade.

Impediments to transfer are—as Mill remarks one, but not, as he seems to assert,¹ the only reason for the production of the same commodity in different, or, to keep to our case, in both countries. Let us assume, what is not unlikely, that the cost of placing 10x in A, and 17y in B, will come to 6y, then the total gain—5y—will be swallowed up, and be replaced by a loss of 1y; so that the exchange would cease. The existence of impediments to transfer is, in fact, a tendency operating in somewhat the same way as

¹ "Cost of carriage has one effect more. But for it, every commodity would (if trade be supposed free) be either regularly imported or regularly exported. A country would make nothing for itself which it did not also make for other countries."—*Principles*, iii. 18, § 3.

П

the law of diminishing return, the effect of both being to limit the field of international exchange.

Another step towards reality may now be taken. • Let us assume that A and B produce not x and yonly, but also a third commodity z, and that one unit of productive power in A will produce 100z, while one in B will only produce 90z Previous to the introduction of z, the terms of exchange have been, suppose, 10x = 16y. B is now able to offer to A not x only, but also z, and it will be A's interest to take some of the commodity z at 17y = 90z, as there would be a gain of 5z by the transaction, since in A 1y = 5z \therefore 17y = 85z. The exact terms of exchange will depend on the amount of x and z required by A com-pared with that of y by B; but whatever it may be, there is no doubt but that B's position, as a trader, will be improved. In like manner, a commodity w may be added, whose conditions of production are such that a unit of productive power in A produces 50w, in B 40w; here, if the ratios of exchange be, as would follow from the last case, 10x = 17y = 90z, it will be A's interest to offer 45w for 10x, since it thus gains 5w; it is, too, for B's advantage to accept these terms. as it will also gain a similar amount.

The actual rates finally established will, in the more complex as in the simpler case, depend on the play of reciprocal demand; but it cannot be overlooked that the introduction of several commodities on each side will produce a steadying effect, in addition to that exerted by the presence of a large number of dealers and consumers. The terms of exchange will be set by the comparative demand of each nation for all the products of the other, which are the subject of foreign

trade; and it is further implied in the very fact of exchange that "the exports of each country must exactly pay for the imports" (the cost of carriage being omitted). The extreme limits within which the terms of exchange can vary, will be set by the difference in the comparative cost of production of those commodities in respect to which the difference is widest; but as any tendency to move close to either of those points will be accompanied by a diminution in the number of articles entering into the trade and in the sum of exchanges, with a consequent reduction of the total amount of gain, it will, in general, be likely that the terms of exchange will be near to the middle point (which, in our particular instance, would be 10x to $17\frac{1}{2}y$, or, more accurately, to a position determined by an average obtained from the comparative costs of all the commodities exchanged between A and B.

One special case has not yet been discussed, and as it has supplied critics with a specious objection, it ought to be noticed here. Suppose that the country B, instead of being able to produce y at the amount of 15 per unit of productive power, is absolutely incapable of so doing, or can gain from its own resources only a very small amount, say 1y for each unit. How, it has been asked, are the terms of exchange to be settled? And further, is not the possibility of such a case an evidence of the erroneousness of the theory?¹ The answer to this very plausible objection is to be found in the express statement of an element which is implicitly contained in Mill's theory, viz. the limit set to exchange by the comparative utility of the com-

¹ See Cournot, *Théorie des Richesses*, pp. 344-345, for this objection. Like all the doctrines of that acute thinker, it deserves examination.

11 .

CUAP.

modifies x and y to the consumers in B. So long as the comparative costs of production were closer than the comparative utilities, there was no necessity for dwelling on this latter condition; that is to say, that so long as B could, from its own resources, obtain 15y for 10x, there was no need to refer to the limit of utility, which, for an average amount, we shall assume to be 8y for 10x. When, however, this power of producing at home the commodity required is withdrawn, the limit set by utility comes into operation, and it would furnish the really ultimate and complete limiting condition in cases of absolute monopoly on both sides.¹ It must, too, be added that utility varies with the quantity demanded, and that value is determined by the final or marginal utility, or the advantage to the consumer of the last increment obtained, so that in no respect does Cournot's criticism hold good.

The last step in turning our originally abstract and unreal hypothesis into an interpretation and illustration of international trade has now to be taken. Let us add to the two countries A and B a third country C, which is capable of producing the three commodities x, y, and z, but in which the ratios of

¹ This operation of utility is fully recognised by Mill. "The utility of a thing, in the estimation of a purchaser, is the extreme limit of its exchange value: higher the value cannot ascend."— *Principles*, iii. 2, § 1. In criticising the statement in the text, Professor Edgeworth (pp. 623-624) seems to have overlooked the particular passage in Cournot to which it is intended as a reply. Cournot urges that in the case of an article not producible in A, the advantage obtained would be *infinite*—"an exaggerated deduction which warns us to distrust the theory." This contention seems satisfactorily encountered by reference to the limit set by the utility of the article to consumers, which may be small, and is never infinite.

exchange, resulting from the comparative effects of the productive agents, are 10x, 14y, and 80z. From inspection it is plain that the most economical arrangement will be the production of y by A, of z by B, and of x by C; for the total production, when each country produces for itself, will be 30x + 49y + 270z; whereas, when each country takes up the production of that commodity in which it possesses a relative advantage, the total becomes 30x + 60y + 270z, thus giving a gain of 11y. It is also a consequence of the comparative conditions of production that C is able to supply x on better terms to A than B, who has previously done so. Whether such will be the actual result, however, depends on the comparative intensity of the combined demand of A and B for x, as compared with the demand of C for y and z—a proposition which will also apply to the cases of A and B with regard to their respective products. The existence of two independent sources of supply for each of the commodities will, in addition, prevent the division of gain in any case being very much in favour of one of the parties. If, for instance, A and C were isolated from the rest of the world, 10x might conceivably exchange for almost 20y; but the competition of B, who will find it expedient to withdraw from the production of z, in which it could, at the most, get 18y for 90z, produced by the same sacrifice as it would cost to produce 10x, will prevent such & result; so that the probable outcome would be the modification of any terms of exchange by which the advantages of the trade were very unequally divided. A further consequence of great importance, and

one which even popular doctrines on the subject fully

II

recognise, is the effect on the parties already trading of the introduction of a new country. Up to the present it has appeared that a country always gains by foreign trade: the sum of its wealth is increased, or, in any case, better distributed. The effect of an extra trading body coming into the field may be to remove some of these advantages. It is possible that the competition of C may not permit of B obtaining such favourable terms in the exchange of its products x and z. Nay more, it is evident that C would, under the assumed conditions, force B to abandon the production of x, and to confine its efforts to the production of z, in regard to which it did not, so long as its foreign dealings were confined to A, possess the greatest comparative advantage. In fact, B would be undersold by C. It is, however, possible that the increased demand for the commodity z, which would be the natural consequence of the introduction of C, would, to some extent, compensate for the loss inflicted on B. Whether this would be the case or not, it remains certain that the total production would be increased, and thus that the other countries (and A in particular) would gain more than B had lost. When more than two nations are introduced, it is also evident that the exports and imports passing between any two of the nations need not be equal. In an extreme case it is conceivable that, with three countries, each might only receive commodities from one, and only send them to the other; thus A might send y to C, who sent x to B, who, in turn, sent $z_{10} \Lambda$. The equality of imports and exports will only be found over the whole trade of any country. The sum of its imports must equal that of its exports. That is, of

course, assuming there are no other relations between a it and other countries.¹

Having introduced each of the elements which, in C the original hypothesis, were removed for facility of reasoning, let us suppose that a number of "nations," A, B, C, D, etc., trade with one another in respect to a number of commodities, x, y, z, w, etc.: what will be the consequence? The analogy between international exchange and that between independent individuals has already been dwelt on.² In each case there is room for somewhat wide variations where but two parties are concerned.³ When a number of individuals within any nation are engaged in trade, a market, using that term in its wider meaning, grows up, and the terms of exchange become more definite, so that we may say that commodities, when freely produced, tend to exchange in the ratios of their respective costs of production; but the influence of cost of production does not prevent. some individuals from receiving large rewards for what are to them slight exertions, and which may even be a source of pleasure.⁴ The gains which persons thus obtain by their special taste for an employment

¹ See Chap. IV. ² See p. 13.

⁸ In a tribe of savages, "if any exchanges took place between individuals within the community, they would obviously be governed, not by cost of production, but, like the exchange between Esau and Jacob, by the urgency of the respective needs of the parties."—Leslie, *Essays*, p. 181.

"The laborious effort fitted to produce a given result does not represent the same sacrifice for different people : it is one thing for the strong, another for the weak; one for the trained workman, another for the raw beginner."—Cairnes, *Leading Principles*, p. 95.

Cp. Sidgwick, *Principles*, p. 58:—"In fact, when we consider the higher kinds of skilled labour, it must be evident that the labourer often gets more enjoyment out of his work than he does out of anything else in life."

which is usually regarded as onerous, are of the nature of rent, and deserve more attention than economists have been willing to bestow on them. In international trade similar phenomena are to be met with; but they have scarcely been noticed at all. The competition of different countries tends to establish a definite rate of exchange, and any aberrations from the terms thus settled are rectified by the play of reciprocal demand. The best evidence of the truth of this proposition is furnished by the exceptions which are found to exist. They all occur in the case of commodities produced in a single country, and even then are not always to be met with.

To rightly understand the nature of international trade it is, above all things, necessary to constantly bear in mind its great complexity. . The existence of numerous nations, in the economic sense, each the producer, actually or potentially, of many commoditiesthe fact that the cost of each of these commodities will vary according to the amount produced, sometimes increasing, sometimes diminishing, as the production is extended-the operation of customary conditions within each nation giving rise to groups possessing what are virtually qualified monopolies-the limiting effects of the various impediments to transport, as also the operation of local advantages within each nation, have all to receive full recognition in the theory of international trade, and have to be realised when seeking to interpret any special phenomenon. It is obvious that without the use of special hypothesis, it would be impossible to work out any theory on so intricate a subject.¹

¹ Cournot, *Théorie des Richesses*, pp. 349-350, objects to the hypothetical procedure as adopted by Mill, and prefers to deal with

- Some further considerations bearing on the theory (of international values may most suitably be considered, (1) It may have occurred to the reader, that here. all through the preceding discussion, the powers of production of the supposed countries, A and B, have been regarded as being approximately equal in amount; and the objection naturally arises, would this theory apply to the case of trade between a small country and a large one: to take a concrete instance, between the Isle of Man and England? On examination it appears that there is no failure of the elementary principle, which regards comparative intensity of demand as fixing value. The small country A, let us assume, will, by its demand for x, but slightly affect the total demand in the large country B, and there will not be any serious alteration in its value, since the amount of y which A brings into the market is, ex hypothesi, small in proportion to the total amount of y. It therefore follows that the production of both xand y will continue to be carried on in B, while A will . give its entire efforts to the production of y, and will therefore obtain almost the entire gain of the trade. With different costs of production of y in B, it is probable that B will receive some advantage, since the production of the most costly part of y will be abandoned by it. It is hardly necessary to add that the competi-tion of other nations would have a tendency to deprive A of this special advantage; but nevertheless the probability is, that a small country gains by opening up trade with a large one-a point of some practical importance.¹

the complex problem; but his results are not encouraging. See Appendix B.

The consideration noticed in the above paragraph has been de-

П.,

(2) The way in which the gain of each nation has been computed also stands in need of further elucidation. For convenience we assumed that each nation had two units of productive power, which were not necessarily of the same amount in each country, and we considered the distribution of the gain resulting from the readjustment of the industrial forces, so far as these selected units were concerned. In the actual working of foreign trade, it is the whole productive power of a country which undergoes alteration, and it is as the result of this readjustment that gain is obtained. It is therefore plain that the definite figure 5y, which we adopted in the earliest form of our hypothesis, is merely illustrative, and that any quantitative estimate of the gain arising from international trade is not to be looked for. By altering the figures used for illustration, various divisions of the gain from trade may be arrived at: but then the differing results are obtained from altered data.¹ From the side of international value, the

veloped in an interesting way by Professor Nicholson, Principles of Political Economy, vol. ii. pp. 302 sq., book iii. chap. xxvii. §§ 5, 6.

¹ Cournot, *Thiorie des Richesses*, p. 345, objects to Mill's theory on the ground that by taking y instead of x as the common "denominator," or measure (see p. 24), the percentage of gain obtained by each party would be different. Thus, if instead of taking 20x or 15y in A, we suppose that a unit in A produces $13\frac{1}{2}x$ or 20y, then on the hypothesis that the ratio of exchange after international trade is opened is 10x:18y, Cournot argues that the percentages of gain to A and B will be 16 $\frac{1}{2}$ and 11 $\frac{1}{3}$ respectively, while if the original figures were retained the percentages would be 20 and 10, and adds that "mathematical questions do not a lmit of such ambiguities." His contention is regarded by Professor Edgeworth as "hitting an inaccuracy on a very plausible interpretation of Mill; on any interpretation an inelegancy" (*Economic Journal*, vol. iv. p. 624, cp. p. 609). It is, however, certain that the difficulty is entirely imaginary. As pointed out in the text, the particular figures are merely illustrative. The varying percentages which

general conclusion must be, that the advantage of foreign trade consists-first, in lowering the value of imported goods, as compared with those produced at home, or in limiting the gains of special groups of producers, to the advantage of the society in general; and, second, in permitting the productive power of a country to be employed in those commodities for which it is specially fitted. In the ordinary illustrations this twofold benefit is lumped up in the gain on the process of exchange; but a not uncommon instance will bring the two elements into light. Suppose an improvement in the production of the commodity x to take place in B, so that 12x will be produced by a unit of labour, this, of itself, would tend to lower the value of x, as measured in terms of y; but since it is the readjustment of industry resulting from foreign trade that has made it possible for x to be more cheaply produced, it follows that the gain of B will be obtained by that extra efficiency, while it is probable that some of the advantage will be retained in exchanging x for y, so that a double element of gain will be present. The nature of the commodities exchanged, and the extensibility of the demand for them, are in this latter case the determining conditions. The operation of the laws of increasing or

Courned obtains are due to the illegitimate changes which he makes in the units employed. In the original illustration he estimates the percentage by taking the produce of the less efficient unit in A (15) and that of the more efficient unit in B; in the second and altered one he takes the produce of the more efficient unit in A (13 $\frac{1}{5}$) and that of the less efficient unit in B (10). As a necessary result different percentages are obtained. A more natural method would be to calculate the amount of gain by taking the total result of the two productive units in each country, reducing the two commodities to a common measure, by which process precisely the same percentages would be obtained in either case.

п

diminishing return, as the case may be, also affects the question; if the commodities which a country imports are not subject to the latter law in the country from which they are obtained, but would be if produced at home, the country will gain considerably by the existence of a trade which prevents one set of the articles which it consumes from being produced at a constantly increasing cost. Should it happen that the law of increasing return is applicable to the production of the country's exports, it gains by the continuous augmentation of its industrial efficiency. The present position of England in respect to its foreign trade is somewhat of this kind; so that we might say, a priori, that her gains from commercial intercourse would be peculiarly large; and the evidence of statistics seems to verify this deduction. .

(3) The effect of impediments to exchange on the course of trade is also deserving of some further notice. Among these impediments may be placed :—(a) actual cost of carriage, such as shipping freights and railway charges; (b) brokers' and agents' commissions; and (c) import and export duties, whatever be their aim. With respect to the first of these deductions from the total gain, the important fact specially emphasised by Mr. Sidgwick, that transport is a double operation, is fundamental. The import has to be brought in, and the payment for it sent back; and, as the aim of men, regarded as traders, is to reduce all the expenses incurred to obtain a given object, it follows that every effort will be made to diminish this cost of. transfer. Another interesting point is the costliness of the very agents of transport. Ships and trainsto take the two most prominent agents - are not

moved without difficulty, and therefore it is desirable to find profitable employment for them both on their outward and return journeys. The course of trade is often determined by the possibility of finding a return cargo; and instances may even be found of the creation of an industry for this purpose.¹

No better illustration of the actual working of the abstract principles which have been considered in the present chapter, can be found than the way in which the cost of the double journey is divided in the case of the English coal exports, so thoroughly investigated by Jevons.² Those places which have no return cargo to furnish are compelled to pay the total cost of the two voyages; their exports in payment being, as we shall see, adjusted by means of the foreign exchanges. The effect of commissions is, of course, the same as that of freights; but it must be remembered, that the rate of profit expected by a trader is that to be obtained in the country where he resides, and, owing to the generally hazardous character of foreign trading, will naturally be even higher, so that it is probable that a country with a low rate of interest will be at an advantage in engaging in the carrying trade.

German writers, and Mangoldt in particular, have laid stress on the distinction between "active" and "passive" nations, *i.e.* between those that carry on foreign commerce themselves, and those that simply receive outside traders. Such a distinction belongs rather to the historical development of commerce than to the abstract theory. It is of course plain

¹ The Glasgow potteries mentioned by Hearn (*Plutology*, p. 310)are a case in point.

* Coal Question, chap. xiii.

п

48 ... THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE CHAP. II

that the traders of the "active" country have at first an opportunity for special gain, since they will avail themselves of any advantages that the conditions of a passive country afford (p. 68). In time, however, this "opportunity" gain disappears and is replaced by the usual interest on enterprises of the same class, and the equally normal profits of the undertaker or entrepreneur.

The effect of duties, whether imposed for revenue or "protection," is so important as to need discussion in a separate chapter; before, however, touching on questions of practical policy, we must deal with an element, of which, up to the present, no mention has been made, but which has been the cause of most of the difficulties of the subject.

CHAPTER III

MONEY IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE

INTERNATIONAL trade has, in the preceding chapters, been studied in its broadest and most general features. It has been regarded as being in form what it is in substance-the interchange of commodities. It is. however, only in the case of primitive communities that this direct interchange is to be found. To get a clear idea of such a state of things, it is necessary to go back to our Homer and Herodotus, or to take up the works of writers on Ethnology.¹ But the modern system of international trade, with its widely extended ramifications, though, in appearance, very unlike the rude and clumsily-managed bartering of the old Hellenes, or the surviving Australian tribes, is, nevertheless, fundamentally the same. The only difference is to be found in the presence of money in the former, as an agent for smoothing and assisting the process of exchange.

To those who are acquainted with monetary theory,²

¹ See the well-known passage in the *Riad*, vii. 467-475. And cp. the opening chapter of Herodotus. For instances of intertribal bartering among modern savages, see Tylor, *Anthropology*, pp. 281-282.

² For the theory of money see J. S. Nicholson, *Money*, part i.; F. A. Walker, *Money*. Reference may also be made to the article "Money," by the present writer, in the *Encyclopædia Britannica* (9th ed.), vol. xvi. pp. 720-738; for its early history, *ibid.* p. 722.

CHAP.

it will not be hard to prove that in international, as in domestic, trade, money is but one of many commodities, and has to be so regarded. An examination of the course of its development confirms this view, which is established by an analysis of its principal functions. Granting however freely, that the circulating medium is simply a commodity, still its peculiar qualities, and the work which it has to discharge, make it essential for a right treatment of the topic of foreign trade to understand thoroughly its position in the actual course of international exchange. To put the problem in another way: as yet we have only considered international values; it is now requisite to investigate the conditions governing international prices.

As a clue to the line of inquiry, let us remember that, in its beginnings, international trade uses only a rudimentary form of money, in the shape of some specially prized article or articles, and that in the course of development it is very hard to fix upon the exact time at which a currency properly so called becomes established; so that it may be surmised that the introduction of a common medium of exchange is not likely to alter the general laws which regulate value. The copper, silver, or gold which is, at earlier stages of a nation's existence, received for its use in industry or ornament, retains to the last the character which it had at its introduction. There are, however, some consequences resulting from the very functions of a circulating medium, which, by their effect on the conditions of supply and demand, do, in some degree, make the position of the money-material anomalous. The law of demand for an ordinary commodity is of

50

۰.,

an irregular kind. It is indeed possible to group commodities, and to state general laws as to the variations of demand for necessaries, decencies, and luxuries;¹ but all such formulæ are empirical, and can never pretend to much accuracy. As, however, the value of money, cateris paribus, varies inversely as its quantity, the law of demand is, in its case, perfectly regular, since it is the quantity of money that determines the range of prices, and is, therefore, the really important element. It is true that the money-material may be used in various arts and industries; but for our present purpose it is admissible to neglect this portion, regarding it as merely a potential source of supply. The course of economic development has established gold and silver as the chief-in civilised countries it may be said the only-forms of money-material; it will, therefore, for the future, be convenient to recognise their special position, and to speak of the "precious metals" or of "bullion" as being equivalent to "money-material"-a term which will also be used.

The precious metals, then, whether produced in a country, or imported, will come under the conditions regulating international values, since, owing to the very qualities which have given them their position, and particularly their portability, they are, and always have been, specially suited for being the subject of foreign trade.² Another circumstance of some importance is the mode of their production (in general, by mining), which makes the law of diminishing return

¹ See Jevons, *Theory*, etc., pp. 161-172; also Professor Marshall's discussion of the construction of "demand schedules" in *Principles* (4th ed.), book iii. chaps. iii. iv.

² See Marshall, Principles, book v. chap. i.

applicable to them; so that, in accordance with the principle stated above (p. 29), it is very probable that they will be produced in different countries, and will not be monopolised by any one nation. The amount of the total annual production is, moreover, very uncertain, and is largely affected by chance, from which, as might naturally be expected, it results that the amounts obtained at different periods vary widely. Finally, the extraordinary durability of both metals has led to the accumulation of a very large store, in comparison with which the variations in amount of production during short periods are quite insignificant.

These patent facts lead directly to some important inferences. If the money - material is durable, if a large stock of it is in existence, and if the quantity of it in a country is a principal factor in determining the scale of prices in that country, it follows that bullion will be a very convenient form of import, or export, as the case may be, since it will never be unsalcable, and can be retained without deterioration.¹ When any particular case of international exchange is being carried out, the precious metals will naturally be used as a means of adjusting any discrepancies in the equation of exchange; but in such cases gold and silver, though discharging a highly useful function, would still be nothing more than peculiarly desirable commodities. As yet we have not openly abandoned the hypothesis that barter exists in domestic as well as in international trade, or, at all events, that a standard of value has not been evolved. It will now be convenient, as well as

¹ "Money is never second-hand; it will always fetch itself, and it loses nothing by keeping."—Bagehot, *Economic Studies*, pp. 53-59.

legitimate, to regard money as being fully established for the purposes of internal trade. It at once follows that bullion, which, allowance being made for seigniorage and mint charges, is convertible into coin, will not only be a specially prized commodity, but also a mode of legally discharging all obligations incurred; so that the terms of international exchanges will be settled in terms of money, and any balance lying over after a series of mercantile transactions, can be removed by the transmission of money from the debtor to the creditor country. How will the state of trade between the two countries be affected by such transactions? It is a necessary deduction from elementary principles already stated, that the transfer of a portion of the precious metals will tend to lower the value of money in the receiving country, and to raise it in the transmitting one. The very fact of transmission will, moreover, show that, the precious metals apart, the equation of international demand is not established between the two countries, and, therefore, that international values need readjustment. Should, however, the effect produced by a single transmission of bullion not suffice to bring about the required alteration, it is evident that the forces which produced the first movement will remain in operation, and that, in fact, a drain of money will continue until the terms of international exchange become such as will establish the necessary equation; an effect produced, be it noted, by the movement of money from one country to the other, having, as its consequence, the lowering of prices in the former, and their elevation in the latter. It therefore appears that when money is introduced in domestic trade, it will be utilised as a ready agent for remedying

CHAP.

any break in the equation of international demand; and further, that by alterations of its quantity, it will powerfully affect the scale of prices in each country. It may, too, be added, that smaller or larger amounts of the money-material are continually passing from country to country, in consequence of the various changes in the conditions governing international exchange.

It may now be asked, What would be the state of . things in which no passage of money would be required ? As there is always expense and risk attending the carriage of even gold and silver bullion, it is clear that the interest of dealers would lead to an effort to attain that condition. Since bullion is used only to remove balances incurred in the course of international trade, owing to the non-existence of the equation of demand, the establishment of that equation is the condition required to save the cost of transmission, and there is therefore a force always in operation tending to produce that result. The equation of international demand can only be maintained through the due adjustment of values in each of the countries concerned; but when money is fully established, so far as internal trade is concerned, values will be estimated in it; it follows that to alter values it is necessary to act on prices; but a change in prices is equivalent to a change in the value of money, and as the value of money is, in a great degree, determined by its quantity, it follows that where the equation of international demand is not established, the most obvious mode of remedying such a state of things is by the transmission of bullion, which will cease when that equation is, attained. It may, therefore, be said that the equation

of international demand, which was, as we saw in the last chapter, the outcome of the natural conditions, assuming a state of barter, is also the condition of equilibrium, when money is introduced, and thus we may at once state Ricardo's greatest contribution to the theory of international trade in his own words :----

"Gold and silver having been chosen for the general medium of circulation, they are, by the competition of commerce, distributed in such proportions amongst the different countries of the world as to accommodate themselves to the natural traffic which would take place if no such metals existed, and the trade between countries were purely a trade of barter."¹

The proof of this fundamental principle is, it may be remarked, the same in form as that of the cost of production theory of value given by Adam Smith.² In both cases it is shown that there is one definite condition of stable equilibrium to which, even when it is departed from for a time, there is a tendency to return -a tendency which makes all other possible conditions necessarily unstable. An easier, but less satisfactory, line of proof is suggested by dwelling on the fact that money is merely a common denominator of values, which does not itself affect them; and since things which are equal to the same thing are equal to one another, the values of articles exchanged for each other by the intervention of money will necessarily be equal.

¹ Works, pp. 77-78. Mill (iii. 21, § 2) declares that Ricardo was the "real originator" of this doctrine. Its germs are to be found in his *High Price of Bullion* (1809), where reference is made to "the most approved writers on Political Economy."—*Works*, p. 263.

III

CHAP.

Ricardo's theorem—to which he has a much better right to give his name than to the so-called Ricardian theory of rent-however, implies much more than the mere fact that the use of money as a medium of exchange and a measure of value does not alter the fundamental laws of value. It is not merely a vindication of the legitimacy of treating international trade as if it were a trade of barter, not a mere exclusion of certain possible influences; it has also a positive side. It contains a definite statement as to the law which governs the distribution of money in the world's trade, and thus furnishes a guide for working out that part of our subject. The total stock of money-material must be divided in such a way as to keep up that state of trade which would exist under a pure barter-system. Since, however, money produces its effect through prices, this is equivalent to the assertion that prices must be so adjusted as to bring about the desired How is this to be accomplished ? Evidently results. by establishing a scale of prices such as will allow the operation of those exchanges which follow from the condition of comparative cost. Comparative prices must be such as to, in some cases, make a country import what it could produce with less cost, or export what it has not the greatest facility for producing. They must, too, permit of the maintenance of the equation of international demand, as resulting from the comparative intensity of need on each side. There are still other conditions to be conformed to. They must allow the modifying effects of the laws of diminishing and increasing return to have their due weight, as also the retarding influence of all the impediments to international exchange; and finally, where competition fails, they must represent the working of reciprocal demand within the several "nations." How, it may well be asked, can these numerous and complicated . The answer is best given by demands be met? making use for the moment of a provisional abstrac-Let it be assumed that prices in a country are tion. governed wholly, instead of partially, by the quantity of money, and that rapidity of circulation, the varying activity of trade, and the movements of credit, have no Then, to establish any needed scale of influence. prices, it is only necessary to alter the amount of money-material. Thus each of the conditions we have stated may be satisfied by this expedient. To cause a country to import what it could produce with less effort, it is sufficient to raise prices in that country, so that the commodity in question becomes of higher price, when produced at home, than when imported. To cause a country to export what it has not specially great technical power to produce, prices must be altered within the country, while the price of the special commodity, as compared with other articles, is depressed; and similar considerations apply to all the other cases.

The gains of foreign trade which, when regarding them as obtained through barter, we stated in terms of the products exchanged, may now be estimated as realised by means of a higher scale of prices. But from either point of view, the same result is ultimately reached, though the process is in appearance very different, since, in the former case, we had to assume that "higgling of the market"—the offer on each side of certain ratios of exchange—which, by the play of desires on each side, were settled in a definite way—a

III

CHAP.

process replaced, in the latter case, by the smooth and almost automatic working of exchanges with dulyadjusted prices.

In order to test the validity of the results just stated, let us see in what the gains of international trade consist, when looked at from our new standpoint. One evident advantage is the comparatively low price of imported goods 1-an advantage which, from the side of barter, was represented by their lower value; the other advantage which we found existed when barter was the form of trade-the increased efficiency of the productive agents-is now represented probably in higher money wages and profits; but, whether this be so or not, always and necessarily in higher real wages and profits. The nature and amount of the gain are finally to be summed up in the phrase, "increase of utility," which, however its component elements may be analysed, is the general expression for the advantage derived from all exchange.

Another consequence of the new form of international trade is to be noticed in respect to cost of carriage, and, indeed, all impediments to exchange. Since prices, not values, are now the condition to be attended to, it is clear that the price of an article, in any country, cannot exceed its price in any other by more than the sum of the impediments to transfer estimated in money, and that in the case of an imported article it will exceed it by that amount. Therefore, as regards portable articles, the difference

¹ Not necessarily lower price, since the result of foreign trade may be to raise the prices of all commodities higher than they were before the trade was opened.

of price, in different countries, cannot be very great, and the influence of cost of carriage, as an impediment to trade, will work mainly through the alteration of the scales of prices in the various countries.

There are some special cases which will further confirm and illustrate the principles laid down. In accordance with the usual form of exposition, as well as with the facts of trade in general, we have hitherto spoken of the money-material, and regarded gold and silver as being both used for currency.¹ But we may also take a particular case where gold is used by itself in one country, silver alone in the other, the second metal in each case being merely a commodity. At first sight, it would appear that the trade will be one of barter, even in form; but closer observation shows that-prices in each country being regulated by the quantity of the metal used as currency in that country between gold and silver. If it is such as to preserve the equation of international demand, no change will be required. Should this, however, not be the case, an alteration of prices will be needed, which would normally be produced by a passage of money from one country to the other; but as in the present instance this is impossible, the adjustment will be reached by

¹ Professor Nicholson (*Money*, 3rd ed. p. 372) has forcibly arged that "in discussing the question of the effects of money on international trade the old theory constantly takes 'the precious metals' as a unit." It is possible that Mill held this view, but there is evidence to show that Ricardo did not. He points out that there cannot be a fixed and invariable par between gold and silver, and he declares that the ratio had lately changed from $14\frac{3}{4}:1$ to $15\frac{1}{2}:1$. He actually gives as one of his reasons for preferring silver to gold as the standard that all other countries used it; see his *Works*, pp. 272, 274, 311, 403. other means. The failure of the equation will leave a balance to be paid by the debtor country, which can easily be done by procuring a sufficient amount of the currency of the creditor country; the demand for this commodity will produce a rise in its value as measured in the debtor country's currency, that is, an alteration in the ratio hitherto existing between gold and silver. The effect will be to alter all gold prices as measured in silver, as well as all silver prices measured in gold —a change equivalent to an alteration in the comparative prices of the two countries—by which process a state of equilibrium will be produced.¹

The trade between such countries as England and India, or China, supposing them to be separated from all other nations, would conform to these conditions. If, as was till recently the case, other countries existed with stocks of gold and silver, obtainable at a fixed ratio, then, as long as either metal could be procured, it would be purchased, and transmitted to the creditor country, when it would tend to restore equilibrium by raising prices. England, it need hardly be said, has freely used the silver possessed by France, in order to conduct its trade with Eastern countries.

The foregoing considerations will help us in dealing with another class of cases which might be supposed to present some difficulty, viz. where the circulating medium of one of the nations is affected by a seigniorage, either equivalent to the cost of minting, or for any greater amount. In this case the debased

¹ See Professor Marshall's masterly "Memorandum" on the effect. of different currencies on international trade, *Appendix to Final Report* of the "Gold and Silver Commission," pp. 47 sq.; and for a different view, Nicholson, *Principles*, book iii. chap. xvii. (vol. ii. pp. 140-147).

currency is in practice a different commodity, and therefore the mode of producing equilibrium will be by the movement of "bullion," which will, in general, command a premium, as compared with the inferior currency, owing to its higher value for purposes of foreign trade. Nothing but limitation of the quantity of debased coinage can prevent the appearance of this premium; but usually limitation is effectual for the purpose, and if free minting be not allowed, it is even possible that the debased currency would itself command a premium as being the only legal mode of discharging obligations in the country where it circulates. The operation of seigniorage, when merely sufficient to cover the cost of coinage, resembles a duty on the importation of money-material, and is so far an impediment to the process of international exchange: it is analogous to dock dues and charges on the importation of commodities, and is thus quite unobjectionable.

The topic of seigniorage naturally suggests the further question of inconvertible paper-issues. They, as Ricardo has acutely observed,¹ "are pieces of money on which the seigniorage is enormous." It will, therefore, be admissible to adopt the course we have followed when dealing with debased currencies, and treat the paper circulation as a new commodity turned into money. So long as the precious metals continue in circulation, it is obvious that they will discharge the functions of money so far as foreign trade is concerned; and it is only on their complete disappearance that the adjustment of international exchange will be carried on, not by a passage of ¹ Works, p. 345; cp. p. 213.

111
money, but by an alteration in the ratio between paper and the precious metals.

The preceding cases possess one feature in common, for they all imply the existence of different standards in the several nations engaged in trading. And for this condition of things a general principle may be laid down. It is—That where adjustment of prices by the passays of money is impossible, it can only be produced by an alteration in the ratio hitherto subsisting between the currencies in question. Exceptions to this principle will only be found where the fact on which it rests does not operate, that is to say, where the money of one or each of the countries is acceptable as a commodity in the other, and there is, therefore, room for a limited transfer of money-material.

The case of inconvertible paper currencies leads up to a modification of the assumption that we made when commencing this part of our inquiry, viz. that the value of money depended solely on its quantity. Though it is indeed one element in determining the value of money, there are other conditions to be taken into account. These briefly enumerated are as follows :--- 1st. The extent to which barter is used in trade, and thus obviates the need of money. 2nd. The employment of the precious metals for non-monetary purposes. 3rd. What has been styled " the efficiency of money," or the average amount of work done by each coin. 4th. The operation of paper money, which, in fact, is nearly akin to the second head, since the issue of notes against a smaller metallic reserve is a mode of increasing the efficiency of that reserve. 5th. The use of credit in its various forms, which is really a refined kind of barter. 6th. And lastly,

62 👘

the amount of transactions, as it also affects the scale of prices, or, what is the same thing, the value of money. But these varied elements, though they help to obscure and complicate the real problem, do not, on analysis, overthrow the elementary principle which connects the value of money with its quantity. Even where exchange in kind widely prevails-that state of "barter economy" (Naturalwirthschaft) on which the German historical school is fond of dwelling—the circulating medium, once introduced, gains a powerful influence on all market prices, and necessarily an alteration in its quantity affects them proportionally. though it may not touch the great mass of customary transactions.¹ For the period of "money-economy," it is admitted that changes in the quantity of the circulating medium speedily affect prices. But at first sight it does not appear so easy to extend the proposition to the fully developed period of "crediteconomy." Here the operating conditions are so many, and the complex organisation of industry presents such difficulties to the investigator, that there is some excuse for thinking that the influence of the quantity of money has ceased to be powerful. It can, however, be proved that the effect of quantity of money on prices is as potent as ever. Take the developed English system: will not the quantity of the precious metals affect it? Manifestly it will, and in the following way :- Retail prices are affected by the quantity of gold and bank notes; but the former is actually some of the money in question,

¹ For an admirable study on the movements of prices, and the contrasts between commercial and stationary districts, see Leslie, *Essays* (2nd ed.), No. 19, especially pp. 269-277.

while the notes are representative of it, and connected with its amount through the operation of the Bank Charter Act of 1844. Turning to the elements of (1) credit, and (2) the amount of transactions, is there not a connection between them both, andfurther, are they not powerfully affected by the market rate of discount? The most potent factor in determining the market rate of discount is, however, the banking reserve, which is itself connected with the metallic reserve; so that in fine we come back to the quantity of money, *i.e.* precious metals, as the underlying power which more than anything else tends to change prices.³

The existence of different forms of economic organisation, though it does not prevent the quantity of money from affecting prices, produces other important effects on the distribution of the precious metals. The Ricardian law states the way in which the total amount of the precious metals is distributed among the several nations of the earth, and it points out the conditions which determine that distribution. It is

¹ The connection briefly explained in the text has been worked out by Sir R. Giffen, who carefully distinguishes between "simple" and "complex" industrial systems.—*Essays in Finance* (2nd Series), No. 2, pp. 37-88. A friendly critic (Professor J. B. Clark, *Political Science Quarterly*, vol. ii. p. 525) suggests that it is unjustifiable to assume that the special English method would hold good elsewhere. But though the precise mechanism may vary from country to country, it seems indisputable that under any system of "credit-economy" there must be a mode of restoring equilibrium. The agency may be represented by a Government department (the United States Treasury might act in this way), a privileged bank, or an association of private banking companies, but whatever the form, the principle in operation is the same. It need hardly be said that the effectiveness of the organisation will vary from country to country.

necessary, as we have seen, to preserve the equation of international demand, since any other position is unstable; and this result is obtained by adjusting the comparative prices of the different countries, which, in a simple industrial system, is only possible by changing the amount of money. When the further influences of credit and varying efficiency of currency come into operation, the desired adjustment may be obtained by their means. Thus, an issue of papermoney may raise prices at a time when that change is needed, owing to the position of international trade; and the nation which is able to adopt this course escapes the loss which is incurred by importing a given amount of bullion. The influence of speculative credit in raising prices, entirely apart from any increase of the stock of money-material, is well known, and discharges a similar function (as may also increased rapidity of circulation).

The result of these rather obvious facts may be more explicitly stated as follows. The distribution of the precious metals should, speaking broadly, be regarded as the result of two conditions. 1st. The state of international exchange, which requires the allotment to each country of an amount sufficient to maintain the position of stable equilibrium; and this being so settled—2nd. The various factors which determine the range of general prices. It is impossible to estimate the quantity of money required by a nation without taking both classes of facts into account.

We see, moreover, that alterations in the internal economy of a nation will produce effects on international exchange, and will render a redistribution of the money-material necessary. The adoption of an

F.

inconvertible paper currency by a country will send a quantity of the precious metals out of that country to be distributed amongst the other nations of the world. Improved banking arrangements, the use of representative money, and all other economising expedients, will have a like effect. The substitution of money-exchange for the process of direct barter, and the increase of trade, will lead to an opposite result. An interesting deduction may be noticed here. It is evident that banks, and all such organisations, regarded from the international point of view, perform a useful office, in enabling a country to maintain its proper scale of prices with a smaller quantity of money than would otherwise be required, and thus confer a benefit on the country in which they exist.¹

The causes which affect the distribution of money through the various nations are so many, and so likely to vary from time to time, that it is almost certain, *a priori*, that there will be a nearly continuous series of movements of bullion from country to country—a proposition which is amply confirmed by experience. In particular, one cause for such changes should be emphasised. The quantity of money-material, even if fixed in amount and indestructible, would be redistributed, owing to the conditions above stated; but money is being slowly worn out, and is also being continually produced in greater or less abundance : and it is therefore essential to replace the loss taking place in countries which do not produce the precious metals, as also to withdraw their superfluous stores

¹ "The judicious operations of banking . . . provide . . . a sort of waggon-way through the air."- Wealth of Nations, pp. 131, 132. from the producing countries. The movements of bullion may then be grouped under two classes—(1) The frequent transitory movements which take place from country to country to correct slight fluctuations of price which are not needed by the state of foreign trade, and (2) the slower but larger movement from the producing to the non-producing countries. The fact that the quantity of money is itself variable, does not in anywise alter the conditions which we have found operative, when that feature was disregarded. The distribution of new supplies is carried on under the same laws as a redistribution of the already existing stock would be.¹

The whole theory which has just been worked out, is based on one assumption which has not in general been noticed by its propounders. It is thought to be unquestionable that a movement of the precious metals, or an alteration of the ratio hitherto subsisting between different currencies, will cause a change in prices, that is to say, that the economic system will alter when the conditions affecting it are altered, which is equivalent to assuming the existence of competition; and for most actual nations this assumption is amply justified. Let us suppose, however, that all prices are regulated by custom, and that an addition to the stock of bullion will not raise prices, but rather reduce the efficiency of money, and let us see how Ricardo's principle will be affected.

There are different cases possible, for-1st, the prices fixed by custom may be lower than they would

¹ See, for full investigation of the distribution of new supplies of /. gold, J. E. Cairnes, *Essays in Political Economy*, pp. 1-165, especially Essay III. (pp. 77-108); also Leslie, *Essays*, pp. 269-383.

ш

be under competition; it will then be the interest of other countries to trade with the supposed nation, and to send to it their money, which, ex hypothesi, commands a higher value there than elsewhere; but as no alteration of prices takes place, the trade will continue, and be exceptionally profitable to the countries thus sending money. If the other countries possess a highly developed credit system, and if there be a considerable fresh annual supply of the precious metals, it seems as if this state of things would continue until the customary prices had given way before the development of industry and the constant influx of money. 2nd. Should the customary prices be higher than the competitive ones would be, it is clear that the countries possessing the competitive form of organisation will not import goods at a loss. They will, however, export at considerable advantage, and may thus cause a drain of money which will so raise their prices as to restore equilibrium. The general result is, that the competitive system is far more advantageous, from the international point of view, since it enables a country to rapidly adjust its prices so as to preserve its international position. The use of a large and increasing quantity of the precious metals for the purpose of ornament, would, especially when combined with the customary state, produce the disadvantageous result above described. And it is further evident that the release of a quantity of gold and silver, whether hoarded or used as ornament, is equivalent to an equal addition to the quantity of money, and will produce similar effects on the course of international exchange.

The consequence of this partial failure of Ricardo's

law may, perhaps, be illustrated in the case of India. The large amount of the precious metals, especially silver, absorbed by that country has been always a subject of remark. In recent years the change in the value of silver has led to an increase in the amount transmitted; but little effect has as yet been produced on Indian prices --- a circumstance which has much increased the difficulties of the Indian Government, and has been a puzzle to writers on the subject. The partial existence of customary prices in India, combined with the use of increased stocks of the precious metals, for the purpose of ornament or hoarding, would satisfactorily account for the actual state of things, and it is possible that such may be the real explanation.

There remains one part of the relations of money in international trade which has not yet been investigated-viz. the cost of obtaining it, and the consequences resulting from that cost. In a gold-producing nation, it is plain that the total cost of money is to be measured by the amount of productive power which must be applied to obtain the amount of the precious metals employed for currency purposes in that nation; while, in all non-gold-producing countries, the cost will be measured by the cost of the commodities exported in payment for the needed amount of moneymaterial. The conditions, therefore, which determine the cost of a nation's money are three in number, or, to use the mathematical expression which Mill has employed, the cost of money is a function of three variables, viz.-(1) The amount of money required by a nation, which, as we have seen, depends on the economic system of the country. (2) The state of

ш

reciprocal demand. If the products of the nation are much sought after, the terms of exchange will be more favourable to it, and if its demand for foreign products is intense, they will be less favourable. The terms fixed by reciprocal demand are not, in actual trade, the same in both countries, owing to the influence of impediments to transfer; in estimating, therefore, the force of this condition, we must take into account the amount of the impediments, which will mainly consist in cost of carriage of bullion and of the exchanged commodities, but also in part of duties, imposed either on imports or exports; so that if a country be close to the place whence it draws its supply of money, and if the articles it sends out, or returns, be of high value in proportion to their bulk, there will be room for great gain by exchange, and the possibility of getting money cheaper; but the actual attainment of this result will depend on the state of reciprocal demand. (3) The positive efficiency of industry, which, if great, allows of the acquisition of a larger stock of money by a given effort, or a given amount by a less effort. The conclusion may, therefore, be drawn, that a nation obtains its money at less cost in proportion as these conditions are favourable to it; and we can again assert that all improvements in the monetary and credit organisation are for the national advantage. The second condition shows that the opening up of demand for a country's products will tend to reduce the cost of its money, as of all its other imports, and the removal, whether total or partial, of impediments to exchange will have a like effect. Increase in industrial efficiency will, too, enable a nation to procure its imports with less effort, and will, therefore, be advan-

tageous in enabling it to get its money-material with less sacrifice.¹

The scale of prices existing in any country is, as we have seen, the result of well-defined causes, and cannot be altered by any slight force; but in the light of the preceding results, it may be well to see in what way a nation's interest is connected with the range of its general prices. High or low prices, all the world over, are, it need scarcely be said, of no consequence. They imply simply the existence of a greater or less number of counters. But one country, by having higher prices than others, may gain through its foreign trade, by purchasing its imports at lower prices, and by giving a smaller amount of exports in return. It is, however, impossible that such a position could be retained unless the international relations of the country permitted it, so that high general prices must be the outcome of favouring circumstances. The divergence of prices in different countries is, moreover, limited, since imported articles cannot be permanently higher in price than in the country of their production by more than the cost of the sum of impediments to exchange. It is, therefore, in articles whose transport is difficult or impossible, or in those subject to heavy import duties, that a great difference in price may be anticipated; and then, where the other industries possess greater productive power, it is probable that this feature will appear; but such high prices are an indication of industrial inferiority in certain branches of production, and cannot be regarded as advantageous :

¹ See, for fuller discussion of this point, Senior, Three Lectures on the Cost of obtaining Money, No. I.; Mill, Principles, iii. 19, § 2; and Cairnes, Leading Principles, pp. 489 sq.

THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE CHAP. III

and thus we may accept Cairnes' statement, that "what a country is interested in, is not in having its prices high or low, but in having its gold cheap, understanding by cheapness not low value, but *low cost.*"¹ The gain from international exchange will, indeed, be realised in all cases in the way explained before, viz. in reduced values of imports, and in the increase of wealth as proved by a rise in real wages and in the mass of profit.

¹ Leading Principles, p. 494.

CHAPTER IV

THE EQUATION OF INDEBTEDNESS

THE mutual relations of nations, or trading groups, are not all comprised in the actual exchange of commoditics. When intercourse is of long standing, and when it has become possible to move capital with comparative ease from country to country, the exports and imports become but one element-a very important one, it is true-in the sum of commercial transactions. In order to understand the exact position of a country, we must consider not merely the equation of reciprocal demand, but rather what may be styled the equation of indebtedness. It is not the equivalence of imports with exports that constitutes the stable condition of trade, but the equivalence in the sum of debts due to the country, and that of debts due by it. The process of estimating a country's relations is not therefore so simple as the Mercantilist theorists supposed. They judged the balance of trade to be favourable or unfavourable in proportion as the exports exceeded, or fell short of, the imports. Even from their point of view, it was the balance of indebtedness which should have been taken into account, though it would not furnish a logical basis for the particular conclusion which they

sought to draw from the course of trade.¹ It is therefore requisite to clearly understand the nature of the different components of the equation of indebtedness. This investigation is, in reality, nothing else than stating the various parts of the debtor and creditor account of a country, which may perhaps be best arranged in the following order :--(1) It is desirable to give the first place to what the earlier writers regarded as the sole contents of this balance-sheet, viz. the imports and exports. A country is clearly a debtor to other countries by the value of all its imports, as, on the other hand, it is obviously a creditor by the value of its exports. (2) Next to imports and exports, we have to set down to the account the loans which a country receives or gives. The contracting of a loan by a nation makes the nations which offer the loan its debtors for the time being, till the loan is carried out, and it necessarily becomes their creditor. To take the most usual instance, investments of capital abroad, while being carried on, make a country a debtor, as the investment of foreign capital in a country makes it a creditor. (3) The annual interest on capital already invested acts in the opposite direction; here the investing country is a creditor, and the country which has previously borrowed a debtor. Both this and the foregoing elements are instructively illustrated by the relations of England with the United States

¹ Sir James Steuart notices "that there is a great difference between the wrong balance of trade and the general balance of payments" (Works, iii. p. 216), but fails to develop the conception. The expression "balance of indebtedness" appears to have been first used by J. L. Foster, in his useful pamphlet on The Principle of Commercial Exchanges (Dublin, 1804). By means of the conception that it represents, he exposes some common fallacies.

силь.

and her own Colonies. (4) The repayment of a loan previously incurred acts in the same way as the interest to be paid on it while outstanding. It comes to the credit of the receiving, and to the debit of the repaying country; which merely amounts to the assertion that the reversal of a process will in general have an opposite effect to the original process. (5) The next element is a minor one as compared with those that we have been considering, but still its aggregate amount cannot be neglected; it includes the earnings of native merchants living abroad, and the profits of foreigners residing in the country, that is, of course, so far as they are transmitted to their native country. In the former case, the country is a creditor; in the latter, it is a debtor. (6) It is perhaps scarcely necessary to separate our sixth case from the last one. It occurs when foreigners transmit money for benevolent purposes to a country, or in the reverse instance of a country sending donations abroad -e.g. the annual remittances of the large number of Irish persons, who are naturalised in the United States, to the United Kingdom, amount to a considerable sum.

(7) Our next head will be more important. A country is a creditor for services done by its ships and traders. Though this head may, in some instances, touch closely on No. 5, still there is a shade of difference. The ships which a country employs in 'earrying for foreigners are in reality, as Sir R. Giffen has aptly called them, an "invisible export," and might almost, did the nature of statistical returns permit, be classed under the first head. On the other side, of course, a country is debtor for the services done by foreign ships and traders for it. When we remember that seventy

CHAP.

millions may reasonably be assigned as the annual amount of England's gain in this way, the importance of the item will not be disputed.¹ (8) The expenditure of a nation's Government abroad will also make it a debtor to that amount, and, conversely, the expenditure of other Governments in a country will put it so far in the position of a creditor. (9) An item of greater relative weight formerly than it is at present should not be left unnoticed, viz. tributes, or indemnities, due by one country to another. The paying country is here the debtor, and the receiving country the creditor. Striking modern instances are to be found in the case of the great war indemnity paid by France to Germany, after the war of 1870-71, amounting to £200,000,000, and in the indemnity from China to Japan. And finally (10), the expenditure of citizens travelling abroad, renders a country a debtor, while it is a creditor for the expenditure of foreigners within its territory, that is, of course, so far as the parties in question derive their power of expenditure from their native country.

Such are the principal elements which go to determine the balance of indebtedness. It is possible that some minor cases may be found which are not included in the foregoing analysis; and most writers on the subject have contented themselves with a less minute division of the several items. It is, however, essential to direct attention to the cardinal fact of the equation of indebtedness, which is the condition to be satisfied in all continuous solvent trade. The equivalence of

¹ See Giffen, Essays in Finance (2nd Series), pp. 171-189, and Statistical Journal, vol. lxii. pp. 9-12. Bankers' commissions in a commercial centre like London would be very similar. imports and exports may or may not exist; but there is no advantage or disadvantage in an excess of either of these amounts. A country may, for a considerable period, have an excess of exports over imports, and be prosperous, or the reverse. And the same is the case with imports; but a country which has a balance of indebtedness against it will have to alter some of the items of the account, or clear away the balance by a number of bankruptcies. The establishment of the equation of indebtedness is for every country what Cairnes declared it to be for the United States-"simply the condition of her remaining a solvent nation." 1 It follows that this principle may be safely used for the purpose of deducing conclusions with regard to trade movements. As, in general, the imports and exports are the most easily altered items of the account, a readjustment in the amount of indebtedness will take effect through them, and an unfavourable balance will be discharged by a reduction of imports, an increase of exports, or a combination of both processes.

The examination of the complicated relations of international trade enables us to make a needed modification in the theory of our subject. In the preceding chapter we had apparently established that the equation of international demand could, if broken, be restored only by an alteration of prices produced by the passage of money, or by a change in the ratio of the currencies in the countries in question. We are now in a position to understand that a foreign loan may maintain the equation of indebtedness, and may obviate the inconvenience of a sudden change in prices, which may not, on the whole, and taking a

¹ Leading Principles, p. 445.

IV

THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE CHAP. IV

long period into account, be needed. This function of securities is most useful, since it gives stability to prices which would otherwise fluctuate unduly, and further relieves countries from what might be the cause of much inconvenience and loss, viz. the sudden drain of a large amount of money-material. It is with respect to nations possessing a fully-developed credit-economy that the service is most important.¹ The matter may be put in a somewhat different way by saying that a country at times can create an immaterial export by means of its securities, which export it has to meet at a future date by sending out an actual export of equal value-interest, of course, being paid in the meantime. The practical applications of the doctrine concerning the equation of indebtedness will be best handled in connection with the protectionist controversy; but the foregoing general statement is an essential preliminary to any treatment of the foreign exchanges, to which branch we shall next proceed.

¹ The expedient is, of course, only a temporary one, but it is nevertheless important to note its existence. Compare the criticism of Lorini, *La Moneta*, p. 324.

79 -

CHAPTER V

THE FOREIGN EXCHANGES 1

It is now requisite to look more closely at the actual form of international trade. We have hitherto considered the forces operating on the terms of exchange, either on the supposition of barter, or after the introduction of money. The next step will be to see in what mode the indebtedness created through the several elements described in the preceding chapter is discharged. In practice we find that debts are reduced to the form of bills-"foreign Bills of Exchange," to use the full title-and we can thus derive some knowledge from examining the working of these bills. In order to give definiteness to our ideas, let us take an assumed case. X, a merchant, in one country, A, has sent goods to a certain amount to Y, a merchant in another country, B; W, a merchant residing in B, has sent goods of equal value to Z, who lives in A. How will the liabilities thus created be discharged? There are several alternative courses. X and W may fetch back the value of their goods in money, or they may exchange them for an equivalent amount of

¹ Mr. Goschen's Theory of the Foreign Exchanges is the standard work on the subject, but Mr. Clare's Money Market Primer, and his ABC of the Foreign Exchanges, give much fuller details.

CHAP.

commodities, which will be brought back and sold by them; and such is really the primitive system of trading. If the obligations were formed in thecountries of the creditors, Y and Z would have to transmit an equal value to X and W; and when money is developed, it is almost certain that this value will have to be sent in that form, since it is the only legal tender. By either of the methods just mentioned there would be in general two streams of money. passing between A and B in opposite directions. Another way of discharging the obligation is, however, available. Let us suppose that X draws an order desiring Y to pay the debt that he owes to X, to the bearer of the order, and that he sells it to his countryman Z, who discharges his debt to W by sending him the order, and finally that W presents it to Y, and obtains the amount. By this simple arrangement the expense of a double transmission of money-material is avoided, and two transactions are closed by the use of a single Bill of Exchange, as X's order is called. Y's debt is then said to be drawn for, and Z's to be remitted for.1

. The several individuals in the supposed instance may be regarded as types of so many classes; and the relations between X and Z in A, and Y and W in B, will be carried out by means of an intermediate class of dealers who make the foreign exchanges their special business. The exporter of commodities will part with

¹ "Mr. Seyd's estimate is, that one-third of our exports are drawn for, and two-thirds remitted for." Palgrave, Notes on Banking, p. 43. According to Mr. Clare the proportion drawn for is much smaller. He suggests 10 per cent as probable, and accounts for its smallness by reference to the position of London as a monetary centre, and the consequent convenience of drawing bills on it.

his bill to one of those dealers, who will, in turn, sell it to a debtor for the purpose of being transmitted in discharge of a debt to a foreign country, where it will probably pass into the hands of another exchangebroker for collection. But whatever be the actual course adopted in particular cases, the general result is the creation of a new commodity, which is bought and sold on terms, settled in accordance with the conditions of supply and demand.

In the case just stated the debts due on each side were equal. What Y owed to X was exactly balanced by Z's debt to W, and, therefore, the exchanges were equal-a fact which is expressed in technical language by saying that they are at par. When this is the case, it is plain that the equation of indebtedness is realised, since bills are not merely the result of exports and imports, but of all forms of debt. Another consequence must be noted. There is no need of the passage of money to meet a balance, and we may, therefore, conclude that a state of equilibrium is attained when the exchanges are at par. As yet only the main and primary factor in exchange relations—that is to say, indebtedness-has been mentioned. There are several complicating circumstances which tend to obscure the ultimate force at work. It is hard to arrest the phenomena which are in continuous motion for the purpose of analysis. The bills, which are hourly being drawn, are for varying periods of time, and are drawn by and on persons of very varied degrees of credit, and, as a necessary consequence, show these influences in their market price. Again, almost every nation has its peculiar currency system, and, therefore, there is the necessity of measuring the value of a bill expressed

G

V.

CHAP.

in one system by the terms of another. From this side we get another and more concrete definition of par of exchange; it is attained when the money of one country is equal in value to an amount of the money of another country containing the same quantity of money-material. The difference of currencies, though it is perplexing, and renders all calculations more troublesome, yet does not create the system of the foreign exchanges, which results from the primary fact of indebtedness, combined with the cost of transmitting money from one place to another. In general, too, the fact of different legal jurisdictions, or fora, is a juridical ground for treating bills as "foreign"; but it is not a necessary condition. Owing, then, to the various complicating circumstances, the exchanges are in constant movement; but they move within definite limits, which may be concisely indicated. If at any particular time the equation of indebtedness is not established, it follows that the claims of one country -- say A-on the other-say B-are greater than those of B upon A; therefore the supply of bills in A will be greater than the demand for them, and, in

will be greater than the demand for them, and, in order to induce a sale, they will fall below their nominal value. The converse will be found to take place in B; there the demand for bills will exceed the supply, and their value will rise above the amount which they represent. The exchanges will be below par in A, and above par in B. There are, however, limits to the rise in the value of bills in B, and their fall in A; nor, if we keep the elementary facts steadily in view, is there much difficulty in seeing what they are. Why does a merchant in A sell his bill at a lower value than its nominal amount? Plainly because

actual money is worth more than the amount to be obtained by the bill, which will have to be sent to B to be cashed, and the proceeds of which will have to be carried back to A at expense and risk. Therefore, the cost of bringing back bullion would be the limit to the fall in value of bills in A. In like manner, bills in B will not go beyond the cost of transmitting bullion from that country, since a debtor there, instead of buying a bill, would, were it cheaper, remit the amount of his debt in bullion. It may, therefore, be concluded that the limit to exchange fluctuations, in either direction, is fixed by the cost of the passage of specie-a statement which may also be put as follows : -The upper limit of exchange operations is par, plus the cost of transmitting specie; the lower limit par, minus the cost of transmitting specie; so that twice the cost of sending specie is the whole space within which fluctuations ordinarily take place. Each of the limits is known in technical language as a speciepoint; and thus we may say, that the specie-points are the limits to exchange fluctuations, while the position of equilibrium is par. Within these limits, however, the movements are incessant, and are affected by all the conditions already mentioned. In the illustrative case given above, the balance of indebtedness was in favour of A, and against B; therefore, to restore equilibrium, the passage of some bullion would, in general, be needed; but exchange operations will reduce the amount to a minimum, and in this way save expense. Since the bullion has to pass from B to A, the exchanges are said to be favourable to A, and unfavourable to B-terms which have descended from the time of the mercantile doctrine, when the

v

influx of money was always regarded as beneficial, and its outflow as injurious. The theory on which this idea was based is universally admitted to be erroneous; but Mr. Goschen has pointed out that in certain states of the money-market the efflux of bullion is detrimental, and that from the monetary point of view there may be some justification for the use of the terms.¹

To enable a more vivid conception of the actual course of exchange operations to be formed, it will be well to take a couple of selected instances from the present time, and first will naturally come the exchange between London and Paris. In this case both countries have in practice the same standard metal-gold; and since one pound sterling contains the same amount of pure gold as 25 francs and 221 centimes, the par of exchange is said to be $25 \cdot 22\frac{1}{2}$. The cost of sending £1 between London and Paris is about one-eighth of a franc, or 121 centimes; consequently, the specie-points may be taken as $25\cdot10$ (*i.e.* $25\cdot22\frac{1}{2}-\cdot12\frac{1}{2}$) and $25\cdot35$ (*i.e.* $25\cdot22\frac{1}{2}+\cdot12\frac{1}{2}$). When the rate for short bills is near 25.10, a movement of bullion will take place from London to Paris, in order to obtain the profit which may be expected; and the opposite will occur when 25.35 is approached. Within these comparatively narrow limits, the exchange will be constantly moving in accordance with the variations of supply and demand. The exchange between London and New York will, in like manner, . illustrate the elementary facts of the exchanges. Here the par of exchange is 4.86%, since the gold in one English pound is equal to that in \$4.86%; the cost of transmission of the pound sterling would be about 31

¹ Theory of the Foreign Exchanges, p. 86.

cents; from which we can infer that the specie- (or shipping-) points are 4.83 and 4.90 approximately.

It should be remarked that these conditions in strictness apply only to what are called "short" bills, that is, bills which are due, or almost due; in the case of long bills—those which have some time to run before becoming due—the disturbing influences of rate of interest and state of credit have to be considered, and will cause wider fluctuations. It is possible to state similar pars and specie-points in the case of any two commercial centres; but for the purpose of illustrating the abstract principles, it will be unnecessary to add further instances.¹

Though, in general, the value of bills can only vary within the narrow limits set by the specie-points, there are some curious cases on record where these bounds have been passed, and where much larger rates of discount and higher premiums have been obtained. These exceptions to the general principle themselves admit of classification. The cases in which the exchanges may fall below specie-point are two, and may be stated as follows :---(1) Where a stringent money - market is coexistent with a favourable exchange. For, suppose two nations, A and B, in the former of which there is great monetary pressure, and from which there has been a large excess of exports over imports, qr, at all events, a favourable balance of debts; it follows that the supply of bills in A will exceed the demand for them-a circumstance which would in ordinary times bring the exchanges to the lower specie-point, but not further. Now, however, the influence of the stringent money-market comes in. Dealers are unwilling to

¹ For fuller details see Clare's ABC of the Foreign Exchanges.

invest their money in bills which cannot be cashed for some time, and therefore the demand for them is reduced; moreover, the holders of bills are anxious to obtain money, which is the only form of legal tender, and is therefore peculiarly needed at times of pressure; and thus the discount on bills goes below its normal limit—a phenomenon which is accompanied by a high rate of interest, and a general fall in the prices of commodities and securities.

A striking instance of the operation of these conditions is presented by the American Exchanges in 1860-61. The United States had exported largely to England, and at the same time, owing to the probability of the outbreak of civil war, had reduced their imports, the consequence being a balance in their The political conditions had produced a desire favour. for money on the part of dealers, who were willing to sell their bills at a sacrifice, rather than wait for their maturing and encashment in England, and the return of the proceeds in specie. Both conditions were essential for the production of the unusual fall. Without the state of apprehension, it would not have gone beyond specie-point; without the favourable balance, the buyers would have been as numerous as the sellers, or, to speak more accurately, the demand for bills would have sufficed to carry off the supply.

(2) In another instance a similar depression of the exchanges is possible. In a new country, especially one which produces the precious metals, there may be some difficulty in obtaining coined money, and there may be, for a short period, an excess of importations, and yet the bills in that country on others may fall below the specie-point, though in the normal state they

ought to command a premium (infra, p. 95). The explanation is to be found in the scarcity of coin, which is the medium needed for the purpose of closing obligations. A usually concurrent fact is the depreciation in the value of bullion. The position of the Australian Exchanges in 1852-53 is a case in point. The demand of the miners for all the ruder kinds of goods had stimulated importation, but the natural effect of this force was more than counteracted by the want of metallic money, therefore bills fell not only below their . par value, but even far below specie-point. To any one looking at the mere facts of the exchanges, it would appear that gold would move towards Australia -and indeed in one form it did. It was imperatively necessary to import coined gold, though at the same time much larger quantities of bullion were exported. The establishment of branch mints at Melbourne and Sydney removed this anomalous state, and effectually prevented its reappearing at any future time.¹

In contrast to the instances which we have just examined, other cases may be found in which the exchanges rise above the specie-point. Though they are reducible to one general head, it is easier to treat them as consisting of two distinct classes. (1) Where a sudden demand for gold for exportation occurs, or is expected to occur, in a country with an inconvertible paper-currency which is not depreciated. The price of foreign bills may, under these circumstances, go far above specie - point, since they give the power of obtaining legal tender abroad, and thus obviate the need of gold, which has become—owing to the prob-

¹ Tooke-Newmarch, *History of Prices*, vol. ví. p. 682. For a somewhat similar case, in the exchange with China in 1856, see *ibid*. p. 685.

v

ability of its being demanded for exportation - a highly-valued commodity. The sudden rise in the exchanges in 1815, mentioned by Mill,¹ is a good illustration of this set of cases. (2) The position of inconvertible paper-currencies, which have been depreciated from excessive issue, or from discredit, is closely akin to the first and more limited case. Here the exchanges may pass, not only beyond specie-point, but even many hundred per cent beyond it. The easiest way of conceiving the operation of a depreciated currency is to regard it as a new commodity, whose value in specie has to be estimated in order to find the true exchange; or, to use the well-established terms, the exchange, measured in depreciated paper, is the nominal, that, estimated in terms of bullion, the real exchange; and, therefore, the fluctuations of the nominal exchange have to be eliminated in order to interpret the movements of the real exchange. The best indication of the amount of depreciation is to be found in the price of bullion, which has become a commodity, and the limit to the rise in price of bills, measured in depreciated paper, is set by the premium on bullion. The purchaser has to consider whether it is cheaper to buy a bill or to buy bullion, and thus the prices of both these articles are connected. The movements of the exchanges may be further retarded by legal restrictions on dealings in bullion; but such measures, though harassing, and likely to cause some additional expense, are, in general, evaded. When a country having an inconvertible paper-currency has exhausted its stock of bullion, the commodity best suited for export will take the place of the former, but, of course, will be less

Principles, iii. 20, § 3, note.

easily used for the purpose, since all other commodities are more or less destitute of the qualities which have made gold and silver, but more especially the former, the money material *par excellence*. The difficulty in selecting an actual instance of this class of cases arises not from their scarcity, but from their abundance. The course of the American Exchanges between 1862 and 1878 is a leading and well-known example which may be specially mentioned. At one time the premium on gold reached 285; but bullion always commanded a premium of greater or less amount.¹ A still later example, and one still in existence, is that of the exchange with Buenos Ayres. Owing to the depreciation of the Argentine currency the rate of exchange is high and uncertain.

Similar principles apply to the exchanges between gold-using and silver-using countries. As Mr. Goschen has shown,² the price of silver in the former, or of gold in the latter, will have to be taken into account; and it is by the price of that metal which is merely a commodity that the limit of fluctuation is determined. As we have seen already (pp. 59, 60) this element is prominent in the case of Anglo-Indian trade, and it is highly desirable to see that the fluctuations of the Eastern exchanges are explicable on the same general grounds as those of countries with depreciated paper issues.

The general principles of the exchanges have now, it may be hoped, been sufficiently stated, and also the

¹ See A. S. Bolles, Financial History of the United States (1861-1885), p. 301, note.

² Foreign Exchanges, pp. 76-81. Cp. Clare, ABC of the Foreign Exchanges, pp. 139-142.

v

limits within which they move, as well as the various exceptional cases where, in consequence of a change in the normal conditions, the variations become wider, or, at least, may do so. To complete the examination of this subject, it is requisite to see the working of the various influencing forces within the usual limits. "The fluctuations which actually take place in the foreign exchanges," says Mr. Goschen,¹ "are at once the necessary result and the certain index of the inequalities which exist in the indebtedness of different countries-inequalities either in the amount of their liabilities, or in the time within which payment must be made, or in the relation of the currency of one country to that of another." Taking the different circumstances thus clearly stated in their due order, we find that the comparative amount of indebtedness is the primary cause of exchange variations. If A owes more to B than B owes to it, the exchanges will, other things being equal, be favourable to the latter and unfavourable to the former. In dealing with all concrete instances, this fact must never be lost sight of. For a complete interpretation, the other elements of the problem have also to be included. Time operates in two ways-1st, by rendering the rate of interest in both countries an important element in determining the price of bills-the rate in the country where bills are drawn, "since it renders the seller more eager and the purchaser more reluctant";² the rate in the country on which bills are drawn, since the bills are purchased to discharge debts in, or to procure gold from that country, and, in either case, the rate of interest there will affect their value; and 2nd, by ¹ Theory of Foreign Exchanges, pp. 4, 5. ² Goschen, p. 53.

making the state of credit a more prominent condition, as there is a greater amount of risk in the case of a three-months' bill than in that of one "at sight." The time within which the liabilities on each side have to be discharged is, therefore, a necessary element in the determination of the exchanges. The currency of the countries is, too, a factor in the settlement of the terms, and, in the case of inconvertible paper circula-In general, where the tion, the most potent one. monetary system in both countries is sound and well established, there is no fluctuation produced by it, though the effect of the other disturbing forces is expressed in terms of currency; so that, at first sight, the whole problem of the exchanges seems to be merely the comparison of the moneys of different countries.

The doctrine of the exchanges includes some account of what have been called its "correctives." The term implies a state of things which needs correction, and, therefore, may be placed along with the expressions "favourable" and "unfavourable," as being due to the "balance of trade" doctrines of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Using the word as merely descriptive of an actual process, we may say that the modes of correcting the exchanges are: 1st, increased exportations; 2nd, diminished importations; 3rd, reform of currency, if it be depreciated; 4th, an elevation in the rate of interest. The operation of the two firstmentioned methods is obvious, as they alter the balance of indebtedness, and thus correct an unfavourable exchange in the most direct way. Currency reform, when needed, raises the credit of the whole country, so as to improve its trade position. The last-mentioned method is the course usually pursued in England. The

CHAP.

raising of the rate of discount has been now for many years the recognised way of checking a drain of gold. Its operation should, therefore, be carefully noted. It produces the desired effect, first, by making it more profitable to invest money in the country thus acting; the higher the rate of interest, the less will be gained by sending long bills for the purpose of getting them discounted, there will thus be an inducement to let them await maturity; then the price of securities tends to fall as interest rises, and securities in the supposed country become a specially valuable investment. Secondly, trade in general is checked by the higher rates, and prices of commodities are lowered-a change which acts directly on the amount of imports and exports, lowering the former and increasing the latter; and thus, in fine, the raising of the rate of interest increases ordinary exports, and makes securities and bills more likely to be used as immaterial exports. Experience amply confirms the conclusion derived from abstract reasoning. To take a good instance, the drain of gold to the United States in 1861 was checked by the elevation of the English rate to 8 per cent.¹ To avoid misapprehension, it should be said that there is nothing artificial in the operation of this agency. The Bank of England, as a large holder of loanable capital, raises its rate of discount in order to keep its reserve unreduced. Other holders of capital follow this example, and thus a general elevation of interest for short loans takes place-a change which is favoured by the position of trade; for otherwise the Bank of England's movement would not be followed by the other holders of capital, who would undersell

¹ See Laveleye, Le Marché Monétaire, pp. 179, 180.

it in the terms of loans, and draw away its customers.¹ This course, therefore, is suggested, and even necessitated, by the dictates of self-interest, and its operation has been most advantageous in preventing undue fluctuations in the exchanges and heavy drains of gold.

Apart, however, from all conscious correctives of the course of exchange, there is, in the conditions of the phenomena themselves, a force which tends to preserve equilibrium, and which has been briefly formulated in the proposition that "the exchanges have a tendency to return to par." In proof of this statement, let us, as so often before, take two nations, A and B, the former of which has a favourable balance as against the latter, and, as a necessary corollary, the latter of which has an unfavourable balance; then bills in A on B will be at a discount, and bills in B on A will be at a premium, since in A the supply would exceed the demand, while in B the demand would exceed the supply, that is, assuming the price to be at par in each case. Should, however, this state be due to any transitory cause, it is likely to be corrected without the passage of bullion, since the discount on bills in A will reduce the profit of exporters, who will lose by the low price of their bills, and may find it expedient to curtail their transactions. At the same time, exporters in B will gain the premium on their hills, in addition to their ordinary profit, and may thus be led to increase the amount of exports. This force acts on both sides of the balance, and is, in almost all cases, operative to some extent. It can, however, only affect slight fluctuations, as the heavier balances would, in all likelihood, need a readjustment of prices, for which ¹ Cp. p. 64, note.

93

v

the actual passage of bullion is essential; and further, the extent to which the influence of the gain just described is effective, neutralises that gain, since, if the exchange is corrected by it, the gain itself disappears.

In practice, exchange operations are not confined to dealings between two countries. There is a close connection between all the great commercial centres, which prevents an extreme deviation in the terms of any particular exchange. One form of this connection is so important that it may best be taken to illustrate the general fact. In three trading countries, A, B, and C, A may have an excess of exports—omitting, for simplicity, the other forms of debt—to B; B, in like manner, may have an excess of exports to C, who, in turn, may have an excess of exports to A. Here A can discharge its debt to C by means of the surplus bills on B which it possesses, and B can make a like use of its surplus of bills on C; so that the transactions may possibly be all discharged without the use of bullion. The case just described is known as " triangular trade." The most familiar instance is the trade of (a) India and China, (b) the United States, and (c) England, which exactly illustrates our supposed case of A, B, and C. Eastern countries have an excess of exports to the United States, and they again have a surplus of exports to England, the latter paying her debts to America by her exports to the East; or, to speak more accurately, America pays her debts to the East by bills drawn on London. In general, a debt due anywhere will be paid by bills drawn on another place, if a profit can be made by so doing; and in foreign bill dealings, the influence of selfinterest is probably stronger and keener than in

v

any other form of economic activity. The technical term for the method of thus clearing bills is "arbitration of exchange"—a process which is abundantly illustrated in the technical treatises on the subject.¹

More important than the complicated rules for working the exchanges, is the general principle that a nation's position is not determined by its trade with any one other nation, but by the sum of its relations with all countries. The establishment of the equation of indebtedness is the ultimate condition-a result which may, on its exchange side, be stated as follows: -The stable position-assuming money to be constant in quantity and indestructible-is that in which the real exchanges are at par, or, allowing for the actual mode in which money is supplied, a slightly favourable exchange for a non-gold-producing country, and an unfavourable exchange for those countries which produce and export the precious metals. To give an actual instance, the exchange with Melbourne is generally favourable to England. Bills in Melbourne on England are usually at a premium (£102), which is equivalent to saying that the cost of sending specie from Melbourne to London is about 2 per cent. Though exchange operations, in general, are connected, so that wide deviations are checked, yet it is quite possible for a country to have a permanently favourable exchange, with some nations, and an unfavourable one with others. "Such a state of things indicates that the country in question

¹ The details of exchange operations are given in Seyd's Bullion and Foreign Exchanges, and Tate's Cambist (23rd ed.). The many changes in currency systems during the last twenty-five years have much reduced the value of the former work. Mr. Clare's alreadymentioned work, The ABC of the Foreign Exchanges, is now by far the best book for the economic student. is an intermediary in distributing bullion from the mines to the various other countries of the world.¹

Looking back on the theory of international exchange, we see that, no matter in what way it is contemplated, a condition of equilibrium is the state towards which it tends. In Chapter II., under a system of pure barter, we found that the equation of reciprocal demand was the normal condition, brought about through the action of human desires on each side. By introducing the additional element of money (Chapter III.), we saw that the distribution of the precious metals was always approximating to that position which would make the trade similar to one of barter-a result accomplished by the difficulty of moving bullion and the consequences of its transmission. Though we had to further amend our views by the recognition of other relations than those arising from imports and exports, we have yet established in the present chapter that the equation of indebtedness is the position towards which international trade tends, when worked as it actually is, by credit instruments. We may, then, conclude that the exposition of the theory is well-founded, since, from such different points of view, it gives precisely similar results, and we can feel the greater confidence in rejecting any doctrines which are inconsistent with it, as well as in advocating any practical measures which are its logical outcome.

³ "Spain, for example, who is the great importer of bullion from America, can never have an unfavourable exchange with her colonies; and, as she must distribute the bullion she receives amongst the different nations of the world, she can seldom have a favourable exchange with the countries with which she trades."—Ricardo, Rep/y to Bosanquet (Works, p. 313).

CHAPTER VI

THE INFLUENCE OF FOREIGN TRADE ON THE INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION OF WEALTH

THE effect of the opening of foreign trade on the economic condition of a country requires a closer examination than it has yet received. The general result has been already stated, so far as production is concerned. The widening of the circle of exchanges allows a greater amount of utility to be obtained by a given effort, and, as the utility in question is purchased, it is equivalent to an increase of wealth. The aggregate production of a community is extended, and thus the aim of economic effort is obtained in a better manner than it would be without the new influence of international trade. It is possible, however, that objections may be raised to regarding this result as the only one for consideration. Allowing that production has been augmented, the effect on distribution, and the changes which foreign trade will introduce in that side of economic life, remain to be estimated.

To rightly discuss this question, it is essential to indicate, as briefly as possible, the ordinary theory of distribution as stated by Ricardo and his successors. Its main outlines are as follows :---All wealth is distributed amongst the owners of the three productive
agents-Land, Labour, and Capital-and the conditions governing the division of the produce are, under a system of free competition, definite and similar to natural laws. The owners of land obtain an amount determined by the position of the "margin of cultivation," i.e. by the return in produce to the marginal or least productive unit of labour and capital; the cultivators of the more productive units being compelled, through competition, to give up their extra gain in the form of rent to the owners. The comparative unproductiveness of any unit of labour and capital may be the consequence of (a) inferior fertility, (b) worse situation, or (c) application in unfavourable circumstances, owing to the higher returns having been obtained by previous units similarly employed. The margin of cultivation is determined by the demand for agricultural products-mainly food-and thus depends on the amount of population. The rate of wages is fixed by the amount necessary for the labourer's subsistence; and the rate of profit-the remaining portion of the produce-can be computed from the rate of wages, combined with the return to a unit employed at the margin; or, more simply, by ascertaining the mass of profit, which is simply the remainder after wages and rent are deducted, and then, from the amount of capital, computing the percentage of gain.

Into the various difficulties raised by this theory, when thus stated in abstract form, it is not necessary to enter. But it cannot be denied that, as a first approximation towards a scientific account of the partition of wealth, and as clearing the mind preparatory to further inquiry into the facts of distribution, its value has been great. In any modern society the result of social growth has been to establish a set of complicated relations which do not conform to the simplicity of the Ricardian analysis. Instead of a single and uniform rate of wages, measured by the labourer's necessary requirements, we have various social groups, most of them paid at a much higher rate than any minimum of subsistence, no matter how liberally interpreted. The uniform rate of profit is replaced by widely divergent gains, obtained in thousands of varying industries, whose conditions are most imperfectly known. The amount of rent is affected by the operation of various disturbing forces, and is, in many cases, mixed up with profit. Above all, there are large classes of the community who are in the receipt of fixed incomes derived from different sources, and whose position has to be carefully considered before attempting to estimate at least the proximate influence of changes in the conditions of production, and their effect on distribution.

The result of foreign trade may, however, be treated in a more general way than would be allowable, were our object to develop a theory of distribution which would adequately explain the actual facts to be found in modern societies.¹ First, it is evident that imported commodities are obtained at a cheaper rate by means of foreign trade—*i.e.* if by cheaper be simply meant

¹ See Leroy-Beaulieu, *Essai sur la Répartition des Richesses*, for an interesting treatment of this more general problem. The general theory of distribution has been very fully discussed in the standard treatises of Professors Marshall and Nicholson, but unfortunately the former writer has not as yet reached the subject of international trade; and Professor Nicholson's treatment, while largely in accordance with that in the text, is affected by his use of *prices* throughout. See Appendix C.

at less sacrifice-and thus the consumers of such commodities are benefited. To give a more definite result, we have to take into account the nature of the commodities imported, and the persons who consume them. If costly luxuries, they become accessible to a wider class, or leave a margin to the former consumers for further outlay; if articles of general consumption, the benefit is diffused among the society, and affects all classes. The importation of food has specially important effects. Assuming for a moment the older doctrine of wages as being naturally at the minimum, it would raise the rate of profit, and thus help to increase the accumulation of capital, while it would be quite consistent with Ricardo's express statement to believe that it would temporarily, and even perhaps permanently, improve the condition of the labourers.¹

The modern developments of the economic theory of distribution enable us to attribute a still more advantageous result to foreign trade. The readjustments of industry, which are its most likely consequence, permit of greater efficiency in production, and therefore under a state of freedom will assign to the labourer a greater amount of real wages, whatever be his comparative gains when measured against those of other classes. Another consequence, which necessarily follows from the importation of food and other products of extractive industry, should be particularly noticed. The gloomy view of the future

¹ "It is not to be understood that the natural price of labour, estimated even in food and necessaries, is absolutely fixed and constant. It varies at different times in the same country, and very materially differs in different countries. It essentially depends on the habits and customs of the people."—Ricardo, Works, p. 52.

100 .

of society, which is so strongly suggested by Ricardo's speculations, arises in the main from the certainty of the augmentation of "unearned wealth" in the shape of rent, which is there set forth; and though Mill and Cairnes hoped to modify this tendency by the action of society, and by the prudence of individuals, it is clear that they held similar views. The latter went even further, and declared that the tendency had actually been effectual. "The large addition to the wealth of the country," he tells us, writing in \$373, "has gone neither to profits nor to wages, nor wet to the public at large, but to swell a fund ever growing, even while its proprietors sleep-the rentroll of the owners of the soil." 1 The importation of raw materials-using that term in its proper sensetends to alter this state. Increased food supplies keep the margin of cultivation higher than it would otherwise be. The cheapening of other products of extractive industry reduces the gains of the owners of mines and forests, so that the general tendency of foreign trade in such articles is to lower rent-at the same time increasing the sum of utility-and thus to improve the distribution as well as the production of wealth.2

¹ Leading Principles, p. 233. Cp. J. S. Mill: "The economicalprogress of a society constituted of landlords, capitalists, and labourers, tends to the progressive enrichment of the landlord class; while the cost of the labourers' subsistence tends, on the whole, to increase, and profits to fall."—*Principles*, iv. 3, § 5.

² It is therefore by a true instinct that the owners of land in all old and long-settled countries have been advocates of protection. The removal of restrictions tends to lower the amount, or at all events the relative share, of unearned wealth, and may stop its being an unearned "increment." In new countries, where the conditions are different, landowners are generally inclined towards freedom of exchange.

VI

A very effective illustration of this operation of foreign trade is supplied by the readjustments in distribution that have been the outcome of modern improvements in transport. During the last twenty years, rent in old countries has been falling, and at the same time the price of food has been reduced. Money wages have hardly altered, and thus the labourers have gained, in part at least, at the expense of the landlords. England under its free trade *régime* shows the change most distinctly, but continental countries, though their protectionist policy helps to disguise it, are affected in the same way.

The case of manufactured products is somewhat different; the needs which they supply are not on the whole so pressing; and therefore it might seem as if a reduction in their value was not so urgently to be desired. Still, outlay on the products of elaborative industries forms a large part of expenditure, and a reduction in their cost leaves room for greater outlay on food, if more of it be needed, or for the supply of other wants hitherto unsatisfied. If we » bear in mind the proven connection between imports and exports, it is not difficult to see that any alterations and reductions in particular industries are necessarily accompanied by development and extension of others, which, from the very conditions of the case, are more efficient producers of wealth. The possible evils inflicted by foreign trade on special groups of workers are strictly analogous to the effects of industrial improvement in general, and must be so classed for the purpose of scientific discussion. And as there can be no hesitation in pronouncing a favourable judgment, in spite of all drawbacks, in the case of the latter, a

like result may be claimed for the former. There are, however, some special cases which will repay examination, since they throw light on the application of economic principles to the interpretation of concrete instances.

In considering the theory of international values, we found that in general the effect of foreign trade was to alter the distribution of productive power among the various national industries, and thus to allow of a larger amount of production being carried on; but we also recognised the exceptional case, where domestic trade itself consisted in the dealings of noncompeting groups, whose exchanges, owing to the absence of free competition, were regulated by reciprocal demand; and here we saw that it was possible that no readjustment of industry would take place, that there would therefore be no increased wealth to divide, and consequently that the gains of one group would be balanced by the losses of another (pp. 32, 33). Such would be a likely result in a community where industrial castes were fully organised; and here it is plain that prices might simply be lowered in the case of imported articles to the loss of their producers, and for the benefit of their consumers. In treating of the theory of value, we were further led to conclude that there was a real gain to the whole body of noncompeting groups comprised in the nation - a gain, that is, not in production, but in distribution, since the undue charges of the producers of articles capable of importation have been reduced, and a better distribution of wealth to that extent, at least, obtained; and, therefore, in this case, too, the advantage of foreign trade exists; though the members of the groups who

٧I

previously were enabled to carn a monopoly reward will not readily accept the doctrine. For the purpose of theory, this case has been put in its strongest form; yet, for practical application, it is important to remember that so rigid a division of industrial groups will almost certainly be accompanied by the phenomenon of customary prices, and that foreign trade will affect the nation by causing the export of those articles whose price allows of it, while the ordinary agent for restoring equilibrium-the elevation of prices-is wholly or partially absent. The loss to a nation so organised is evident; but it consists rather in the low. terms obtained for its exports than in any "inundation" of foreign goods, or break-up of some of its industrial groups. The existence of highly specialised castes in a society formed on the competitive type is hardly to be looked for; and, if it were, would indicate a state of social relations which would require each group to have the right of supplying its wants on the cheapest terms, instead of being compelled to pay what would be in essence a tribute to a body with which it had nothing in common except residence in the same territory.

• The law of diminishing return has been justly regarded by English economists¹ as a proposition of weighty import, and with good reason, since, were this law non-existent, the main features of the theory of

¹ And, indeed, by all sound reasoners. Cp.—"The law of population, therefore, combined with the law of the diminishing return, constitutes the great underlying condition of society. . . . Let him, therefore, who desires to study social phenomena, first learn the transcendent importance for the whole social organisation, industrial, political, and civil, of the ratio of population to land,"—W. G. Sumner, *Essays*, pp. 83, 84.

distribution would be quite different from what they are. It is therefore to be expected that the extent to which it operates will require investigation in treating of foreign trade. It has been already noticed (pp. 30, 31) that the law of diminishing return tends to restrict the sphere of international trade. What has now to be considered is the reaction of foreign trade on an industry subject to that law. The effect of increased demand will naturally be to lower the margin of cultivation, to increase the cost of production, and to permit of the obtaining a larger amount of rent on the proceeds of the particular industry: in fact, the results are precisely the reverse of those to be expected where a country imports raw materials (p. 101). The most important instance of this kind will be found in the case of a food-exporting country. The effect of foreign trade is to bring worse soils into cultivation, and to raise the value of food, thus permitting of an increase in the amount of agricultural rent. In this instance, the labourers, and possibly the capitalists, may suffer while the landlords gain.¹

In practice, however, the effect on the margin of cultivation will be modified by the fact that the imports will be obtained, in general, at a cheaper rate

¹ The results stated in this and the succeeding paragraph have been independently reached by Professor Loria (*Statistical, Journal*, vol. 1. pp. 408-420). In a developed and exaggerated form they are the basis of the ingenious argument for protection contained in Professor Patten's *Economic Basis of Protection*, chap. v. According to him, "The policy of free trade has the same effect on a new, progressive nation, like America, that would result from a large increase of its own population. . . There will result a lower margin of cultivation and higher rents" (*Economic Basis*, pp. 47, 48). See also Rabbeno, *Protectionismo Americano*, p. 503, and the discussion of Mr. . Sidgwick's statement, Appendix C.

٧I

CHAP.

-imports which, being manufactured products (since the country whose case we are considering is an agricultural one), will be subject to the law of increasing return, and thus be steadily falling in value. The gain from this source, even to those producers whose industry is employed on less productive soil, will afford some recompense for their loss through the enhanced cost of food. If rent be supposed to be distributed somewhat evenly among the population, the advantages will be still more evident, since, in addition to the cheapness of imports, the gain by increased rent will partially balance the rise in the value of food, and on the whole account there will be a gain. In the theory of the subject it is necessary to recognise the possible injury which may be inflicted on the labourers of a community—an evil in some degree resembling that resulting from a rapid increase of population; and where a sharp line of demarcation has been established between the rent-receiving and rent-paying classes, it is possible that the conflict of interest will become very severe. Thus Irish labourers might be injured by a large demand for food from England, even though, to some extent, the cheapness of imported goods would counteract the effect of dear food. A similar result, it should be added, is not to be expected in the United States or in the English Colonies, since there property in land is widely dis-tributed, and circulates freely among the different classes of society.

On the whole, the result of the preceding paragraphs can be concisely expressed by saying, that there is always a gain by the opening of international exchange, though it may sometimes only consist in the abolition

of a monopoly; that this gain, when it causes an increase of total utility, may either accrue to the community at large, or be appropriated in part by the owners of natural agents; and finally, that, in a soundly-organised community, it is almost certain that, through the ordinary action of purchase and inheritance, the increased amount of rent will be divided among a large part of the population, and therefore that even on the side of distribution there will be no ultimate loss to any section of the nation.

Throughout the present chapter, the gains or the conceivable cases of loss which might arise have always been measured in terms of wealth, or rather of utility, and no reference has been made to prices. We have seen, however, that in all probability the scale of prices, under a system of international trade, will be different from that which would exist were trade merely domestic. It is therefore possible that in a given country, wages, profits, and rents, measured in money, may be all lower or higher than they would be without any foreign trade-a circumstance which has led to much confusion as to the real forces and conditions governing international exchange. For the. purpose of an abstract theory of distribution, it may not be necessary to regard closely the transitory conditions of a period of change; but in seeking to estimate the effect of changes, when first introduced, we cannot ignore the fact, that in every civilised society there are to be found large classes whose incomes are fixed, and will remain so for a considerable time, as also large numbers of debtors whose obliga-tions are defined in money. The changes in price-rendered necessary by the new conditions of foreign

· VI

trade will therefore affect them just as would any other change in the value of money, so that the results already established for that general case may be applied here.¹ These, in their broadest form, are as follows :- The industrial classes, on the whole, gain by increased prices, since they are rather debtors than creditors. Employers gain, at first, more than labourers, since prices rise more speedily than wages. Persons receiving customary remuneration suffer at first: but they often succeed in changing the customary rate of Mortgagees, annuitants, and fund-holders suffer pay. without any corresponding advantage; and, in general, the less industrial any social group is, the more likely it is to be injured by increased prices. A fall in prices has directly opposite effects, which need not be further detailed. The fact of a rise or fall of prices, due to foreign trade, is not, however, easily ascertained, and, moreover, the changes in real, as distinguished from money, value, are so interwoven with it, that it is quite beyond the power of abstract reasoning to give anything but the most general results. It is certain that high money returns to industry are due to two sets of conditions :-- (1) Those determining industrial efficiency; and (2) those regulating the cost of money: the latter have been already stated (pp. 69, 70); the former are to be found in every economic text-book.²

Finally, the influence of international trade on the industrial system of a country may be noticed. Here we find that it tends uniformly to break down cus-

³ See Jevons, A Serious Fall in the Value of Gold, chap. iv. (reprinted in his Investigations, pp. 77-92); Cairnes, Essays, pp. 146-158; J. S. Nicholson, Money, pp. 233-238, 250-255, 263-265.

² See, e.g., J. S. Mill, Principles, book i. chaps. vii. and viii.

спар.

INFLUENCE OF FOREIGN TRADE

tomary conditions, and to encourage the extension of competition. We have abundant evidence of this in the course of economic history. Whatever other effects may be attributed to international exchange, it cannot be doubted that it weakens the restraints of status, and leads men to adopt in their dealings the more developed, and therefore, in a scientific point of view, higher system of competition.

CHAPTER VII

TAXATION FOR REVENUE IN ITS EFFECTS ON FOREIGN TRADE

WHEN treating of the various conditions affecting international values, we found it necessary to consider the results which followed from impediments to exchange, without making any distinction as to their origin; and such a method of procedure was evidently legitimate, since the effect on value was produced by the mere existence of the impediment, not at all by its special There is, however, one kind of hindrance features. which, on account of its practical importance, needs a separate investigation, viz. that caused by duties levied on imports or exports. For the present we will only inquire into the operation of revenue duties as distinguished from those which seek to "protect" native industry. The aim of the persons imposing the former is-or ought to be-to obtain a maximum return, and therefore the greater, cateris paribus, the amount of goods passed from country to country, the greater " Protective " duties, on will be their satisfaction. the other hand, are only completely successful when all foreign goods are excluded, and therefore attain their end most effectually when they bring in no revenue whatsoever. We are, however, here dealing

with facts, not with desires or intentions, and consequently, when a duty, ostensibly levied for protection, does bring in some return, we shall regard it as being, to that extent, a revenue duty. There is, of course, no protection where an equivalent tax is imposed on the home product, even though no revenue is obtained on the importation of the article; since it is certain that the removal of the tax would not cause any change, as the native producers would retain the same relative advantage. The reason for a special treatment of the particular class of impediments under consideration lies in the fact that, while all other hindrances require efforts to overcome them, and are thus a dead loss, taxes may increase the State's revenue, and help it to meet the expenses incurred in the discharge of its functions. Still they are a deduction from the gain of exchange, and their influence and true effects can only be known by regarding them from that point of view.

Taxes may be levied either on exports or on imports,¹ and it will be found most convenient to commence by examining the operation of the former class of imposts. Suppose, then, that—all other things remaining the same—a country imposes an export duty on one of its staple products, the natural result will be a rise of price, owing to the enhance-

¹ Transit duties are probably earlier than either import or export duties, but they have now little importance. They no bubt may bring in revenue to the State at the expense of foreigners, but they tend to reduce and divert traffic, and accordingly lower the gains of transport agencies in the country employing them. The duty levied on opium passing from the native states to China through British India is the best known example of such a charge. Cp. Wealth of Nations, p. 379.

ment of its expenses of production for foreign markets; the foreign demand for the commodity in question will in all probability be reduced, and the change in demand will almost necessarily entail an alteration in the conditions affecting the equation of indebtedness, but in what direction it is beyond the power of abstract reasoning to point out without more precise facts to work on. Two conditions of particular weight in determining the final result are-(1) the position of the exporting country as a producer; and (2) the nature of the demand for the commodity in the importing countries. Should the exporting nation possess a monopoly of the production of the taxed article, it is evidently possible that the tax may at least partially fall on foreigners; but if other countries produce the commodity, it is almost certain that ex-portation will cease, and that a loss will be inflicted on native producers, while no revenue will be obtained. It is, therefore, only in instances where a virtual monopoly exists that export duties have ever been even suggested. The extent and the intensity of the foreign demand will also affect the productiveness of the tax, as well as its incidence. Where an increase of price largely reduces the quantity sought for, it is possible that the amount exported may be less in value than before the imposition of the duty, and thus the equation of indebtedness may be altered to the disadvantage of the exporting nation. These facts lead directly to the proposition usually adopted by writers who have entered on this topic, viz. that an export duty is only expedient, on economic grounds, where the country imposing-it-has a monopoly of the article taxed, for which article, moreover, the foreign

VII

demand is intense.¹ It is supposed that in such a case the duty would fall on the foreign countries which consume the taxed commodity. The export duty on opium in India, and also that levied on wool in mediæval England, have been regarded as illustrating this proposition, and for similar reasons an export duty on cotton has been advocated in the United States. The data set forth above do not warrant the conclusion so confidently drawn, since they will be found on investigation to be incomplete. It is not the demand for any single commodity which determines the equation of demand-omitting, for simplicity, the still more involved relations arising from the forms of indebtedness in general-but the comparative demand for all the exports and for all the imports (pp. 37, 40); from which it follows that even if the demand for the taxed commodity be undiminished, yet that for other exports of the taxing country may be reduced; and, since the purchasing power of the importing countries will necessarily be lessened by the increased expenditure on the taxed article, such a consequence is very likely. As all international trade is connected through the operation of the foreign exchanges, the loss to the taxing country may perhaps be experienced in its trade with countries which do not import the taxed commodity, but whose relations with it are affected by the alterations in the general terms of exchange produced through the operation of the duty. For the purpose of illustration, we may take the possible effects of the export duty on Indian opium. Even granting

67

¹ See Thorold Rogers, Six Centuries of Work and Wages, p. 79. The four conditions there specified are all included under the two mentioned in the text.

that the Chinese demand for that drug remains unaffected by the tax, it yet may happen that the demand of China for English manufactures will be reduced thereby, and that in turn the terms on which India receives silver from England will be altered. The consequence of this change might indeed be such as to favour India, and thus present an additional inducement for the imposition of the duty; but it would be impossible to decide which would be the final result.

Some further considerations bearing on this very difficult subject should not be overlooked in any attempt to estimate the influence of export duties. One of these is the operation of the law of diminishing return. Where that law governs production, an export duty will, to some extent, fall on rent, since if it slightly reduces the amount exported, the production of the most costly portion will be abandoned, the price, apart from the tax, will fall, and to that extent the owners of the more productive agents still employed in turning out the taxed commodity will suffer. As demand is frequently fluctuating, and, the raw material in nearly all industries is more or less subject to the law whose effect we are considering, it is impossible to show that this result is not always to be found in the case of export duties.

Again, taxes on exports may be defended as, under certain conditions, being equivalent to a national association to raise their price. Thus, reverting to our Indian example, it might be argued that under free competition the price of opium would be fixed by cost of production at the lowest profitable amount,¹ but that the duty will raise the price, and thus have

¹ For this doctrine, cp. Sidgwick, Principles, p. 183

the same effect as a combination of dealers or a trade union in the market for commodities or for labour. We have already (p. 28) recognised the existence of this possible case; but to estimate its probability, the whole state of international indebtedness has to be examined, and especially the conditions of reciprocal demand as regards other commodities.

It should be remarked that export duties on exhaustible articles which are aids to production-as in the cases of English coal aud Peruvian guano-have to be mainly judged on non-economic grounds; but the reasons which justify such measures will prescribe duties on home consumption as well.¹ From the financial point of view, all duties on exports which are not highly productive are objectionable, since they fail in the first object of taxation. Export duties have not in general been popular, as they conflicted with the views of the mercantile theorists, who aimed at increasing exports, and who consequently preferred to give premiums on exportation, instead of loading it with duties. It was only in the case of raw materials that such taxes were tolerated, and then only with the object of preserving them for the use of the native manufacturers of finished products.²

Import duties will now claim our attention. They, too, are impediments to exchange, and, in general, tend to reduce its advantage. Like export duties, they operate on the terms of exchange, through the necessary readjustment in the equation of reciprocal demand. As when dealing with taxes on exports, let us suppose

¹ See Jevons, Coal Question, pp. 354-364.

² See Wealth of Nations, book iv. chap. viii. ; cp. Bastable, Public Finance, p. 513.

VII

CHAPTER VII

TAXATION FOR REVENUE IN ITS EFFECTS ON FOREIGN TRADE

WHEN treating of the various conditions affecting international values, we found it necessary to consider the results which followed from impediments to exchange, without making any distinction as to their origin; and such a method of procedure was evidently legitimate, since the effect on value was produced by the mere existence of the impediment, not at all by its special features. There is, however, one kind of hindrance which, on account of its practical importance, needs a separate investigation, viz. that caused by duties levied on imports or exports. For the present we will only inquire into the operation of revenue duties as distinguished from those which seek to "protect" native industry. The aim of the persons imposing the former is-or ought to be-to obtain a maximum return, and therefore the greater, cateris paribus, the amount of goods passed from country to country, the greater will be their satisfaction. " Protective " duties, on the other hand, are only completely successful when all foreign goods are excluded, and therefore attain their end most effectually when they bring in no revenue whatsoever. We are, however, here dealing

There the most favourable instance for the duty was monopoly of production, combined with intensity of demand. Here it consists in weakness of demand, with monopoly of consumption, if the phrase be permitted.¹ Instances of this latter kind are, however, of rare occurrence; there are very few articles which are only used in one country, and the demand for which at the same time falls rapidly on a slight elevation of price. It would, therefore, appear that it is extremely difficult to tax foreigners by the instru-mentality of duties on imports.² It, however, not infrequently happens that some particular class of producers may find their best market in a particular country. An import tax imposed by that country on their product, if it seriously reduces demand, may fall Possible instances are supplied by the on them. alleged effect of the duties under the U.S. tariff of 1890 on the prices of tin-plates, Sumatran tobacco, and Canadian farm produce. An import duty in England on Irish cattle would, it is likely, fall in part on Irish producers. It must be added that it is very difficult to discover the real operation of such taxes. Price movements are due to many different causes, which are not easily disentangled, and the precise weight to be assigned to each is hardly ever capable of determination.⁸ Import duties have, how-

has, however, led him to the conclusion "that the symmetry predicated" above "does in general exist."

¹ "Buyers' monopoly" is Mr. Sidgwick's phrase, Principles, p. 340.

² The different conclusion arrived at by Mill, *Principles*, v. 4, § 6, may be explained by his confining his attention to the case of two countries, by which course the element of monopoly, both in supply and demand, is implicitly introduced.

* The controversies as to the real effect of the M'Kinley tariff

ever, been generally preferred to taxes on exports; but their aim has been either to afford "protection" to native producers, or the more reasonable and legitimate one of obtaining revenue from the consumers of the imported articles.

Though it is not easy to discover a case in which import duties, imposed by one country only, would fall on the foreign countries that export the taxed commodity, yet a modified form, which closely resembles it, is far from being uncommon. Suppose that a number of countries all impose similar duties on articles which are the staple products of certain other nations: here the taxing countries may constitute the principal market for the product; their demand may be reduced by the tax, and, if so, some, and even perhaps most, of the loss from the impeded exchange would be borne by the producing countries. Thus, let us assume, that all the various nations of Europe were to levy the same amount of import duty on tea, which is the product of a different group of nations-economically speaking-viz. China, India, Japan, Ceylon, and Java: there is nothing absurd or unreasonable in supposing that a reduction in the quantity demanded would, at first, be the result; leading to an offer of all Eastern products on more advantageous terms. In this particular case the conditions would favour such a change, since an elevation in price of an article not absolutely necessary, but still generally illustrate the statement in the text. See Edgeworth, Economic Journal, vol. iv. pp. 43, 46, and Mr. Shearman's criticism, ibid. vol. iv. pp. 524-527. Cp. Professor Nicholson's remark (Scottish Geographical Magazine, Sept. 1891), "The incidence of import and export duties, especially when the indirect effects are considered, is the most complicated and difficult problem in economics.

consumed, quickly reduces the demand. A similar extension of the propositions relating to export duties is also justified. A tax on the export of wine in all wine-producing countries might fall, for the most part, on the countries which imported it; but here the condition of intensity of demand would probably be absent, and, if so, the rent of vineyards would have to bear an indefinite amount of the duty. In general it must be said that, as the conditions of supply and demand, in domestic trade, can be affected by skilled combinations, so the same forces in foreign trade can be made to yield like results by the use of analogous Export duties are, as we have said, similar in means. effect to combinations of producers, as import duties to those of consumers. Nor does the resemblance cease here. The two sets of influences are alike in their weakness as in their strength. The outside dealer who does not join in the combination is yet able to profit by its results; and, in like manner, the producing nation which does not impose export duties gets the advantage of the increased demand which is directed towards its part of the produce. Thus, suppose that France, Spain, Italy, and Germany imposed an export duty on wine, but that Portugal did not, then manifestly the latter country would profit by the duty, while getting also the advantage of increased demand. So likewise if, while all other European nations levied duty on imported tea, England admitted it free of tax, she would profit by the reduction of demand, and thus get her own supply at a cheaper rate than if there were no duty-in fact, she would gain the same advantage as the taxing countries by the operation of the duty, while her inhabitants would not suffer from the incon-

` vit

venience of restricting their demand, which would be the consequence of the higher price in the other countries. The above conclusion is, of course, drawn without prejudice to cases in which the tax may be the best mode of raising revenue from the native consumers. It only applies when the duty is not imposed on purely fiscal grounds, but rather as a mode of manipulating the equation of reciprocal demand.

The considerations just adduced appear to have an important bearing on a question which has been much discussed of late years, viz. the effect of foreign tariffs on British trade. The advocates of high tariffs in the United States and other countries have contended that the duties imposed on imports from England have been paid by the English producers, and have not raised prices. A similar idea is, to some extent, to be found prevailing in England. In seeking to deal with this matter, we must first lay aside the case of protective duties, which have been reserved for further examination, and confine our attention to duties which bring in revenue. The existence of high duties in most foreign countries may, it is clear, reduce the demand for English products, and thus affect the terms of exchange to that country's disadvantage. The loss, however, would fall on the nation as a whole, not on the special class of producers for export, unless they possessed a monopoly, when the duty would, indeed, be a deduction from the monopolists' gains, which can hardly be regarded as those of producers proper. That such has been the actual result is not established by anything like the amount of evidence required. The fact (if fact it be) that the difference in price between English and American iron is not as great as the

SERK

amount of the import duty does not prove the since were generally true, no iron would be imported, and duty would not be one of revenue. The occasion import of iron at a low price is equally unsatisfacto since there is no way of judging of the special circumstances-as, e.g., bankruptcy of a particular firmwhich may have made such a step desirable. Nor is it necessary to prove a difference in price between English and American iron (the duty excluded); for, if the iron industry be carried on under normal conditions, it is not possible that English producers will sell their product cheaper in foreign countries than at home, as, by lowering the price of the home product slightly, the demand would be so increased as to carry . off the stock now sent abroad, and the action of competition would almost necessarily have this effect, since, were it otherwise, iron must be above its cost value in England, or below it in America; but in the former case, a monopoly value would exist: in the latter, English exporters would be trading at a loss. It follows, therefore, that, regarding the trade as a continuous one, the prices of imported iron in America must exceed those in England by an amount equal to the sum of the impediments to transfer, i.e. cost of carriage and duty. The real adjustment of the incidence of revenue duties will be through the scale of prices prevailing in the countries concerned; and it is quite possible that the heavy taxes on English manufactures, especially in the colonies, where they operate chiefly as revenue duties, may have some such effect; but nothing beyond this admission is warranted by evidence, nor is it easy to see in what way the actual existence of such a condition of things could be established or refuted.

The foregoing remarks suggest another aspect of the question of tariffs-What is the position of a single country without such duties when trading with a number of countries, all of which have them in full force against the productions of all other nations? We have seen (p. 119) that a country without duties may gain the advantages of the export or import duties imposed by other countries, and at the same time be free from their disadvantages. The nation of our supposition is in a somewhat similar situation. Her trade is, indeed, affected by the duties of other countries; but, then, so also is the trade of each of those countries, while she has an advantage when competing with any of the duty-levying nations for the consumption of the products of a third country. The terms of exchange are altered by the operation of the duties, and, in addition to this advantage, she gets the commodities she needs by as much less as the amount of the duty in other nations. In the export trade she has the benefit of her cheaper imports, so far as they are auxiliary to production, which, in a highly-developed system of industry, must be generally an important factor; and she further possesses the advantage given by the influence of freights (pp. 46, 47), by reason of which, other things being equal, her exports will be preferred to those of the countries which levy high duties. When the advantages and disadvantages of such a position are compared, it is highly probable that the former will be found to exceed the latter; but, for a more precise determination, the size and number of the various taxing countries should be taken into account; for the smaller the number of taxing nations, the less opportunity there

will be for obtaining the advantages just pointed out. The conclusions thus arrived at, by deduction from the elementary conditions governing international values, are, in some degree, verified by the position of England as regards her foreign trade, more especially in respect to competition with other countries in neutral markets. It should, however, be carefully noted that all such statements must be taken subject to the qualifications necessarily involved. They are drawn from the examination of a few leading features of foreign trade applied under conditions which have been much simplified, and are thus far removed from reality-a characteristic which makes them quite unfit for that sweeping application to practice which has been the greatest weakness of the older English economic school. But, this caution notwithstanding, these more refined considerations present a double advantage, for (1) they indicate the proper direction of statistical inquiry, and thus enable those conversant with the facts of trade to supply the suitable clothing which will render them, when corrected, capable of interpreting the phenomena of international exchange; 1 and (2) they discharge a useful negative function in refuting the doctrines of so-called practical men, which are in reality made up of unsound deductions from defective premises. The most thorough investigation of the

¹ The studies of Sir R. Giffen (*Reports on Foreign Trade*) and Professor Flux ("The Commercial Supremacy of Great Britain" in *Economic Journal*, vol. iv. pp. 457 sq. 595 sq.; vol. ix. pp. 173 sq., and "British Trade and German Competition," *Economic Journal*, vol. vii. pp. 34 sq.) may be referred to as admirable examples of statistical method. On the other hand, Mr. Williams's Made in *Germany* may be noticed as affording a warning of the dangers that beset the incantious.

VII

general forces which are at work in determining the course of foreign trade, shows the great complexity of the phenomena to be dealt with, as well as the improbability of any conscious intervention being likely to alter the course of exchange in the interests of a particular country.

Bounties, either on exportation or importation, are, from the scientific point of view, "negative taxes "--to use Cournot's phrase.¹ They artificially reduce the value of the commodities to which they are applied, just as ordinary duties raise it; and, therefore, they tend to increase the amount of foreign trade, and so far produce a gain which will be divided among the trading countries, according to the conditions of demand existing at the time: but in addition they involve an outlay on the part of the nation which pays them greater than the gain obtained, since the necessity of the bounty proves that the industry supported by it is less profitable than that to which, without interference, the productive power of the country would have been directed. It is probable that most of the advantage will go to the nations which import the subsidised product; and it is certain that the expense of the bounty will fall wholly on the country bestowing it. If the commodity be subject to the law of diminishing return, the lowering of the margin of production may raise the cost of the most expensive part, when the bounty will partly go towards rent, and partly be lost in the extra cost of production. The well-known instances of the bounties on beet-root sugar illustrate instructively the operation of both these cases, since the raw material is subject to the

¹ Théoris des Richesses, p. 374.

law governing all extractive industry, while the manufactured product conforms to the ordinary rule. It is possible that in an industry where the amount of produce rapidly increases with concentration and application of labour and capital on a large scale, the gain thus obtained would equal, or perhaps exceed, the loss incurred by the artificial re-distribution of production; but even here the loss to the State's revenue would not be compensated, and there is little chance of the development, under a bounty system, being superior to that which would result from complete freedom. From the scientific point of view, it is, however, right to indicate the possibility of such a case, though its realisation is hardly within the region of practice.

One particular class of taxes presents such peculiarities that it is best treated apart, viz. that of charges levied on the money-material. What, e.g., would be the effect of an export duty on Australian gold? In this case the law of demand is perfectly regular, and the raising of the value of bullion ought apparently to be met by a reduction in the quantity needed for exportation. As, however, there are other gold-producing countries, and as gold does not apparently change in price, the result would be that the tax would fall on the producers, and therefore, if the industry were regularly organised, necessarily on the owners of the mines. Assuming effective competition, it follows that the production of gold would be diminished, and its value would rise, thus benefiting all gold-producing countries; and in some degree the whole world, since the gold employed as money is, of course, a dead loss, *i.e.* so far as its functions could be

VII

discharged by a smaller amount. What holds true of export duties partly applies to taxes on the importation of the precious metals, which, in general, take the form of seigniorage. So far as internal trade is concerned, they enable the country to manage with a smaller stock of bullion, while they allow of its preserving the due scale of prices; but they hinder the working of foreign trade, and check the speedy adjustment of the exchanges. Should all countries establish a similar amount of seigniorage on their coins, it seems clear that it would in reality be a tax on the production of the precious metals, that is, so far as their production is carried on in the ordinary way, otherwise it would be equivalent to a general rise of nominal prices. It, perhaps, ought to be added that the absence of all mint charges is in fact a bounty on the importation of bullion, as Dudley North

clearly saw.¹ Before quitting the subject of taxes for revenue, which are calculated to affect the course of foreign trade, it may be advisable to look at such duties, taken as a whole. Thus regarded, they appear as a deduction from the gains by international exchange, against which their yield in revenue to the States imposing them should be set off; but in this calculation of advantages and disadvantages, all the elements involved must be considered. Every duty on the transfer of commodities is more or less a " privative" tax. It hinders some persons purchasing the article, and diminishes their enjoyment, without any corresponding advantage to the revenue. All import and export duties—the case of taxes on money excepted—have

Discourses on Trade (1691).

TAXATION FOR REVENUE

127

this effect. They therefore cause greater loss than gain; as each duty, in some degree, reduces the field of exchange, and the resulting utility. That such is the outcome of these taxes, in their extreme form, Mill fully recognised; for even when suggesting retaliatory import duties, he adds: "Only it" (the nation imposing them) "must take care that these duties be not so high as to exceed all that remains of the advantage of the trade, and put an end to importation altogether." 1 It is one of the many strange things in his economic writings, that he should suppose that the movement from complete freedom to total cessation of exchange took place per saltum. It is evident that each addition to the duties on either side would remove some of the advantage of exchange. and that every reduction would somewhat increase Duties on commodities may be necessary to the it financier; but his object should be-entirely disregarding the fiscal policy of other nations-to obtain the maximum of revenue. A purely revenue duty aiming at "retaliation"-if such be not even a contradiction in terms—is manifestly uneconomical, and thus offends against the fourth of Adam Smith's famous maxims, all of which should be substantially. obeved in a sound financial system.

¹ Essays on some Unsettled Questions, p. 29.

VII

CHAPTER VIII

THE RATIONALE OF FREE-TRADE

THE theory of international exchange, as developed in the preceding chapters, shows with sufficient clearness the nature-and the advantages which are the reason for the continuance-of such exchanges. All impediments to transfer, since they limit the possibilities of gain, are inexpedient, or at least there is a strong presumption against them. Popular opinion, unfortunately, takes a very different view of the results in question; and it seems to be one of the bestaccredited articles of the vulgar belief that foreign trade requires to be carefully watched, in order to prevent the injuries which it is likely to inflict on the national industry and commerce. 'Even among those who call themselves "free-traders," there are many who advance propositions quite inconsistent with the elementary principles of economics respecting foreign trade. Under such circumstances, it is not necessary to apologise for adding another to the many controversial discussions of the matter, the more especially as some notice of it is requisite in a complete examination of the problems of International Exchange. The practical rule of "free-trade." 1- that is, the

¹ The term "free-trade" has been used in very different senses. Thus in the seventeenth century it meant "freedom to export bullion," or, removal of all artificial restrictions on, or encouragements to, any particular industry; the levying of duties for the purpose of obtaining revenue, and from no other motive; the levying of equivalent excise duties where customs duties are requisite; in short, the abandonment of the efforts, once universal, to divert industry into some channel into which the action of the normal economic forces would not have directed it,—is a deduction from the theory of foreign trade as it has been here expounded; and any arguments which ignore the theoretic bases that have been developed, may be passed by as being outside the field of reasonable discussion, or if mentioned, will only be noticed as illustrations of the effect of erroneous doctrines when applied to practice.

The particular basis of free-trade here set forth has found distinguished expositors in Ricardo, J. S. Mill, Cairnes, and Cherbuliez; the contributions of the two last-named being peculiarly forcible and well-reasoned.¹

again, "the right to trade without being the member of a privileged company." In the eighteenth century it meant "freedom of export." This was the sense in which it was employed in Ireland. As the editor of the last edition of Hutchinson's Commercial Restraints remarks with unconscious irony: "Free-trade for Ireland' in 1779 meant something quite distinct from the political economy free-trade of the present day. . . The Irish Free-trade Parliament was Protectionist" (Commercial Restraints of Ireland, ed. 1888, by W. G. Carroll, p. lxxii. note 1). "Free-trade" has also been used to denote a system under which no duties whatever are levied on imports and exports [but the weight of economic authority is in favour of the use given in the text. See the articles on "Free Trade" (Early History), by Professor Hewins, and (Theory) by the present writer in Mr. Palgrave's Dictionary of Political Economy.

¹ See Ricardo, Works, pp. 407, 408; J. S. Mill, Principles, v. 10, § 1; Cairnes, Leading Principles, pt. iii. chap. iv.; Cherbuliez, Précis, vol. ii. pp. 53-108.

Yet it would be unjust to a large number of able economists not to say that a similar conclusion has been worked out on other grounds, some of them perhaps more easily recognised by persons unversed in social and economic theories.

Among these various schools we may here notice: Firstly, The believers in "natural rights," who object to State-interference with any exchange, on the ground that man has a natural right to exchange his products -a right which is violated by all protective tariffs. Bastiat is, perhaps, the most conspicuous advocate of this position; in his eyes the French custom-house official, who levies a tax on the importation of Belgian iron, does not differ from the robber who seizes on a portion of the iron in transit, since each equally violates the right of the owner. Protection, in all its forms, is thus only a new kind of theft.¹ It cannot be denied that such a mode of arguing has often produced an effect where the more refined considerations which result from economic theory would be quite unavailing. In many cases, too, it brings into light the selfishness and trade-interests which have established protection, and thus is legitimate as a means of attack. It errs, however, in taking too negative a view of the functions of the State; and, to some extent, it suggests what is not only illegal, but immoral. Were Bastiat right, it would follow that the smuggler, so far from being an offender, would be really the assertor of the rights of man against the oppression of the State -- a result which, if extended to

¹ See specially, "Spoliation et Loi," (Euvres, vol. v. pp. 1-14, where the resemblance between protective duties and robbery is most fully developed.

all departments of administration, would bring us close to anarchy. The enlightened American citizen may deplore the fiscal policy of the United States, but that need not hinder him from aiding in the repression of offences even against those fiscal laws to which he is so strongly opposed. The support of law as law, entirely apart from the merits of the particular enactment, is a feature of every well-organised community; and it is only when the pressure of bad laws has become unbearable that the time for resistance has come.

Secondly.—The school which reinforces the argument from abstract right by considerations of utility, is well represented by Adam Smith. He opposes restrictions on trade as being "violations of natural liberty, and therefore unjust; they are, too, as impolitic as they are unjust."¹ And all through his treatise the same combination is to be found. It should, however, be said that it is on the element of expediency that most stress is laid; when the two factors are opposed, it is natural liberty that has to give way.² The whole system of the *Wealth of Nations* is, as Leslie has shown,³ based on a combination of a priori speculation with historical inquiry, to which general proposition the case of free-trade is no exception.

Thirdly.—A large number of practical men seek to justify their support of freedom of exchange by appeals to specific experience. The orators of the appi-Corn Law League most frequently took up this position: the speeches of Villiers and Cobden were not made up

¹ Wealth of Nations (ed. Nicholson), p. 217a.

² Ibid. p. 133a.

"The Political Economy of Adam Smith," Essays, pp. 21-40.

of long chains of deductive reasoning; they, for the most part, dwelt on the actual distress of the English people, and particularly on the miserable condition of the agricultural labourers. They contended that the removal of restrictions would relieve the sufferings of the population, and therefore that free-trade was desirable. There is little that is valuable for economic theory in the speeches and writings of the leaders of the League. Nor could anything of the kind be reasonably expected of them. Similar in character is the evidence submitted to the Committee of 1840 on import duties. The specific evils arising from high protective tariffs are simply pointed out by the witnesses, though, of course, some of them were well acquainted with economic science. The valuable contributions of Mr. Wells show a like disposition among American free-traders;¹ and there can be little doubt that the exposure of all the injuries inflicted on industry by restriction is an aid in weakening the sentiments which favour protection. Still the inherent defects of this line of argument should be remembered. It is impossible to apply the experimental method in its strict form to social phenomena, inasmuch as the requisite separation of the different agencies cannot be accomplished. When, therefore, the free-trader seeks to attribute certain losses to the influence of protection, his opponent may reply that they are due to some other cause; and so long as the controversy is confined to the discussion of unanalysed experiences, neither party can establish its case with any confidence.

¹ See his *Practical Economics*, pp. 21-33, and 64-151; but in other writings Mr. Wells has argued for free-trade on the ground of natural right.

Fourthly.-Another line has of recent years been taken by some free-traders: they hold that freedom of exchange is the outcome of social development. The mercantile system was, they admit, of great service in Protection may be necessary as a temporary its day. assistance, but for an advanced system of industry free exchange is beneficial, and should be the ultimate object to be attained.¹ With the historical school we must agree in the idea that freedom of trade is the result of industrial and social progress; but we can also add, that the supposed advantages of protection, at an early stage of growth, are not so manifest as writers of that school seem to believe. Since most German economists incline towards this view, it is well to notice it in its relation to the other grounds on which free-trade has been urged; but its practical value is of the slightest.

The general line of reasoning on which the expediency of free-trade is best supported may be easily obtained from the theoretical discussions and analyses which have previously occupied our attention. In every particular exchange there is necessarily a gain to each party concerned; but the sum-total of exchanges is composed of the several particular exchanges which have been made; and as each of the latter implies a gain, the immediate result must be beneficial. As the aim of protective duties, on the other hand, is to hinder exchanges, they are necessarily injurious. This brief statement contains the main point of the freetrade argument; but it may be further developed. We saw (Chapter II.) that impediments to transfer

¹ See Laveleye, Le Socialisme Contemporain (1st ed.), pp. 39, 40. Roscher, System, vol. iii. §§ 138-141.
CUAP.

reduced the gain from exchange; but as duties for the purpose of protection are avowedly impediments, they must have this effect. For the purpose of clearer examination, we divided duties (Chapter VII.) into two classes—the former, which aimed at getting revenue, might, under certain conditions, be made to fall on foreign countries, and might possibly be advisable; but this peculiar application was so limited that we were led to recognize the expediency of using them with the single aim of getting a maximum return; and when that object was realised, the gain to the revenue might counterbalance the loss to the exchangers. In the second class of duties, those which were used for "protection," this element of gain was absent. The loss which results from the hindrance exactly resembles that inflicted by difficulty of transport, and thus brings back no compensating advantage. It is here that the weakness of modern protectionism is most apparent; strenuous efforts are made to remove natural obstacles to exchange, and then, strange to relate, many persons seek to establish artificial ones to "protect" national industry. Thus, we are told that "after the St. Gothard tunnel was opened, the people of Southern Germany petitioned the Government to lay higher taxes on Italian products, to offset the cheapness which the tunnel had produced."¹ And this is but one of many similar instances. Indeed, it is evident that the rapid expansion of new modes of transport in recent years has had a potent influence in producing the protectionist tendencies of the day.

The system of protective duties is not sufficiently ³ Sumner, Protectionism, p. 75.

treated by merely pointing out its evil results in general. It is also necessary to show more fully the nature and extent of the losses incurred by such a They may be outlined as follows :- The policy. wealth of each of the communities hindered from trading is reduced; the division of the loss cannot be ascertained by general reasoning; but that each will to some extent lose is almost vertain, the only exception being in the case previously discussed (p. 28), where one nation might obtain all the gain by exchange, and therefore, as the other nation gained nothing by foreign trade, it would lose nothing by its cessation. Dismissing this abnormal instance as being, under the actual complications of trade, impossible, let us see in what the loss consists. It is to be found in the enhanced cost of the articles which, under free-trade policy, could be imported. It is plain that increase of cost is the object of the duties in question, since otherwise there is no reason for their existence. The contention of American protectionists, that prices are not raised by protection, may be disposed of by considering: 1st, that it is incorrect in fact, as every price list shows; and 2nd, that, if true, it only proves that protection is not needed.¹ In addition to the increase in the cost of imports, the less economic distribution of the productive forces of the nation leads to a reduction in the amount of International exchange is, as previously wealth. pointed out (p. 20), a form of division of labour,

¹ Some protectionists seem to argue that undue fluctuations of price are obviated by their system; but the history of prices in England under the Corn Laws, and for the last thirty-five years in the United States, conclusively shows that quite an opposite effect is produced.

vin

which is a main condition in the increase of inventions and industrial skill. Impediments on transfer, then, hinder the development of division of labour, and, so far as they are effective, destroy its benefits.

The consequences of protection are in some respect different, according as it is applied to commodities, extra quantities of which are produced at increased or diminished cost. In respect to the latter class, it tends to remove the advantage which is obtained by production on a large scale, and thus is injurious to all parties concerned. The efforts to encourage the development of native manufactures in many countries at the present time afford a good example of the operation of this part of the protectionist scheme. It is beyond question, that a great saving of productive-power would accrue to the world at large by the concentration of manufacturing industries at those places which are favoured by technical and economic conditions—a saving which would be shared by all the nations of the world, and not be confined to the manufacturing countries.

When the protected industry is subject to the law of diminishing return, the influence of protection is somewhat different. It raises the cost of the product, and either reduces the demand for it, or lowers the margin of production, with the result, that part of the increased value is returned in the form of rent, the remainder being absorbed in the production of the more costly portions of the article. The English Corn Laws precisely illustrate this case. The value of corn was raised, and, at the same time, the demand for it was reduced. Part of the increased value was lost in the

cultivation of inferior soil;¹ the remainder went in higher rent; but, owing partly to the check on the increase of population arising from the dearness of food, and partly to the heavy expense of pauperism, the landlords did not, on the whole, gain. With regard to the countries exporting the article on which a protective duty is imposed, it is plain that the cost of their product may be lessened, since the margin of production will not be fixed at so low a point; but the amount-of rent will be reduced, and the possible gain by the exchange for other articles will be lost. Thus cost of corn in Ireland in the early part of this century would have been reduced by a protective duty imposed by England on Irish wheat; that the consumers of corn would gain, and the owners of land lose, but the hindrance to the exportation of corn would also hinder the importation of English products, and Ireland would, therefore, lose the advantage of getting her manufactured goods at a cheaper rate, and, in addition, the development of industrial power through the extension of inventions would be retarded.³

When the industry of a nation is not entirely based on competition, the effect of a protective duty may be to give undue advantage to some classes of producers, and thereby necessarily to injure others.

¹ Evidence taken by the Agricultural Committee of 1821 showed that while the best land yielded forty bushels of wheat, some land in cultivation gave but eight bushels. See Ricardo, *Works*, p. 459; and for the inferior quality of some of the land put under wheat, see Cobbett, *Rural Rides*, vol. i. pp. 225, 244.

² See above pp. 105, 106; also Wicksell, Finanztheoretische Untersuchungen, pp. 65, 66, for this point.

VIII

THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE CHAP. VII

In this case, as we have already seen (pp. 32, 33), the benefit derived from foreign trade is not increased production, but fairer distribution of wealth.

The examination of the general course of foreign trade. and its various possible modifications, leads us to the doctrine that all attempts to hinder it by means of protective duties are injurious to the nation which adopts such a course, as well as to the countries with which, under freedom, it would trade; and the reasons for such a conclusion seem so clear and simple, that it is difficult to understand why they have not been universally adopted. We find, however, that protectionism is, outside of England, the general policy of statesmen, and in all countries commands a great deal of popular favour. It is, therefore, incumbent on the supporters of free-trade to account for this fact. and to indicate the reasons for the continued adherence to protection in most nations. The inquiry may, however, be best undertaken in a separate chapter.

CHAPTER IX

ARGUMENTS FOR PROTECTION—REASONS FOR ITS PREVALENCE

THE most plausible case which can be made for protection is in respect of newly-established industries. or in the commencement of a new stage of industrial development, as, e.g. when a nation is reducing its export of raw produce and starting manufactures. In such a case it is argued that a duty on the import of foreign goods will allow the infant industries to gain maturity; otherwise they would be crushed out by the jealous competition of foreign rivals. They cannot, at first, manufacture as cheaply as the old and well-established producers of other nations, and they, therefore, require the fostering care of their national legislature to save them from extinction. It is further contended, that this method is the really economic one. Though, as the more reasonable advocates of the plan admit, there is an immediate loss, yet when the industries have been established, there will be a greater gain, which will more than recompense the nation for its earlier sacrifices. The imposition of duties for this purpose is represented as being analogous to the establishment of patents and

copyrights, and, in the case of individuals, the habit of apprenticeships.

It is hoped that the above argument has been correctly stated, as it appears in the hands of its ablest expounders; but it must be confessed that there is no little difficulty in getting a clear conception of the protectionist attitude on this, as on other points. . In the foregoing statement the endeavour has been to give the strongest form of an argument, the importance of which has been fully recognised by Mill, as also by other economists.¹ At the outset, the possibility of the case must be granted. It is conceivable that a particular industry may, at first, be unprofitable, but may afterwards become very remunerative. The point at issue is, however, not one of mere possibilities, but rather the following:-Will the certain and immediate loss, resulting from protection, be outweighed by the future gains from the new industry? In making this estimate many matters have to be taken into account, which in the ordinary discussions on the subject are quite ignored. Among these are : the interest due to the nation on the wealth lost during protection; the determination of the right amount and proper period for the continuance of each duty; as well as the constitution of the body to which questions of such delicacy and complexity will have to be submitted, with the expectation of securing a sound judgment upon them. These conditions are, be it remembered, not mere theoretical refinements, but actual, practical problems, and they strongly impress us with the belief that this special case is in reality no exception to the

¹ For the history of the theory, see The Commerce of Nations, pp. 121, 133.

rule of freedom in international trade. Experience amply confirms this view. In the United States, and in the Australian Colonies, protectionists have urged the infant-industry argument in support of their claim, quoting the authority of J. S. Mill in their favour; but in both cases he has repudiated such an interpretation of his statement, and condemned the policy adopted.¹

When we pass from the limited case of protection to one or a few industries to the wider problem of protection to a large body of producers-say manufacturers in general-the objections become very much stronger. If a duty be at first injurious in the case of a single industry, duties on all manufactures must be oppressive. If a nation does not possess manufactures --- i.e. in the developed shape of factory-industries---all countries are more or less manufacturing in the older sense of the word-the very fact is conclusive proof that, economically speaking, it is better off without them. If there is no prospect in the most favourable circumstances of an industry yielding a suitable profit under a state of freedom, that industry, if artificially established, is not an element of strength, but of weakness. Here, again, experience gives support to the plain deduction which we have made. To take

¹ Referring to the often-quoted passage in his *Principles* (v. 10, § 1), Mill, in a letter to Mr. Horace White, writes the following :—"The passage has been made use of to show the inapplicability of free-trade to the United States, and for similar purpose in the Australian Colonies, erroneously in my opinion." See Laughlin's *Mill*, p. 614. For a further discussion of Mill's admission, see *Hermathena*, vol. vi. pp. 103, 104; and for an admirable historical inquiry into the effect of protection on American industries, see Professor Taussig's *Protection to Young Industries*, now included in his *Tariff History of the United States*.

IX

CHAP.

the United States: it is a stock argument of American protectionists that without high duties their manufacturing industries would be destroyed 1-an assertion which (if correct) does not speak much for the stimulating effect of thirty-five years of high protection. Like facts meet us all through industrial history. The weight of evidence is altogether in favour of the free-trader's contention, that productive power attains its greatest efficiency when it is directed by the normal economic motive of self-interest, which is more or less present in the case of every individual, and is thus more potent than the best-devised governmental arrangements. In maintaining this position it is not intended to deny that a Government may, by means of protection, introduce a new and profitable industry, or that various forms of production may be increased by the same method. Both these instances are quite consistent with the view here set forth, which declares that governmental interference, as regards the direction of industrial action, is, on the whole, more injurious than beneficial; as also that most industrics, specially developed by the aid of protective duties, are rather a loss than a gain to the community in which they are established.

The arguments for protection are not based exclusively, or indeed mainly, on economic grounds. Many advocates of restrictive duties, while admitting their evil influence in the economic sphere, still maintain

¹ "To introduce the system proposed by the so-called revenue reformer is to break down our home-market in favour of Great Britain. It would close our mills and furnaces, and throw hundreds of thousands out of work."—Porter, Protection and Free-Trade To-day, p. 35.

that the gain in other respects is more than sufficient to compensate for this disadvantage. They regard the calculation of mercantile losses and gains as being of a mean and sordid character, unworthy of those to whom the destinies of a nation are entrusted. National well-being, they truly say, is preferable to national wealth; and it is on this broader ground that a protective system should be judged. To this general argument, which takes various special forms, some of them needing further investigation, the following answer may, perhaps, be sufficient :--- The elements of national well-being are indeed various; and it is possible, and may sometimes be expedient, to increase one at the expense of another. There is, therefore, at first sight, nothing absurd in the proposal to sacrifice wealth for the sake of something else more desirable. Some would argue that of this point the economist, as such, is not entitled to judge, since his proper function ceases when he has investigated the economic aspects of the phenomena presented to him. But though economics is only one branch of social science, still it is connected with all the other branches, and its cultivators ought to be able, to some extent, to deal with the problems of general sociology. We may, then, legitimately consider those cases in which an opposition between wealth and well-being is alleged. Before doing so, we ought to notice one cause of error to be found in protectionist writings. In determining a practical question, non-economic considerations may prevail over economic ones; but that does not turn a mercantile loss into a gain. Where a sacrifice is incurred, it should be taken into account. It may, moreover, be said that, though economic reasons are

IX

not necessarily decisive, they are in all instances important. Wealth is not as lofty an object as morality; but the possession of wealth is an aid to moral development: and without a certain standard of material comfort it is hopeless to expect great moral or intellectual improvement. There is good reason for the prominent place which wealth has obtained among the elements of national growth; though not identical with, it is an essential preliminary to the establishment of that higher social life for which reformers are striving. Any measure which aims at gaining advantage by an economic sacrifice has therefore to be supported by clear and cogent evidence before it can be accepted; and this pre-sumption, strong in all cases, is increased in force as regards the protectionist plan, by its most obvious and apparent mode of action being directed to the economic conditions of society. Other proposals for State-intervention may correctly base their claims on higher grounds; but it aims at altering the course of exchange, while its alleged services in the promotion of a higher national development are, at all events, not at once visible. The difficulty of proving the claim is in its case much greater, and, until it is overcome, there is no necessity for minute examination of the numerous declamatory works of protectionist writers. This initial difficulty is, however, the very point which is neglected, its place being taken by vague and often self-contradictory assertions of the benefits to be obtained from the adoption of the restrictive system.

As we have said, there are some particular instances in which the plea for an economic sacrifice, in order

to attain a higher end, acquires greater force, and these must be briefly noticed :---(1) Certain restrictions on trade have been advocated on the ground of national safety. Such are: regulations forbidding the sale of arms to foreigners; the prohibition of aliens being employed on board ships belonging to the country in question; and the encouragement of the production at home of certain articles needed for war, instead of being dependent on foreigners for them. Perhaps the best-known instance of this class is to be found in the English Navigation Laws, which received the approval of Adam Smith and J. S. Mill.¹ The expediency of all measures of the kind depends on the probability of their attaining their object. When the success of the English Navigation Acts is brought forward, it is well to remember that similar enactments in France were failures;² a fact which goes to show that it was not legislation alone that promoted the development of the English navy. But it is certainly true that restrictive measures, though they may possibly help to create a naval force, are injurious in their influence when a large mercantile marine exists, as the wonderful expansion of English shipping since 1849 bears witness. Limitations on trade for the purpose of national defence should be the rare exception, and

¹ Wealth of Nations, p. 188b, and Principles, v. 10, § 1. It is not, however, quite certain that Adam Smith really approved of the maintenance in his time of the Navigation Laws. His remark that they are "perhaps the wisest of all the commercial regulations of England" does not necessarily imply that he thought them "wise," since he regarded the others as supremely foolish. Such a mode of expression is not unusual with him,

^a See Stephen, Lectures on the History of France, vol. ii. pp. 297, 298. L

IX

should never be mixed up with a protectionist policy, as that is likely to cause their undue extension, under the pretence of solicitude for safety, when the real object is the shutting-out of foreign goods or labour.

(2) Agricultural industry has, in some cases, been regarded as entitled to special protection, either on the ground that a nation should not depend on foreigners for its food-supply, or that there is a peculiarly steadying and conservative influence exerted by the "agricultural interest," which needs and deserves the aid of the State. This argument was the nearest approach to reason in the position taken up by the supporters of the Corn Laws in England. The course of events has, however, shown that neither part of the contention was justified. The people of England are better supplied with food now than at any previous time in the present century; and the agricultural interest, using that term in its only natural sense, does not appear to have any monopoly of the virtues of conservatism—at least to such a degree as to make it advisable to levy a tax on the community at large for its supposed benefit.

The real effect of agricultural protection is, of course, as we saw before (pp. 136, 137), other things being equal, to raise rent: not at all to benefit either the labourer or farmer, though it is possible that it may increase the proportion of agricultural to non-agricultural workers, at the cost either of lowering the standard of comfort, or limiting the amount of the population, by the difficulty of procuring food. It will hardly be contended that either of these results will advance the power or well-being of a nation. It may, therefore, be concluded that the claim for protection to agriculture

is destitute of any justification, even when considered from a social rather than an economic point of view.

(3) The doctrine of agricultural protection is now somewhat discredited ; but until a sound and scientific basis for policy has been obtained, the abandonment of one error usually makes way for another, perhaps less reasonable than its predecessor. So it has been in the present case. Protection to manufactures is now advocated on social grounds. Its supporters appear to believe that a high position cannot be gained by a nation without the possession of extensive manufacturing industries, which, therefore, are put forward as proper objects for the supervision and aid of a paternal Government. The reason for this strange belief is probably the great commercial and manufacturing supremacy of England. The increase of English industrial power has been concomitant with the growth of her manufactures, and the latter is regarded by superficial observers as the cause of the The natural result of such an idea is to former. induce other countries to encourage their manufactures by the use of protective duties, which will thus, it is believed, augment the national industrial forces. The chief advocates of this policy put forward a view of the history of industrial development which is so onesided as to be utterly misleading. Thus, in List's survey of European commercial policy in the past, there is the underlying implication that English industry owed its success altogether to protection, and that English statesmen and producers aimed at destroying the manufactures of other countries, which in turn were justified in adopting similar expedients. The spirit of national animosity was, if not intention-

IX

ally, at least directly encouraged by such a method.¹ In answer to this doctrine, it may be said, that there is even less reason for encouraging manufactures than agriculture; the latter supplies the necessaries of life, the former only produces what is comparatively superfluous. Whatever may be the benefit to the State of a large agricultural population, it can hardly be urged that artisans are either physically or morally superior. If the State is to interfere at all with the deep-scated and subtle forces which direct the organisation and distribution of labour, there is surely no ground for its seeking to increase the mass of those urban populations, which in all countries present so grave a problem to the statesman and philanthropist. The evils which arise in a complex industrial society can be overcome by the maintenance of a high standard of comfort, combined with moral and intellectual training diffused among the great body of the population; but protection weakens this vital element of social prosperity by the economic losses which it inflicts on the society, as well as by the political spirit which it tends to create.

The argument for protection to manufactures sometimes takes the milder form of desiring to secure diversity of industry, in order to prevent a one-sided growth. Here, it ought to be evident that diversity of industry exists in even the most backward nations, as also that intelligence may be acquired in the profitable working of one complex industry, quite as well as in that of many smaller ones. The argument also overlooks the fact that production for a foreign market is in itself a

¹ See List, National System (Eng. Trans.), and the various works of H. C. Carey, for examples.

powerful exercise for the faculties. The moral and social advantages of international trade are in truth the strongest argument against any restriction on its operation. From the dawn of civilisation down to the present time, the trader has been the distributer of knowledge, as well as of commodities. The nations that have attained the highest place have not gained their position by exclusiveness, but by accepting frankly the material and intellectual productions of other countries.

It is not to a prohibitive policy only that the social argument for free-trade applies. All restriction, be it remembered, so far reduces the sum of foreign trade. It lowers the imports, and therefore necessarily the exports also. The effect reacts, more or less, on the whole economic system. We have seen (Chapter V.) how the entire series of transactions is linked together by the method in which exchange is carried on; and we have further noticed (p. 42) the great complexity of that series. Trade often takes what is at first sight an unaccountable direction; but, on examination, some special reason will appear for each seeming anomaly. A striking American instance is given in the following passage :—

"By the Act of 30th June 1864, the duty on imported bituminous coal was fixed at \$1.25 per ton. By the Act of 1873 this duty was reduced to 75 cents per ton. A merchant of Boston, interested in the coal-mines of Nova Scotik, happening to be in Washington shortly after the change in the law, called on a prominent member of Congress who had been instrumental in effecting the reduction, with a view of expressing thanks to the latter for his action and vote. In the course of the conversation which ensued, it was incidentally mentioned that the Washington Capitol building itself was lighted with gas derived from the very Nova Scotia coal which had been

1X

ORAP.

mainly affected and chespened by the reduction of the duty in question. Some surprise being manifested by the Congress man that such should be the case, the merchant explained its happening in this wise: Small vessels sailed in the first instance, mainly from New England, to ports of the British North American Provinces, laden with miscellaneous freights—furniture, hardware, glass, coarse textiles and carpets, drugs, medicine, paper, machinery, etc.—the product of our domestic industries. These shipments, directly or indirectly, paid for Nova Scotia coal especially adapted to the economical manufacture of gas, which coal was then transported in American bottoms to the Potomac, and sold to the Washington Gas Company. A cargo being unloaded, the vessel was immediately reloaded with coal from the Cumberland mines of Maryland, especially desirable for blacksmithing or steam purposes, which coal was in turn transported and sold in the Boston market." ¹

This case, which is but one of a numerous class, shows the danger of imposing duties for any object except that of obtaining revenue, since it is almost impossible to lay down, a priori, the effects of any given interference. Thus protective duties in favour of the staple industries of a country, at first sight, seem simply useless. How, one asks in surprise, can American agriculturists be protected ? It happens, however, that in the United States wheat is sometimes imported from Manitoba, potatoes from Nova Scotia, hams from Europe, and sugar from the West Indics.² In like manner, many special kinds of manufactured goods are imported into Great Britain, though, in the general result, the export of manufactures greatly preponderates over the import. In fact, not only are there many thousand commodities, but most of them are further subdivided into several distinct grades, some of which

Wells, Practical Economics, p. 76, note 1.

* W. G. Summer, Argument and Evidence before the Tariff Commission, pp. 17, 18.

may be imported and others exported at the same time. From this great and increasing specialisation of industries is derived one of the weightiest arguments against protection, since it is impossible for any State-agency to possess sufficient knowledge or flexibility, in order to frame proper regulations, and duly adjust them to suit alterations in the position of industry.¹

The political evils of a protective system are also a serious item in the cumulative argument against it. The arrangement of the amounts of duty on the various industries degenerates into a struggle of the several interests involved—in fact, the competition of the market is transferred to the arena of the lobby. The influences thus brought to bear are peculiarly detrimental to a democratic form of government, as the condition of the United States Civil Service tends to prove. All the difficulties of representative institutions are increased by the adoption of protection, which diverts attention from the main issue of good government to the impossible task of pleasing the many incompatible interests, which seek encouragement and support.

The foregoing examination may relieve us from the task of considering the many fallacious pleas which are so frequently to be met with, more especially as they have been over and over again refuted. To any one acquainted with the true theory of international trade, the pleas of "one-sided free-trade," "the need of compensation for heavy taxation," "the competition of pauper labour," etc., will not seem very formidable.²

² For detailed discussion of the various protectionist arguments, see Fawcett, *Free Trade and Protection*, pp. 88-133; Sumner, *Protectionism*, pp. 114-155; Bastiat, "Sophismes Economiques," *Euvres*, vol. iv. pp.

1X

¹ Cp. Sumner, Protectionism, pp. 32, 33.

CHAP.

They are rather instructive, as illustrating the various modes in which sentiments and interests are able to re-clothe themselves when their former garments are worn out. We may, therefore, proceed to consider the general causes which support protectionism, and which may be best arranged in their natural order.

(1) First among the forces which give vitality to the system of restriction, the interested motives of special classes of producers should be mentioned. The history of American tariff-making affords many illustrations. Each group is seeking to get a high duty for its own product, while it wants to obtain at a cheap rate the raw material on which it works. The formation of the tariff of 1883 may be taken as a good example, and with respect to it, the following passage from the work of an American historian will probably be sufficient evidence :—

"The history of tariff-making is not particularly honourable in all its details to any party or interest. It has too often partaken of a personal fight by manufacturers against the public and each other. The struggle on this occasion before Congress lasted nearly the whole session. It was earnest and sometimes bitter ; some interests were satisfied with the final result, others were not. The attempt to modify the tariff brought into bold relief the numerous conflicting interests and the difficulty and delicacy of the undertaking. As our industries become more heterogeneous, the tariff also grows more complex, and the difficulty of doing justice to all is increased. For example, the wool manufacturers, to succeed best, must have free wool and dye-stuffs ; on the other hand, both these interests desired protection. The manufacturers of the higher forms of iron must have free materials to succeed best; on the other hand, the ore producers, the pig-iron manufacturers, and every succeeding

1-126; Cherbuliez, Précis, vol. ii. pp. 64-79; Bastable, Commerce of Nations, pp. 133-156,

class desired a tariff on their products. It was not easy for these interests to agree, and some of them did not. The iron-ore producers desired a tariff of eighty-five cents a ton on ore; the steel-rail makers were opposed to the granting of more than fifty : the manufacturers of fence-wire were opposed to an increase of duty on wire-rods used for making wire, and favoured a reduction; the manufacturers of rods in this country were desirous of getting an increase ; the manufacturers of floor oilcloths desired a reduction or abolition of the duty on the articles used by them; the soap manufacturers desired the putting of caustic soda on the free list, which the American manufacturers of it opposed ; some of the woollen manufacturers were desirous. that protection should be granted to the manufacturers of dyestuffs, and some were not; the manufacturers of tanned foreign goat and sheep skins desired the removal of the tariff on such skins; those who tanned them, and who were much less numerous, were equally tenacious in maintaining the tariff on the raw skins : and the same conflict arose between other interests."1

This passage, which forcibly illustrates the operation of interested parties in the establishment of protection, possesses the greater authority, as it is the admission of a protectionist, who regards the evils, which he is bound to narrate, as "merely blotches on the picture, and not the picture itself." In all countries "the interested sophistry of merchants and manufac-ential in establishing those restrictions which each particular section thinks likely to advance its own business without the slightest regard to the general advantage. It is impossible not to recognise the fact, that the action of organised bodies, employed in special industries, in working for their own immediate benefit, has been one-if not the greatest-force in establishing and maintaining protective systems.

¹ A. S. Bolles, Financial History of the United States (1861-1885), pp. 479, 480. See Sumner, History of Protection in the United States, p. 43, for similar conflicts in forming the tariff of 1824.

1X

(2) Though the active exertions of small classes of persons may exercise a great effect on legislation, it is impossible for them to preserve the vantage-ground that they have gained without the assistance of other favourable conditions, one of which is present in every community in the form of ignorance on all economic matters. Over a hundred years ago, the fallacies of the mercantile system were refuted in Adam Smith's great work; but before his time they had been exposed by many able writers without much result; and even at the present day, substantially similar doctrines are regarded as self-evident truths by the great bulk of every community. Side by side with the scientific doctrines of economists, a popular political economy still flourishes, which approves of "making work," of "spending money," of "employing native industry," and many similar fallacious ideas. It cannot, therefore, cause any surprise to find protection popular in the most liberal and enlightened countries, when we remember the various errors afloat in all classes of society on the simplest economic matters. Even amongst free-traders there is very often complete mis-conception as to the true basis of the policy that they support. Thus, it is sometimes believed that free-trade is only good when it, as is thought, produces an excess of imports over exports, or, again, that its advantage consists in securing the import of food and raw materials and the export of manufactures.

(3) Avarice and ignorance are not creditable sources from which to derive a policy; but protectionists may be consoled by the consideration of a third reason for the persistence of their creed, which has, in many countries, exercised a great power, viz. the sentiment of nationality. The operation of this influence will best be seen by noticing the areas to which the system of restriction is to be applied. In every instance it will be found that the line of customhouses is to be coincident with political boundaries. It is almost universally admitted, that within each nation freedom of exchange should exist. List and Carey themselves would repudiate the proposal to divide the several German principalities or American States by either revenue or protective duties; in fact, the former was the originator of the Zoll-Verein, which gave internal free-trade to Germany. The few exceptions really prove the rule. Most of the advocates of protection in Ireland look on that country as entitled to a separate national existence. In the English Colonies they look forward to separation, or hope to be included in a customs-league with the mother country, as some fair-traders propose. The growth of a protective sentiment has been connected with a feeling that the interests of each nation are opposed to those of all other nations. The writings of protectionists in every country aim at exciting that international bad feeling which has been the cause of so many evils. No matter how varied may be the conditions of industry, the same characteristic is apparent. In all cases those forms of production which are carried on at greater comparative cost have to be reduced or abandoned under the readjustments brought about by foreign trade. National sentiment is invoked to prevent this natural and beneficial change. Under the specious plea of supporting native labour, it undoubtedly gives support to the forces previously noticed.

The foregoing considerations seem to sufficiently explain the continued existence of a policy which is entirely opposed, not only to the conclusions derived from scientific investigation, but also to the healthy instincts of common sense. Error, however, does not cease to be error when its sources have been discovered; and therefore the whole system of restriction deserves nothing but censure and refutation. It is opposed to the most prominent tendency of recent years, which has been towards closer intercommunication and multiplication of exchanges, instead of the exclusiveness and separation either implicitly or explicitly advocated by protectionist writers.¹ We are, on this ground, particularly justified in expecting that for the future the development of international exchange will continue, owing not only to the improvement of economic knowledge, and the earnest endeavours of those who claim freedom of exchange as a natural right, but also to the influence of what has been finely called "Eternal Reason-the sum of conditions resulting from the laws of material growth."² Whatever be the course of events, the soundness and expediency of free-trade remain abundantly established, though it may be difficult to bring national policy into conformity with the results of reasoned theory.

¹ E.g. a lengthy work, which is written with a great parale of scientific knowledge, has for its concluding sentence the following:— "The nearer we come to organising and conducting our COMPETING industries, as if we were the only nation on the planet, the more we shall make, and the more we shall have to divide among the workers."—Hoyt, Protection versus Free Trade, p. 435. The italics and capitals are in the original.

² Cp. Gitten, Essays in Finance (2nd series), pp. 273, 274; also Cournot, Théorie des Richesses, pp. 521, 522.

13ð

CHAPTER X

CONCLUSION

THE general theory of international trade, as well as the conclusions thence derived, have been stated in the foregoing pages. This closing chapter may therefore most fitly be devoted to the examination of some points, which, though not actually part of the doctrines previously developed, are yet necessary for their correct apprehension in relation to the other parts of economic science. The importance of thoroughly understanding the affinities and proper place of each branch of a scientific system will be sufficient justification for the addition of this discussion.

Among these outlying questions, perhaps the most prominent is the effect of the transfer of the industrial agents from country to country. Though the economic definition of a nation (p. 3) seems to exclude the recognition of such a shifting, we have found that it is not only possible, but, in fact, frequent; and it may be well to see in what way the theory and its applications are thereby affected. There is one consideration which somewhat reduces the difficulty of examining this agency. In every society, the amount of each of the industrial factors is almost certainly in a process of continuous change, through the increase or decrease of population, and of the sum of accumulated wealth; as also through the variations in consumption and the progress of invention. Thus the results produced by immigration do not, in essence, differ from those that follow a rapid increase of population; the influx of foreign capital resembles an acceleration in the speed of saving, and we may reasonably hold that the final result will not be very different in either case. this way the international movements of labour and capital become assimilated to the ordinary processes of economic life, and may be regarded as the same in their general effect. What is really of interest for the present subject is rather the tendency towards equalisation of profits and wages, which is the consequence of complete mobility. It is beyond dispute, that the very large emigration of labourers from certain European countries to the United States has not so far lowered the rate of wages in the latter country, nor raised it in any of the former, as to produce even an approxima-tion to equal rates of remuneration. This statement is still better founded for earlier periods. Emigration is, in truth, guided largely by other than purely economic motives — though at the present day the latter are gaining in comparative strength, and men are more anxious now than ever before to leave their country " for the sake of bettering themselves "-and, as a consequence, the distribution of population is not such as to secure the greatest efficiency in the production of wealth. As yet, therefore, the law of cost of production is not applicable to the values of imported commodities, and the ordinary economic theory of exchange needs modification before it can be used in explaining the facts of foreign trade. The power of

emigration does, however, to some extent, prevent any one nation from acquiring all the gains which it might otherwise obtain from its superior natural advantages. Where the difference between the rates of wages and profits in any two nations is considerable, there, as we have recognised (p. 9), a movement towards the country of greater productiveness will probably take place, and, through the operation of the law of diminishing return, its advantages will be reduced, while the inferior nation finds its position improved, since its population is so far reduced, and the least productive portions of its capital have been sent away.

It is instructive to compare the two processes by which the increased wealth arising from more efficient employment of the productive factors is divided. We saw (Chapter II.) that, by means of foreign trade, labour and capital were in each country distributed in such a way as to be employed only on the comparatively most productive industries in each country, all other wants being supplied by exchange, but that this did not cause the sacrifices on each side to be reduced to, or even tend towards, a common level. To take our hypothetical case (pp. 23 sq.), though A obtained x, and B obtained y on better terms, the amount of enjoyment realised depended in the last resort on the efficiency of A in producing y, and of B in producing x, on which fact foreign trade could not directly act. Migration of labour and capital, on the other hand, will probably affect this element, by enabling some labourers in the inferior country to obtain a share of the wealth of its neighbour, as also by allowing capitalists to invest in the more productive enterprises of the superior country. The relations of the United

States with European nations afford a good illustration of these statements. The gains of all classes in Europe have most certainly been raised by the investment of capital in America, and the relief which emigration has brought to the thickly-populated parts of the former Continent. It is well for us to qualify the conception of complete fixity, which exclusive attention to the theory of exchange would suggest, by a recognition of the other facts presented in the complex relations of nations.

In connection with the preceding question, a special point in the protectionist controversy, which could not be conveniently dealt with at an earlier time, may now be considered. Protectionists often claim for their scheme that it causes the immigration of labour and capital into their territory; and the same view has been taken by persons who deplore the emigration of English employers, caused, it is said, by the desire to get inside the tariff barriers of other countries. Α modification of this belief is found in the assertion, that under free-trade population and capital would move towards the more fertile parts of the earth's surface, leaving the poorer countries desolate an evil which is to be remedied by the aid of a protective To deal with this doctrine, it is only necessystem. sary to consider the causes of emigration. So far as they are non-economic, they may be disregarded, since an avowedly economic measure will not affect them. The economic motive for migration is the hope of gain, which can only be brought into operation by the existence of higher profits and wages in the duty-levying countries. Duties could, therefore, only draw capital and labour into a country which was superior in its

resources to that from which the labour and capital were drawn, and which would, all artificial conditions apart, have a tendency to attract those agents of production. The only possible way in which a protective duty could have the consequence attributed to it, is either by widening the margin between the rates of profit and wages in the two countries, or by affecting a special industry, whose main production was for export.¹ The chief field for the working of this force would be in the case of a large as against a small country.² For instance, it is said that Tasmania suffers from the protective policy of Victoria, which ought to be its best customer. Swiss industry has also been affected by the tariffs of France and Germany, and were Ireland politically separate from England, some of its industries might, by means of protection in England, be transferred to that country. To recognise the possibility of a given case is one thingto admit the expediency of creating it is quite another. In the present instance the evils of the supposed duties are evident. They lead to an artificial and uneconomic distribution of industrial forces, thus reducing the total amount of wealth; they inflict loss on the consumers of the commodities, whose place of production is to be altered, while they fail to allow for the natural effect of economic development in promoting the establishment of all profitable employments.

¹ The case of the watchmakers brought from Switzerland by Voltaire, which is used by Cournot (*Théorie des Richesses*, pp. 469-474), comes under this latter head. The tin-plate industry as affected by the M'Kinley tariff has been suggested as an instance.

² A small district might suffer greatly by the imposition of heavy duties on its trade with a large neighbouring country. The Isle of Wight, for example, might be ruined by a war of tariffs with England.

x

М

CHAP.

It cannot be shown that France has profited by the efforts to transplant Swiss industries to its soil, nor that Switzerland has been much injured by such attempts. The general objections to a protective system apply in all their strength to this particular application of it.

The idea that freedom of trade may lead to depopulation rests on a confusion between two different branches of economic action, viz. the unrestricted exchange of commodities, which is all that free-trade prescribes, and the mobility of the industrial factors. The latter obviously depends on entirely different causes, and has little connection with the particular fiscal policy pursued. Germans emigrate in large numbers to America, Frenchmen prefer to remain at home, though both countries are protectionist in policy. In fact the probability is that where economic motives are the chief reason for emigration, protection will rather increase than diminish their force. Increased cost of living is not an inducement to the energetic and prudent to remain in a country, but that is precisely what protection tends to, and we may therefore assert that the fear of depopulation from free-trade is entirely devoid of practical foundation.¹

The actual mode in which capital is transferred is seldom correctly conceived. In dealing with this subject, writers seem to believe—or, at all events, they suggest the idea to the greater number of their readers—that the passage of certain documents, or, at the utmost, of bullion, is the form which the movement takes. The real course of events is thus obscured, and attention is fastened on the mechanism by which the

¹ Cp. for further discussion of this point Appendix C.

x

transfer is accomplished, to the exclusion of the principal part of the phenomenon. In all cases it ought to be plain that capital is exported in the form of commodities, or that the borrowing country is enabled to retain certain articles which would otherwise have to be exported in discharge of its liabilities.

The relations of England with most new countries. exemplify the foregoing statement. The enormous loans contracted on the London Stock Exchange by foreign states and companies are not complete when the bonds are issued. It is further necessary to send the value to the borrowing countries, which is done by the export of commodities capable of being used as capital by the importing nation. Iron and steel rails, for instance, formed a large item of English exports till within recent years. They enabled new railway lines to be speedily laid down, and increased the power of transport. Rolling-stock for railways was also taken in considerable quantities; and even servicesin the shape of engineers and navvies—were procured for the same object. Articles suitable for directly aiding production are not, it must be added, the only mode in which capital can be exported. Commodities consumed by labourers constitute an important part of the total amount of capital, and the masses of ruder manufactures sent out some twenty years ago by England show that a good deal of the value needed was exported in that manner.

The distinction drawn by some advocates of restrictive duties between raw material and finished products is, perhaps, due to a confused idea of the expediency of importing capital, as distinguished from articles of consumption; but the real nature of the phenomenon is very imperfectly understood by them, since it is impossible to say what articles may discharge the function of capital in any particular case.

It may now fairly be asked, What is the scientific and practical value of the doctrines which we have been engaged in considering? Is it not likely that economic and technical development will in no remote future render all the world one country, and what then will become of "international trade?" The answer is suggested by the general course which economic science has taken. A scientific doctrine is found to explain some given group of facts; if the subject-matter of the doctrine disappears, the explanation of course ceases to be of practical importance, but its scientific value does not therefore perish. Slavery, for instance, is an economic question which has for us little practical application; it does not therefore follow that the student can gain no benefit from a study of the admirable writings on the subject. They aid in interpreting historical events, and give models of sound research applied to questions beyond the reach of prejudice and party feeling. A like service may be done by the remarkable work of the English school on the question of foreign trade. The study of Ricardo, J. S. Mill, and Cairnes, will clear up many difficulties in the course of economic growth, and will serve as a discipline to the inquirer.

But while asserting the permanent value of the theory in its scientific aspect, it is not intended to admit that its practical importance is likely to soon diminish. The causes which have established, and still maintain, different nations in the economic sense,

CONCLUSION

x

are very deep-seated;¹ and as long as those bodies continue, there will be need for a doctrine of their relations. It is possible that new features will appear, and that some old ones will be lost—so much is to be found in all sciences which deal with a changing subject—but the essential aspects of the theory will for a considerable time remain intact. When new political and social forms, inconceivable at present, have been established, then it may be that an entirely new mode of treatment will be requisite in this as in other parts of economics, or even that there will be no pressing necessity for any treatment of a non-existent subject.

Whatever be the fate of the theory and its applications in the future, we may here emphasise our principal conclusion as to conduct. It is a negative one. Governments in their dealings with foreign trade should be guided by the much-vilified maxim of *laissez faire*. To avoid misinterpretation, let it be remembered that the precept rests on no theory of abstract right, or vague sentiment of cosmopolitanism, but on the well-founded belief that national interests are thereby advanced, and that even if we benefit others by an enlightened policy, we are ourselves richly rewarded.

¹ Cp. the remarks of Professor Flint, Philosophy of History (1893), pp. 26, 27.

APPENDIX A

HISTORY OF THE THEORY

THE theory of international trade has been developed in the way usual with scientific doctrines. It commenced in the shape of practical rules, which, however, necessarily implied a groundwork of theoretic conceptions. The earliest form of such doctrines, so far as can be gathered from the course of legislation (if that term may be applied to administrative regulations), advised the retention of specially useful commodities within the national territory, and amongst these money naturally obtained a chief place. The ruder application of this idea was called by Jones the "balance of bargains" system. It sought to regulate every exchange; and in this way, to let no money whatsoever leave the country.¹ The more refined mercantile, or "balance of trade" theory, aimed at exporting more than was imported; thus keeping up a favourable balance, and, as it was supposed, causing an influx of money. The best-known English representative of this school was Thomas Mun, the author of England's Treasure by Forraign Trade (1664).² The English writers on commerce of the seventeenth century contained amongst their numbers some advocates of the highest form of empirical doctrine on the subject-the free-trade system. Of these, Dudley North,

¹ See the Essay on "The Primitive Political Economy of England" in Richard Jones's *Remains*, pp. 293-335.

² See the reprint issued by Harvard University, *Economic Classics*, edited by Professor Ashley.

in his Discourses of Trade (1691), was the most remarkable. In his brief pamphlet we find the following profound remarks:—"That the whole world, as to trade, is but as one nation or people, and therein nations are as persons." "That a people cannot want money to serve the ordinary dealing, and more than enough they will not have." "That exchange and ready money are the same, nothing but carriage and re-carriage being saved." And it concludes with the sage reflection :—"Thus we may labour to hedge in the cuckoo, but in vain, for no people ever yet grew rich by policies; but it is peace, industry, and freedom that brings trade and wealth, and nothing else."¹ The anonymous writer of *Considerations on the East India Trade* also sets forth a sound commercial policy, and justifies it by logical arguments.³

A more advanced position was taken by Hume in his Economical Essays (1752). He points out the natural distribution of the precious metals, as well as the influence of the exchanges in maintaining equilibrium; and he almost reaches the conception that imports imply corresponding exports.³ The effect of paper-money, and the supposed need for exporting surplus goods, are, however, erroneously treated. From Hume to his great contemporary Adam Smith is a natural transition; but we cannot say that there is any special contribution to the theory of foreign trade in the Wealth of Nations. His views on the real advantage of such trade are somewhat doubtfully

¹ The passages quoted above are samples of this most auggestive tract, which is to be found in *Select Tracts on Commerce* (edited by J. R. M'Culloch). The passages quoted are from pp. 513, 514, and 540.

² For an instructive account of the early English free-trade writers see Professor Ashley's valuable article, "The Tory Origin of Free Trade Policy," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, July 1897, vol. xi. pp. 335-371.

* "Each new acre of vineyard planted in France, in order to supply England with wine, would make it requisite for the French to take the produce of an English acre sown in wheat or barley, in order to subsist themselves."—Works (ed. Green and Grose), iii. 336. expressed, while his explanation of the division of gain between two trading countries ¹ is plainly erroneous. Nor has he grasped the condition governing the international distribution of the precious metals. The qualities exhibited in that work by its illustrious author were, in truth, philosophic breadth of view, careful observation, and homeliness of illustration, rather than the analytic power so remarkably displayed by Rieardo, and which is essential in handling questions of currency and exchange.² Adam Smith, however, if he did not develop a definite theory, at least disposed for ever of the mercantilist doctrines, and thus left a clear field for a new and more positive construction.

His immediate followers made some valuable contributions, such as Foster's distinction between the balance of debt and the balance of trade,⁸ which removes the basis of many errors; and Torrens's demonstration of the advantage of foreign trade, with his recognition of the division of the total gain among the two parties trading.⁴ But the scientific theory of international trade must be credited to His pamphlets on the currency question pre-Ricardo. pared the way for the more general treatment, which is to be found in the seventh chapter of his Principles. The contents of that chapter are but the expansion and illustration of three cardinal propositions, which constitute his theory of foreign trade, and which run as follows:—(1)"No extension of foreign trade will immediately increase the amount of value in a country, although it will very powerfully contribute to increase the mass of commodities, and therefore the sum of enjoyments."⁵ (2) "The same rule which regulates the relative value of commodities in one country does not regulate the relative value of the

¹ Wealth of Nations, p. 199.

See for a more favourable judgment, Lorini, La Moneta, pp. 22 sq.
The Principle of Commercial Exchanges (1804). Though Sir J.
Steuart—as already mentioned, p. 74 (Works, iii. 216)—incidentally notices the distinction, he completely fails to grasp its significance.

• The Economists Refuted (1808).

⁵ Works, p. 72.

commodities exchanged between two or more countries."¹ (3) "The money of each country is apportioned to it in such quantities only as may be necessary to regulate a profitable trade of barter."³ The elementary principles governing exchange between nations are here briefly but clearly indicated, though the form of statement will be found to need alteration and revision. The special questions of bounties on exportation and of colonial trade are dealt with in separate chapters, which are highly suggestive as to the general conditions affecting international exchange.

James Mill's Elements (3rd ed., 1821) gives a short statement of Ricardo's results, and improves their arrange-ment. Senior's Lectures on the Cost of Obtaining Money made the first step beyond Ricardo, though the conditions governing the value of money are not fully recognized by . him, and the main point of Ricardo's doctrine is rejected. Still the connection of money wages with efficiency of work is an important contribution; and the true theory, as a whole, is almost stated in the assertion that "the portableness of the precious metals, and the universality of the demand for them, render the whole commercial world one country, in which bullion is the money, and the inhabitants of each nation form a distinct class of labourers."³ The next advance in the theory was supplied by J. S. Mill in his discussion of the conditions determining international value;⁴ and it may be said that he succeeded in getting the whole body of doctrines on the subject into a convenient form, though, as has been pointed out in the text, there are sundry gaps in the argument, and sometimes the inferences as to actual cases are unfounded. The views set forth in Colonel Torrens's *Budget*, though prior in publication, were not adopted as early as those of Mill; and the elements of truth contained in that work are mixed up with curious oversights,

¹ Works, p. 75.

² Ibid. pp. 79, 80.

^{*} Three Lectures on the Cost of Obtaining Money, p. 14.

Essays on Some Unsettled Questions of Political Economy, pp. 1-46.
some of which were pointed out by Senior and Merivale in the controversy which arose on the various points involved. The third part of Cairnes's *Leading Principles* is devoted to a discussion of the whole subject of foreign trade. He seeks to modify Mill's results by a fuller recognition of the action of non-competing industrial groups in domestic trade, which to some extent affects the doctrine of comparative cost, and the rates of wages internationally considered. He further handles some topics insufficiently. treated by Mill, such as the effect of indebtedness, and the connection of prices with the gain from foreign trade.

In later English works the views of Mill have been generally adopted with various modifications and minor differences. Thus Mr. Shadwell has objected to the part dealing with international values, and Mr. Sidgwick has taken a peculiar view of Mill's conception as to the basis of his theory. Professor Marshall has privately issued a mathematical study on the basis of the Ricardian doctrine, and Professor Edgeworth, in his masterly papers, while accepting Ricardo as "the founder of the theory," affirms that "Mill's exposition is still unsurpassed."¹

The theory has had far less acceptance on the Continent. French writers in particular have regarded it as unduly subtle, and as unnecessarily abstract. Their opinion may be summed up in the judgment of M. Maurice Block :—"les économistes du continent ont bien fait de laisser 'la théorie du valeur international' de l'autre côté de la Manche."² A distinguished exception is, however, found in A. E. Cherbuliez, who has given an admirable summary, and though Cournot—who stands apart from the ordinary French school—is a hostile critic, he has devoted much attention to the subject.

Amongst German economists, Rau and Roscher have embodied parts of the theory in their text-books, but the

¹ Economic Journal, vol. iv. pp. 35-50, 424-443, 606-638; see especially pp. 606, 607.

² Progrès de la Science économique, vol. ii. p. 172.

THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

most important discussion is that of Mangoldt, who has developed Mill's doctrines with decided acuteness.¹

In Holland more notice has been given to Ricardo's theory, which has been expounded and criticised, especially in the work of Beaujon, entitled Handel en Handelspolitiek (1888).

Italian economists have also recognised the value of the work of the English school in respect to this subject. Cossa, Pantaleoni, Loria, Pareto, and Lorini may be mentioned as prominent contributors.

For the United States there is General Walker's ably popularised exposition in his *Political Economy* (edition of 1887), while Mr Bowen² has sought, but without success, to utilise the theory in favour of protection. Professor Taussig's admirable studies apply its main features to the economic condition of the trade of the United States.⁸

¹ Grundriss der Volkswirthschaftslehre, pp. 203-250. See Professor Edgeworth's criticism, Economic Journal, vol. iv. pp. 630-636. ² American Political Economy (1st edition), chap. xxiv.

"American Political Leonomy (15) Californi, Chap. XXIV.

* Tarif History of the United States, and articles in the Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Journal.

APPENDIX B

ON SOME COUNTER-THEORIES OF INTER-NATIONAL TRADE

THE statement of a theory gives sufficient opportunity for judging of its consistency; but it is possible for a series of propositions to be logically developed, and yet, owing to omissions in the premises, to fail in interpreting the phenomena to which it is applied. Moreover, a simpler explanation may be available, which will set aside more elaborate accounts; and therefore it will be well for us to examine any opposing theories on this subject of international trade. If it should appear that these various doctrines fail to clucidate some parts of the subject, or that they really seek to explain something different from the leading facts which have to be handled, then they, by their inherent weakness, will to some extent confirm the doctrines set forth by the great English economists.

Cournot.—The first theory that will claim our notice is that propounded by the distinguished French mathematician, A. A. Cournot.¹ The prominence into which his name has been brought by the writings of Jevons and Walras, as well as the real merits of his work, entitle his doctrines to a careful examination; the more so, as Cournot has himself severely criticised the Ricardian theory of foreign trade. Those criticisms have been dealt with in the text, but the positive side of his system must now be considered. It consists in the suggestion, rather than pre-

¹ Théorie des Richesses (Paris, 1863), Livre III. chaps. iv. v. vi, ; cp. also his Principes Mathématiques, ch. x. xi. xii.

cise statement, that a nation gains by exportation, and loses by importation. This surprising result is obtained by calculations based on certain assumed cases, which so far resemble the device employed by Mill in treating of international values. They, however, differ widely in another respect, viz. in the nature of the abstractions adopted. In Mill's exposition the broad facts of exchange are so simplified as to stand out clearly, and to admit of conclusions being drawn without the encumbrance of extraneous details ; while in Cournot's cases, the complication is of a high degree, and the conclusion is vitiated by some serious errors; for :--(1) The conception of price is used throughout, notwithstanding that the value of money may vary from country to country-a course which of itself suffices to render any sound result unattainable. (2) In the chief instance on which the theory is worked out, i the law of diminishing return is operative, and on this exceptional, or at least particular, case, a general conclusion is (3) The effect of foreign trade in causing a formed. readjustment of productive power is passed over with a vague reference to his previous discussion on the conditions determining the growth of capital,² in which it is implied that the bare fact of demand is, in some cases, a sufficient reason for increased production. (4) A further error, which may indeed be regarded as the ground-idea of all his speculations on the subject, is to be found in the denial of the necessary connection between importation and exportation. It is at first assumed by him, and at a later stage of his inquiry expressly asserted, that a commodity can be exported with profit to the exporting country, while the commodities sent back in return are not supposed to yield profit to the country thus paying; so that, to use his own words, "the two markets are not symmetrically situated."³ The calculations, therefore, rest on assumptions which are not only unreal, but also, in general, impossible; and they thus show the futility of handling

¹ Théorie des Richesses (Paris, 1863), Livre III. pp. 816-322. ² Ibid. chap. ii. ³ Ibid. p. 328.

such problems without the preliminary safeguard of examination into the essential conditions involved.

These very serious defects in Cournot's treatment of a topic with which his remarkable keenness and analytical power would seem to have peculiarly fitted him to deal, has naturally led to speculation as to the cause of his failure. Professor Edgeworth, who has effectively criticised Cournot's paradoxical results, attributes it "principally to the neglect of Consumers' Rent";¹ while Professor Irving Fisher ascribes it to a mathematical error resulting from "gross carelessness."² But the non-recognition of consumers' rent is only one, and that not the gravest, defect in Cournot's discussion. His mistake in a mathematical proccss might explain the results reached in the Principes Mathématiques of 1838, but could hardly account for the elaborate arguments in the Théorie des Richesses, published twenty-five years later, and prepared with knowledge of J. S. Mill's investigations. The most probable explanation appears to be that, notwithstanding all his intellectual vigour, Cournot was in this case influenced by a strong bias against the free-trade doctrine of Adam Smith and his followers, who were for him, as for List, "a school," and the advocates of "a system." His contemptuous treatment of one of the strongest arguments in the \widehat{W} ealth of Nations -the Vin d'Écosse, as he calls it-is a good illustration of this disposition. His protestations of impartiality referred to by Professor Fisher were probably sincere, but they do not alter the fact that, on passing into the region of foreign trade, "this superior intelligence, equipped with the most scientific apparatus, seems . . . to have taken a wholly wrong direction. He has not only committed errors in formal reasoning, but also has missed general conceptions appropriate to the subject."³ A predisposition to accept conclusions that are universally admitted to be erroneous was, we cannot but think, the reason for this sudden fall.

¹ Economic Journal, vol. iv. p. 152.

Quarterly Journal of Economics, vol. xii. pp. 129, 130.
* Edgeworth, Economic Journal, vol. iv. p. 625.

Mr. Sidgwick.-Allusion has already been made, when treating of international values, to Mr. Sidgwick's doctrine on that subject; it will now be expedient to examine it more closely. Put briefly, it runs as follows :- The peculiar features of foreign trade are due to the fact of distance, which makes the process of exchange between different places a costly one; since there is the twofold expense of (a) sending commodities out, and (b) getting back other commodities in payment. The problem of international value consists in the determination of the conditions governing the division of this cost between the countries concerned.¹ It is at once evident that the question as thus stated is different from that discussed by J. S. Mill.² The latter seeks to determine the division of the total gain arising from foreign trade, and in so doing, considers the losses which are a diminution of that gain ; while the theory under consideration deals only with one form of this diminution. It is therefore necessary for us to estimate the comparative worth of these theories in explaining economic phenomena; and here Mill's superiority can hardly be doubted. His investigation takes in everything treated of by Mr. Sidgwick, who, on the other hand, admits that he has furnished no solution of the division of gain in international trade.⁸ Again, the position of money is not satisfactorily handled by Mr. Sidgwick. He states that it varies in value from country to country, owing to the existence of double cost of carriage; and to escape the resulting difficulty, he proposes the adoption of the conception of "real price," that is, price "estimated not in the actual money of either country, but by a standard of value common to the

¹ Sidgwick, Principles of Political Economy, book ii. chap. iii., pp. 202-216.

* Principles, book iii. chap. zviii.

³." It may be observed that the theoretical determination of the division of the expenses of Foreign Trade does not enable us to determine the total amount of the gain resulting from such trade to either nation."—*Principles*, p. 216.

countries, obtained by estimating and allowing for the differences in the value of actual money."¹ Here the effect of comparative intensity of demand on the terms of exchange is quite ignored; but so long as labour and capital are not mobile, this element cannot be neglected. It is, in truth, by placing in the background the fundamental fact of the difficulty of moving the factors of production from one nation to another, that Mr. Sidgwick's theory is essentially defective. His explanations would really apply far better to the case of exchanges between different places in the same country, where the conditions that he assumes are more nearly realised. Finally, his criticism of Mill can hardly be accepted. He tells us that Mill's "error appears to me most simply manifested in the earlier part of his argument, in which to exhibit most simply the 'elementary principle of International Values,' he omits the consideration of the cost of carriage; and supposes, for the sake of argument, that the carriage of commodities from one country to the other could be effected without labour and without cost. It is easy to show that, under the circumstances thus supposed, cost of production must determine the value of exported commodities, just as much as the value of commodities consumed where they are made; except we make the further hypothesis, rarely likely to be realised in fact, that, after the trade is established, there is no product common to the trading countries."² This contention passes over the fact that Mill expressly regards "the further hypothesis" as a necessary consequence of the non-existence of cost of "But for it," he says, "every commodity would carriage. be regularly imported or regularly exported. A country would make nothing for itself which it did not also make for other countries."³ We have seen (pp. 29 and 35) that this statement is not correct; but the modification that we introduced gives no aid to Mr. Sidgwick's argument, since, where the law of diminishing return is in operation,

> ¹ Principles, p. 211. ⁸ Ib

⁸ Ibid. iii. 18, § 3.

² Ibid. p. 206.

demand and cost of production act on each other-increased demand raising cost, and increased cost reducing demand.

Mr. Sidgwick, in the second edition of his Principles, replies "that this does not amount to saying that there would be no product common to any two trading countries il cost of carriage were non-existent, since two countries might still make the same thing for export to a third."1 In answer, it may be said that, as the earlier part of Mill's exposition refers to the case of two countries cut off from the rest of the world, it seems evident that the supposition of these countries exporting a common product to a third country, ex hypothesi inaccessible, cannot be admitted. Professor Edgeworth, however, maintains the position which Mr. Sidgwick tacitly abandoned. He invokes the authority of Mangoldt in support of his proposition, that even under the unreal hypothesis of two countries with commodities produced at constant cost and cost of carriage altogether absent, there may be a commodity "produced in both countries, exported from one and imported into the other." 2

In the distribution of industries between the two countries each will select those for the production of which it possesses a relative advantage; but it is possible, and in the case of countries with a great many products highly probable, that one commodity (x) will be on the margin between import and export. Then in respect to x, one country (A) will produce for the home market whatever the residue of its productive power will yield, and will obtain the needed surplus by importation from the other country (B). On the other hand, B will produce all of x that is required for home use, and will export the balance which is demanded by consumers in A. The natural objection that there is no profit to be made by this export is met by reference to the consideration that

¹ Principles, p. 206, note 1. For a discussion of the case of three countries see Hermathena, vol. vii. pp. 120, 121.

² Economic Journal, vol. iv. p. 620.

no extra profit is required, since cost of carriage being nil, producers in B are content with the profit of their home market. In fact, so far as commercial competition is concerned, the two countries have become one market with a common level of values. This important explanation gives nevertheless no support to Mr. Sidgwick's case against Mill (as, indeed, Professor Edgeworth fully recognises). For though there is an equalisation of values in the two countries, there is no tendency towards equal remuneration of sacrifices. Industrial competition is entirely absent. Hence the common commodity x is, or may be, produced at very different costs in the two countries A and B; so that the essential part of Mill's exposition holds good, though some of his incidental statements are inaccurate and require modification.¹

Mr. Shadwell. — Mr. J. L. Shadwell, in his useful manual,² while accepting the main results of the Ricardian theory of international trade, takes exception to Mill's doctrine of international value on the ground "that he has not really explained the subject, but has merely re-stated the problem in a different way;³ and that, in fact, the equation of international demand, far from being an important result, is simply a truism. This criticism is supported by the statement of what is claimed to be a more accurate explanation of the causes regulating international values. In an earlier part of his treatise Mr. Shadwell adopted a peculiar definition of value, as being

¹ Professor Edgeworth's valuable and courteous criticism of the error contained in the corresponding passage in the second edition of this work (see *Economic Journal*, vol. vii. pp. 398-400) has suggested the material for the more correct statement given above, and has, in addition, elucidated a specially difficult part of this complicated subject. The mistake of formally denying the possibility of a common product was the more inexcusable as its existence was recognised in the special case of a large country trading with a small one (*supra*, p. 43), as also in the case where productive power was limited (2nd edition, p. 182).

² System of Political Economy (London, 1877).

³ Shadwell, p. 406.

THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

"the esteem in which commodities are held as measured by the quantity of labour which will be given in exchange for them,"¹ and from this point of view he concludes that "to the question what determines the value of a foreign commodity, it may be answered, that it depends on three things: its cost of production, the difference between the efficiency of labour in the two countries, and the cost of carriage."²

It is impossible to accept either the critical or the constructive part of the doctrine just stated. Mill's theory does not consist merely in the statement of the equation of reciprocal demand, but in the indication of the forces which are in operation to produce that equation. Comparative intensity of demand will have an effect in determining the fluctuations of international values within the limits set by comparative cost. This real element in the problem is recognised by Mill. There is no place for it in Mr. Shadwell's account. Therefore, even granting that his conception of value is correct—though it is only a reassertion of the long abandoned doctrine of Adam Smith -still his theory is not complete, and consequently cannot survive in competition with Mill's wider and more thorough explanation.

¹ Shadwell, p. 105.

* Ibid. p. 405.

APPENDIX C

ON SOME DISPUTED POINTS IN INTER-NATIONAL TRADE

1. The exposition of the theory of international values in terms of money

ENGLISH economists in dealing with the thorny subject of international values have usually simplified their exposition by regarding foreign trade as being in form what it is in fact—the barter of commodities. This has been the method of J. S. Mill and Cairnes, as in later years of Professor Marshall and Professor Edgeworth.¹ Even Ricardo, who generally reasoned in terms of price, when approaching this special question in the famous seventh chapter of his *Principles*, employs units of labour.² The continental followers of the English school—Cherbuliez, Mangoldt, Beaujon—take the same course. On the other hand, Cournot, who has kept to prices all through his discussions, has, as we have seen (*supra*, pp. 173-75), fallen into serious errors.

Quite recently, however, Professor Nicholson, while holding generally to the position of Ricardo and Mill, has departed from the established mode of exposition, and

¹ See Professor Marshall's "Memorandum," supplied to the "Gold and Silver Commission," referred to *supra*, p. 60, note; and Professor Edgeworth's articles in *Economic Journal*, vol. iv.

^a "Prices" are used in part of Fawcett's chapter on "Foreign Commerce" (*Manual*, book iii. chap. vii.), but this is in accordance with his treatment of domestic value, and further, has led to mistaken criticisms by such writers as Musgrave (*Studies in Political Economy*). adopted by preference the procedure of Cournot, whose mistakes are, he thinks, not because, but "in spite of using money as a measure."¹ It thus becomes necessary to estimate the merits of the two methods, and to give reasons for the course pursued in Chapter II. of the present work.

At the outset, it is clear that either method, if followed with all the due precautions, and if no mistakes are made, should yield the same results as its competitor. "Relative prices must be adjusted to relative values."² Any discrepancy in conclusions is evidence of error somewhere.

Nor can it be denied that many parts of Professor Nicholson's exposition are of admirable force and lucidity. None the less do the reasons in favour of the older course appear convincing. For, in the first place, foreign trade in its ruder forms is actually barter. Regarded historically there can be no doubt that the use of a common measure of value arose gradually, and that the primitive forms of money were, essentially, prized commodities. Again, even in its modern form, foreign trade deals for the most part with two currencies, not with one. Trade between gold and silver standard countries is a prominent instance. We are not justified in assuming a single measure of value in such cases; each country has its own standard. But, thirdly, there is the variation in money value which is found between different countries. As pointed out in criticising Cournot (p. 174), the assumption of a general value of money is unfounded, and this Professor Nicholson would allow, though he does not appear to always bear it sufficiently in mind. One effect of the introduction of foreign trade is to alter the scales of prices in the countries thus brought into connection, so that the measure of value is changed in each country, but in different ways.³

¹ Nicholson, Principles, vol. ii. p. 270.

* Ibid. vol. ii. p. 299.

³ Ricardo states this point effectively : "In the former part of this work we have assumed, for the purpose of argument, that money always continued of the same value ; we are now endeavouring to show

To use money as a symbol of value under such circumstances can hardly fail to lead to complications that it is well to avoid. The facts that the precious metals in the countries of their production are not only money, but also profitable exports, and in any country may at times be so employed, afford an additional objection to the use of prices instead of the relations of commodities to illustrate the working of foreign trade. Thus in one of Professor Nicholson's cases we read, "assume that two countries, A and B, have the same standard and currency, and that the average rate of wages is 4s. per day in both countries before the trade is opened. Let each country produce both wheat and cloth, but . . . in A let one average day's labour make a yard of cloth or a bushel of wheat, whilst in B it takes two days to make a yard of cloth and a day and a half to make a bushel of wheat."¹ From this case a series of propositions as to the readjustments in production of wheat and cloth and in rates of wages in A and B under the action of foreign trade is developed. No notice, however, is taken of the fact that silver is a third commodity, and that in the given case it is the article in which B has the greatest relative advantage, while A's advantage is greatest in cloth.² Hence the trade will open with silver and cloth. not with wheat and cloth, as in Professor Nicholson's Nor is this difficulty adequately met by statement.

that, besides the ordinary variations in the value of money, and those which are common to the whole commercial world, there are also partial variations to which money is subject in particular countries, and to [sic] the fact that the value of money is never the same in any two countries, depending, as it does, on relative taxation, on manufacturing skill, on the advantages of climate, natural productions, and many other causes."-Works, p. 81.

¹ Nicholson, Principles, book iii. chap. xxvii. § 5 (vol. ii. pp. 301, 302).

² Assuming that 4s. is the silver unit, we have a day's labour yielding in the two countries as follows :—

							Silver.	Wheat,	Cloth.	
A	•	• .		•		•.	. 1	1	1	
В	•	•	•	· •	•	• **	. 1	23	3	,

replying¹ that the assumption of the original rates of wages (4s. in each) is "an arbitrary" one, "made for "simplicity." For it does in reality introduce an important element into the case, which does not receive proper consideration.². It is, moreover, noteworthy that Professor Nicholson finds it desirable to make use of all the other hypothetical simplifications adopted by Mill.³ But if this be allowable, what scientific ground can there be for objecting to the one additional hypothesis, which is, besides, admittedly true in substance, viz., that the terms of exchange are the same as would exist if no money were used and trade were actually barter ? It might even be contended that the particular hypothesis of barter has a much firmer foundation than those of (1) only two countries, (2) dealing in but two commodities, which (3) are produced at constant cost of labour and capital, (4) perfectly mobile within each country, but (5) unable to pass from one to the other country, while (6) there, is no impediment to the movement of the commodities. All these assumptions, though admissible as logical devices, have yet an unreal appearance, which embarrasses the student, and they undoubtedly require very careful handling.

There thus seems to be no sufficient reason for complicating the problem of international value by introducing at the outset the elements of prices and money wages, which tend to distract attention from the essential points, and make detailed investigation more troublesome.4

² As Professor Nicholson does, op. cit. p. 802, note.

" It would be admissible to regard wages as paid in labour notes (as the Socialists propose). But then the labour notes in A would differ in value from those in B, and each would simply represent the commodities produced by the labour of the holders. Bargaining in labour notes between A and B would be, in fact, the very bartering of commodities observed in chap. il. (supra, pp. 22-48).

* "And, to begin with, the same hypothetical conditions may be laid down as on the barter theory."-Nicholson, Principles, book iii. chap. IIVii 4.

Some of the inquiries in chap. xxviii. of Professor Nicholson's work

2. On the effect of an improvement in production on preign 00 trade

J. S. Mill has selected as a specially interesting case R the application of his theory the effect of an improvement in the production of an article in one of the two trading countries, and has discussed it (1) without using money, and then (2) by introducing a circulating medium.¹ B₹ each method he reaches the same conclusion, viz., that the improvement may be more beneficial to the other country than to that in which it takes place. He does not, indeed, affirm that a country can be injured by an improvement in respect to the production of an article of export. The proportion of benefit may be altered to its disadvantage, but notwithstanding a benefit remains.

This more advanced position has been occupied by Professor Edgeworth, who argues that "the improvement may prove detrimental to the exporting country," and adds that "the proposition is sufficiently supported by common sense."² In dealing with the same problem by the aid of prices Professor Nicholson reaches a different result, and attributes the conclusion that the exporting country may be injured to the assumption that it does not consume the article in which the improvement has taken place, while it continues to devote the same amount of labour as before to its production.³

In this conflict of competent opinion it is desirable to reconsider the matter from the old standpoint. Let us may be referred to as examples of this complication. But it is also true that no better exercise for the student of economics could be devised than a careful comparison of the two methods in regard to the problems discussed in the chapter in question, and no more competent guide than Professor Nicholson could be found.

¹ See J. S. Mill, Principles, book iii. chap. xviii. § 5, and chap. xxi. § 2.

Economic Journal, vol. iv. p. 40. Where the case of farmers gaining by a bad harvest is adduced as parallel.

* Principles, book iii. chap. xxvii. § 8; cp. also Edgeworth, Economic Journal, vol. ix, pp. 125-128.

suppose two countries A and B each producing the commodities x and y, A's unit of productive power yielding 10x or 20y, B's unit 10x or 15y. Under such condi-tions we may suppose that the ratio of exchange will be 10s: 16y; then, so far as the particular units are concerned. A will have as the outcome of foreign trade 10x + 24y, instead of 10x + 20y, and B will have 10x + 16y instead of 10x + 15y. A's demand is weaker than B's, and it gains the larger part of the advantage. Next let us follow Mill in assuming that A's productive power in respect to y increases by 50 per cent, then a unit of productive power will turn out 30y; and let us further assume that B's demand for y is quite inelastic, so that the terms of exchange become not 10x:16y, but 10x:29y. B now gets the greater part of the gain from foreign trade, and the position will be that A has 10x + 31y, B 10x + 29y (since 60y is the production of the two units in A). Still A is better off than before the improvement, or than it would be without foreign trade. If neither were in operation the total production would be 20x + 35y; foreign trade would raise it to 40y, the improvement without foreign trade would raise it to 45y, 30y being confined to A's consumption, while a surplus amount of 15y may be attributed to the joint effect of both agencies. Under such conditions A cannot lose by the improvement. But another case is possible. Instead of an increase of 50 per cent, let us suppose that it is only 10 per cent. Then A's output of y per unit will be 22; further, it may be that as B's demand is inelastic the ratio will be 10x: 21y. On these terms A will have 10x + 23y, and B 10x + 21y, so that B will have gained more than the improvement has given, and A will be somewhat injured. We are thus led to admit Professor Edgeworth's theoretical exception.

The difference between the two cases suggests a further point of interest. Where the gain from the improvement was greater than that from foreign trade, detriment to the country exporting the article now made cheaper was impossible. It is only where the benefit from im-

provement is smaller than the advantage of interchange that loss could result from it. Another circumstance to be remembered is that y is by the nature of the case an object of consumption in A, and that there is a gain of 10 per cent so far as that side of the matter is concerned. We have also attained this result by assuming a very peculiar condition of demand, viz., that in which B is a keen demander for a certain quantity of y, but a very feeble one for any additional amount. From 10x:16y to 10x:21y in consequence of a slight change in cost of production is an unusual movement. Still more important is the fact that in actual trade there are, not two countries and two commodities, but many countries and innumer-The demand of several countries able commodities. would be more elastic than that of one, while, on the side of supply, the improvement would at first strengthen the position of the exporting country against its competitors. These considerations show that the fear of loss in such a case is not a matter for practical apprehension.

The real interest of the case lies rather in its indication of the relation between increased foreign trade and other improvements, and as showing how each works in the same direction and is essentially of the same kind, though conceivably one may in a special case affect the other.¹

3. On the possible loss of population and wealth through removal of restrictions on foreign trade ²

Mr. Sidgwick has given the support of his high authority to the proposition that free-trade may lead to displacement of labour, and even maintains that a community may lose, not only population, but wealth, by the abandonment of protection. He puts forward as an

¹ For an instructive attempt to measure the comparative influence of removal of restrictions on trade and improvements in transport see Gladstone, "Free Trade, Railways and the Growth of Commerce," Nineteenth Century, February, 1880.

² See *supra*, pp. 160-162.

illustration what he very justly describes as "an extreme case," which may best be given in his own words :---

"Suppose a country (A) so thickly populated that additional agricultural produce could not be obtained from the soil except at a rapidly increasing expense, and suppose that one-third of its actual produce of this kind-say, for brevity, its corn-is - now consumed by the persons engaged in its chief branches of manufacture. Suppose that the country, having been strictly protected, adopts free-trade, and that consequently the manufactures in question are obtained at half the price from another country (B) in exchange for corn; and for simplicity let us assume that the result of the fall in price is that the same total price is paid for the manufactures usually consumed. What, then, are the manufacturing labourers thrown out of work by the change to do 1 The course most obviously suggested by the circumstances is that they should emigrate and supply the labour required in the extended manufactures of B, or in the newly-developed trade between A and B. If they do not do this there seems no general ground for assuming that they will all be able to find employment in A as remunerative as that withdrawn from them. No doubt as the cost of production in agriculture may be assumed to increase continuously, a certain amount of additional labour may now be employed in agriculture which will be more productive on the whole than some of the labour employed before the trade was opened, the diminution in the amount of corn produced by each new labourer being more than balanced by the increased power of the corn to purchase manufactures. But if the additional labour is only applicable at a rapidly increasing cost, the point will very soon come at which this balance will be reversed, and it is theoretically quite possible that a portion of the labourers thrown out of manufacturing employment could not, in the present condition of industry, be employed in A in agriculture, so as to yield any surplus above their own consumption. And if they could not be profitably employed in agriculture, it is theoretically possible that they could not be so employed at all"1

The foregoing case suggests several points of interest. It is, as Mr. Sidgwick says, "an improbable one," since a

Principles, pp. 497, 498.

country where the law of diminishing return operates so powerfully is far more likely to import than to export agricultural products. Still there are such countries— Ireland in the early part of this century was probably one -and there can be no doubt that under the assumed conditions foreign trade, leading to an extension of cultivation, may lower the return to agricultural industry. and so far injure the labouring class. Against this disadvantage we must set the addition to rent from the descent of the margin of cultivation, and the reduced cost of imported goods. The fact that by the opening of a foreign trade the country A exports food lends further plausibility to the contention that its population may thus be diminished. But these considerations are, it seems, disposed of by a closer investigation of the features of the case as stated above. The essential condition for international trade is a difference in comparative cost; but if the corn of country A so rapidly increases in cost as additional amounts are required, it seems plain that the difference in the costs of production of corn and manufactures in A and B will diminish and finally disappear, at which point, the utility of the trade ceasing, the trade itself will cease. Should the cost of producing corn still go on increasing, the state of things will be reversed, and A will export manufactures and import corn. Until the trade ceases there will be some gain or utility derived from it, though, as previously shown, particular classes may suffer. Another interesting point which is entirely unnoticed by Mr. Sidgwick is the probable effect produced by the previous "protection" on the population of country By it—assuming that the product of each labourer is A. the same in value-a tax of over 16 per cent, has been levied on the population, i.e. manufactures form one-thirdof their expenditure, and are doubled in price, and levied too on articles of which they stand in need, since all the funds set free by the removal of the 100 per cent duty are devoted to buying the increased supplies of these very commodities. Therefore it cannot be doubted that were

labour able to move freely from A to B, the policy of protection would place a premium on the emigration of agricultural labour from A. Indeed, Mr. Sidgwick's case derives its force principally from the tacit assumption that the introduction of free-trade also creates a previously non-existent mobility of labour and capital. Unless this assumption be made, we are forced to believe that the "protected" country A would suffer in population by a restrictive policy-unless its resources were so far superior to country B, that cost of living in spite of "protection" would be lower than in B.¹ A further consequence, resulting from the supposed adoption of free-trade, which is not referred to in Mr. Sidgwick's discussion, is the effect produced on the agriculture of R. The opening of trade between A and B, if it displaces manufactures in the former, must so far displace agriculture in the latter. Even admitting that the manufacturers in A emigrato to B, the conditions of cost will be such as to make the export of agricultural produce to B profitable, and this produce will dislodge an equal amount of the produce of B. so that some of its agriculturists will be compelled to emigrate to A, and will find more advantageous employment in that country, i.e. until the rapidly increasing cost of production removes this advantage, when trade will cease.²

It therefore appears that, even in this "extreme" and improbable case, the effect of free-trade in reducing population cannot be established on theoretical grounds, while in practice no such illustration is to be found. Perhaps the condition of Ireland between 1825 and 1845 is the nearest approach to an actual illustration of the supposed case, since it exported food and imported other articles, with practicably complete free-trade in existence between it and Great Britain. Yet, during that period, its popu-

¹ In which case it would not lose population by the adoption of free-trade.

* Prof. Edgeworth (*Economic Journal*, vol. vii. p. 402) remarks that this "is not a very popular argument in favour of free-trade." The natural reply is, "It was not meant to be such." lation was rapidly increasing, and decline did not set in until the adoption of free-trade in corn by England removed its special advantage in the English market, and altered the nature of the commodities demanded.

In criticising the foregoing remarks Professor Edgeworth¹ has raised some points of such high importance for the true interpretation of the theory of foreign trade, that a brief consideration of them will probably be the best means for gaining additional light on the matter.

(1) To the objection urged above (p. 189), that Mr. Sidgwick's contention is inconsistent with the possibility of readjustment under the conditions of comparative cost, Professor Edgeworth rejoins: "I am unable to interpret the first objection consistently with my idea of the case. I had imagined a landed interest employing the portion of the agricultural produce not consumed by the owners and cultivators in the purchase of manufactures from a landless class. On the opening of trade the landed interest transfer their custom to the manufacturers in B, and the manufacturers in A are left to starve or emigrate." The obvious comment on this definite statement is, that it describes a conception of economic organisation very different from that adopted in the present work. In place of a landed and a landless class, it appears more in accordance. with the conditions of the case to imagine a society composed of landlords, capitalists, and labourers, some of the two latter sections engaged in agriculture, others in manufactures. On the introduction of free-trade in A, which brings in cheaper manufactures, the manufacturers in A neither "starve" nor "emigrate"; they transfer their labour and capital to agriculture, in which there is, ex hypothesi, an opening, as food will be required for export to B in payment for the imported manufactures. Under the assumed conditions rent in A will rise, and so will the cost of agricultural production, until the point at which there is no difference in the comparative costs in the two countries is attained. At this point, again, the view of the situation taken in the

¹ Economic Journal, vol. vii. pp. 401, 402.

present work differs from that of Professor Edgeworth, for if, as has been stated above (p. 15), a difference in comparative cost is the essential condition for the maintenance of foreign trade, the absence of that condition involves the cessation of the trade¹ which is dependent on it. Otherwise, it would be impossible to understand how the export of agricultural products changes, as under a further development it would do, into the export of manufactures.

The passage in Torrens's Production of Wealth referred to by Professor Edgeworth tends to confirm the view taken above, for Torrens assumes that agriculture has reached its limit of production, and affords no field for additional capital. He thus avoids the difficulty that besets Mr. Sidgwick's case, though his hypothesis is, as Professor Edgeworth justly remarks, a "wooden" one.²

A second important matter is the influence of "friction." On the general principle there is happily agreement. But it is not altogether easy to see why the condition of friction should make it comparatively easy for artisans to migrate from A to B, but practically impossible for them to pass into agriculture in A, or for agricultural labourers to migrate from B to A. In dealing with such problems we may either leave friction out of account altogether, or consider it as it actually operates. It can hardly be admissible to specially assume the action of certain forms of friction to support an hypothesis in which the action of those particular forms has not been explicitly postulated.

The net result then is, that Professor Edgeworth's discussion has helped to bring out the essential points at issue more clearly than before, but has not in any way shaken the position taken up in the former edition of this work.

¹ This is certainly the doctrine of Ricardo, J. S. Mill, and Cairnes.

² It is worthy of note that Torrens's theory is really derived from the protectionist idea that home trade employs two capitals, foreign trade only one, on which see The Commerce of Nations, pp. 151, 152.

Macmillan & Co.'s List of Works

Political and Social Economy

London

MACMILLAN AND CO., LIMITED NEW YORK: THE MACMILLAN COMPANY



INDEX

NAME			PAGE
Ashley, W. I.			II
Bacon, N. T.			
Banker's Daughter, A			. 15, 18
Barnett, Edith A.			40
Bastable, C. F.	• •	•	3
Böhm-Bawerk, Eugen V	7.		
Boissevain, G. M.			
Bonar, James	•		
Booth, Charles			. 41,42
Bosanquet, Bernard	•		42,49
" Mrs. Bernard	d		. 43
Bruce, Philip A.			. Ğ
Bruce, T. Boston			. 28
Cairnes, J. E.		•	. 6.7
Cantillon, R.			7
Chalmers, M. D.			40
Clare, George			
Clarke, C. B.			8
Commons, John R.			
Cossa, Luigi			
Cournot. A.			
Davenport. Herbert. I.			IQ
De Rousiers, Paul			II
De Tourville, Henri			II
Durand, E. Dana			40
Drage. Geoffrey			44
Devine, E. T.			50
Dver. Henry			
Louis	<u>^</u>	1	Q
Edgcumbe, Sir Robert	P		(
Edgeworth, F. Y.			I2.50
Farrer, Right Hon, Lord	1.		1
Fawcett, Right Hon, Ho	enry		
Millicent Garr	ett		14.15
Fisher. I.			17
Fonda, Arthur I.			16
Foxwell, H. S.			23.26
Giddings, Franklin H.			16. 17. 49
Goldie, John			44
Goschen, Right Hon, Ge	eorge I.		17
Graham. James			20, 21
Gunton, George			8
Halle, Ernst von			10
Helm, Elijah)	
Herbertson, F. L. D.			
Higgs, Henry			12, 20, 50
	• •		

INDEX, continued

NAME							2 .56 8
Hill, Octavia	•	•	٠	•	•		45
Hooper, Frederick .	•	•	•	•	•	•	20, 21
Howell, George		•	٠	•	•		21, 22
Huxley, T. H.		•	٠	•	•	•	45
Jevons, W. Stanley	•	•	•	•	••	•	22, 23
Jones, Richard	•	•	•	•	•	•	12
Keltie, J. Scott	•	•	•	•		•	24
Keynes, John Neville	•	•	•	•	• •	•	- 24
Kidd, Benjamin	•	•	•	•	• •	٠	45,49
Malloch, Christian A.	•	•	•	•	٠	•	39
Malthus, T. R.	٠	•	٠	•	• •	•	11, 12
Marshall, Alfred	•	•	•	•	•	25,	, 20, 29
Mayo-Smith, R.	•	•	•	*	•	•	40
Menger, Anton .	•	•	•	•	•	•	20
M039, F. J.	٠	•	•	*	•	•	27
Mun, Thomas	· .•	•	•	•	• •	•	12
New Zealand Colonist	, Л	•	•	•	•	•	27
Odgers, W. B.	•	•	•	•	•	•	49
Palgrave, R. H. Inglis	•	•	•	•	•	•	27
Pantaleoni, Matteo	•	•	٠	•	**	•	28
l'earson, Charles H.	•	•	•	•	•	•	40
Plehn, Carl C.	•	, •	•	•	•	•	23
ITICE, L. L. F. K.	•		•	•	•	•	- 29
Quarterly Journal of E	conon	nics, 1ne	٠	•	٠	· •	50
Quesnay, François	•	•	•	. •	•	٠	30
Rabbeno, Ugo	٠	•	•	٠	•	•	30
Kac, john	•	•	·	•	•	•	31
Renwick, I. P. A.	•	•	•	•	•	•	24
Ricardo, David	.•	•	•	•	•	•	II
Kichmond, Mary E.		•	•	•	•	•	50
Salmon, Lucy Maynard	1.	•	•	•	•	• •	47
Schmoller, Gustav	•	•	•	•	•	•	12
Seligman, F., K. A.	•	•	•	•	· • •	•	32, 50
Sugwick, Henry	•	•	•	•	•		32
Smart, William	• `	•	•	•	•	4, 33,	39.49
Smith, Adam	•	• •	•	•	•	•	11
Stanley, Maude	•	•	•	٠	•	•	47
Tanner, M. E.	•	•	•	•	•	•	20
720391g, F. W.	٠	•	•	•	•	•	34
Lurgot	•	•	•	•	٠	•	12
Walker, Francis A.	·	•	•	•	•	35	· 30• 37
Wallace, Alired Russel	•	•	•	• •	•	^ e	38
ward, Lester F.	•	•	•	•	•••	•	42
wicksteed, Fhilip H.	•	•	• 1	·	•	•	38
wieser, Friedrich von	•	•	•	• •	• •	•	39
WHOUGHDY, W. W.	•	• •	•	•	•	٠	3 2
wrizon, Sir Henry	٠	•	•	•	٠	•	43

POLITICAL ECONOMY

Public Finance. By C. F. BASTABLE, M.A., LL.D., Professor of Political Economy in the University of Dublin. Second Edition. 8vo. Price 125. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The subjects of the six books into which the work is divided are: Public Expenditure—Public Revenue (including the Economic or Quasi-private Receipts, the Principles of Taxation, and the several kinds of Taxes)—The Relations of Expenditure and Receipts—Financial Administration and Control.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES .- Professor Bastable writes throughout lucidly, sensibly, and temperately.

THE SCOTSMAN.---It will be welcomed by students of Political Science everywhere, and not a few men more or less prominent in political or municipal life will find instruction and warning in its pages.

THE MORNING POST.—An exceedingly valuable manual, both for the student and the statesman.

The Theory of International Trade with some of its Applications to Economic Policy. By C. F. BASTABLE, M.A., LL.D. etc.

Second Edition, revised. Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net.

As the book is specially intended for serious students of Economic Theory, the principles of the subject are primarily considered. The chapter-headings are as follows:—General Features of International Trade—Theory of International Values—Money in International Trade—Equation of Indebtedness—Foreign Exchanges—Influence of Foreign Trade on the Internal Distribution of Wealth—Taxation for Revenue in its Effects on Foreign Trade—Rationale of Free Trade— Arguments for Protection—Migration of Labour, and Capital —History of the Theory—On some Counter-Theories.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL.—The second edition of this work maintains the high position which had been won by the first edition—that of the best manual on the most difficult part of Economics. THE SPEAKER.—Should be in the hands of all our younger, ay, and of some

THE SPEAKER.—Should be in the hands of all our younger, ay, and of some of our older men in commerce and in politics. THE WESTMINSTER REVIEW.—As a clear and forcible statement of the

THE WESTMINSTER REFLEW.—As a clear and forcible statement of the comparative merits of Free-trade and Protection, this little book could not be bettered.

L'ECONOMISTA.-- È indubbiamente una delle migliori operette sulla vessata questione del commercio internazionale.

Capital and Interest : A critical Ilistory of Economical Theory. By EUGER V. BOHM-BAWERE, Counsellor in the Austrian Ministry of Finance, and Honorary Professor of Political Economy in the University of Vienna, Translated by W. SMART, Professor of Political Economy in the University of Glasgow.

8vo. Price 129. net.

CONTENTS

The subjects dealt with in this volume are: The Problem of Interest-The Development of the Problem-The Pro-ductivity Theories-The Use Theories-The Abstinence Theory-The Labour Theories-The Exploitation Theory; and various minor systems. Dr. Böhm-Bawerk's own Theory of Interest is fully set forth in the author's later work, "The Positive Theory of Capital," but the essence of it is suggested in the present book.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ACADEMT.—In a remarkable article on the Austrian Economists, which was recently contributed to The Quarterly Journal of Economics by bis. James Bonar, he alluded to "the forthcoming work of Bohm-Bawerk," as one to which the leaders of an influential school looked hopefully for new light. The expected volume has now come forth, and appears to justify the announcements which heralded its advent. It makes some additions to the number of those general ideas which it is the part of the economist to win from an analysis of human affairs. These appropriate conceptions are expressed with peculiar clearness. . . From his immense store of general learning, he winnows out those attributes which seem to him most neeful. These may be described as corre-sponding wretty closely to the results obtained by Professor Bidgwick. . . . One sponding pretty closely to the results obtained by Professor Sidgwick. . . One of the topics on which much new light is thrown is the relation between the cost of production, and the consumers' demand as factors determining value. . . . The general theory of supply and domand is applied with effect to the particular case of the labour market. The discussion is masterly. . . . Of the two subjects which the double title covers, the nature of capitalization in general, and the determination of interest in the régime of competitions it is difficult to say of

which the treatment is more original and profound, THE ST. JAMES'S GAZETIE.—Mr. Smart's translation leaves little to be desired. We can confidently recommend this first volume to students who feel interest in its subject.

Positive Theory of Capital. By Professor The Translated by Professor W. EUGEN V. BOHM-BAWERK. SMART.

8vo. Price 12s. net.

CONTENTS

This volume completes the work begun in the author's "Capital and Interest." It is divided into seven books, the titles of which are : The Nature and Conception of Capital-Capital as an Instrument of Production-Value-Price-Present and Future-The Source of Interest-The Rate of Interest. "The heavy part of 'The Positive Theory of

Capital' lies," says the author, "in the Theory of Interest. In the other parts of the subject I was able, at least on the whole, to follow in the footsteps of previous theorists, but for the phenomena of Interest I had to put forward an explanation which breaks entirely new ground.",

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—Mr. Smart has done his work excellently. His preface, analytical digest, and the actual translation are all admirable. We have to thank him for rendering accessible to English students a treatise which is certainly well worth attention as a specimen of contemporary continental thought, and which, although its central theory is based, as the author frankly avows, upon certain ideas of Jevons, has carried those ideas further and given them a special application.

them a special application. THE MANCHESTER GUARDIAN.—Will not only secure general attention if not universal acceptance—for Prof. Böhm-Bawerk's theory, but will increase the growing admiration which is held in this country for the Austrian school. of political economists. Mr. Smart's translation deserves much more than conventional praise. His work is capitally done.

The Monetary Situation in 1897. By A. M. BOISSEVAIN. Translated from the Dutch. Svo. Sewed. Price 25. net.

CONTENTS

The Presidential Election in the United States in 1896— The Situation in Europe—Bimetallism.

OPINION OF THE PRESS

LABOUR CO-PARTNERSHIP.—Mr. Bolssevain, a Dutch Economist, sets forth his views of the actual state of affairs produced by the use of silver for a standard of value in some countries and of gold in others. This book gives much up to date information, and deserves to be read by all who have already mastered the first elements of the subject.

Malthus and his Work. By JAMES BONAR, M.A., Balliol College, Oxford.

8vo. Price 12s. 6d.

CONTENTS : :

This work is divided into five books, the first of which deals with the genesis, history, and contents of the "Essay on Population," while the second book treats of various aspects of economic theory. The next two books are on the moral and political philosophy of Malthus and on his critics; and the fifth book presents a sketch of the philosopher's career.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE SPECTATOR.—He has done his work of interpreting Malthus to the present generation extremely well. THE ST. JAMES'S GAZETTE.—Mr. Bonar has performed a useful service to

THE ST. JAMES'S GAZETTE.—Mr. Bonar has performed a useful service to students of political economy in presenting them with this careful account of the life and teaching of Malthus. Mr. Bonar writes with a thorough knowledge of the economist he is expounding.

Economic History of Virginia in the Seventeenth Century: An Inquiry into the Material Condition of the People, based upon Original and Contemporaneous Records, By PHILIP ALEXANDER BRUCE.

In two Volumes. 8vo. Price 25s. net.

CONTENTS

A bibliography of literature relating to the subject is included in the work. The general subject falls under the following heads:—Economic Condition—Social Life—Religious Establishment and Moral Influences—Education—Military Regulations—Administration of Justice—Political System.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ENGLISH HISTORICAL REFIEIT.—Mr. Bruce licks almost austerely to the business-like side of his subject; yet he wholly saves himself from duiness by the directness and force of his style, the remarkable skill with which he has arranged his heterogeneous material, and above all the clearness with which he sees and brings out the relations between the early economical condition of Virginia and wider historical issues consected therewith.

THE GUARDIAN.—We have here an excellent piece of historical work apon a subject of considerable interest. . . He has accumulated a great deal of material, and while it is large readable. THE SATURDAY REFIEW.—We heartily recommend this book to all in-

THE SATURDAY REVIEW.—We heartily recommend this book to all interested in the history of the seventeenth century. It gives every sign of laborious and thorough research. It shows that Mr. Bruce knows what are the matters which historians and economists are most interested in elucidating.

Some Leading Principles of Political Economy newly Expounded. By J. E. CAIRNES, M.A., LL.D., Emeritus Professor of Political Economy in University College, London.

8vo. Price 14s.

CONTENTS

The Parts into which this work is divided are: Value-Labour and Capital—and International Trade. The author's aim was to strengthen and add consistence to the fabric built up by the labours of Adam Smith, Malthus, Ricardo, and Mill. The book is generally regarded as in some respects one of the landmarks in the history of Political Economy in this country.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS.

THE TIMES.—Containing his most valuable and original contributions to Economie Science. . . What strikes the reader is the power with which the anthor always keeps before himself the facts and operations which are symbolized or represented by the words he uses.

or represented by the words he uses. THE DAILT NEWS.—Such a work as this cannot be too widely read; it is a masterpiece of its kind, and is one for which Prof. Coirnes merits ous warmest thanks.

The Character and Logical Method of Political Economy. By J. E. CAIRNES, M.A., LL.D., etc. Second Edition. Crown 8vo. Price 6s.

CONTENTS

The substance of this book consists of lectures delivered originally in Dublin. The author's aim is to state the character of Political Economy as conceived by the great masters of the science, and to deduce the logical method appropriate to the investigation of its principles. His conclusions are fortified by the analogy of the method which in the physical sciences has been fruitful of such remarkable results. The lectures embrace the following subjects: — Introductory: Political Economy —Of the Mental and Physical Premises of Political Economy and on the Logical Character of the Doctrines thence deduced —Of the Logical Method of Political Economy—Of the Solution of an Economic Problem, and of the Degree of Perfection of which it is susceptible—Of the Place and Purpose of Definition in Political Economy—Of the Malthusian Doctrine of Population—Of the Theory of Rent.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—The most powerful and exact of our recent political economists. ... These vigorous and exhaustive essays, as remarkable for the energetic style in which they are written, as for the firmness of the author's grasp of his subjects.

Subjects. THE WESTMINSTER REFIEID.—The book may be recommended to students **as a safe** guide to them through the mazy labyrinths which the earlier stages of the study present. . . The whole inquiry is instructive in the strictest sense of the term, as every illustration selected by the author-is itself fruitful in Information.

Essai sur Le Commerce. By RICHARD CANTILLON. Reprinted for Harvard University. 12mo. Price 7s. net.

CARL NO.

CONTENTS

A. 1.

This is a reprint of the "Essai sur la Nature du Commerce en Général," written between 1730 and 1734 by Richard Cantillon, a natural-born British subject, of the family of Cantillon of Ballyheigue, co. Kerry: It was originally written in English, and translated by the author in its present form for the use of a French friend. Jevons calls the work the first treatise on economics, and it is one of the few books to which Adam Smith refers.

The A. B. C. of the Foreign Exchanges: A Practical Guide. By GRORGE CLARE, Author of "A Money-Market Primer." With diagrams.

Crown 8vo. Price 3s. net.

CONTENTS

What the ordinary man of business wants in a book on this subject is, as the author points out, " a theory so stated and so illustrated as to be capable of being easily adapted to actual use." Mr. Clare has endeavoured therefore to "render his exposition as practical as possible," and has "aimed at plain directness of statement, in order that he who runs may read, and, reading, understand." His subject is treated as follows : -The Theory of Exchanges-England Draws few Bills, but Accepts many-The Par of Exchange-The Rise and Fall of the Exchange-Gold-Points-The London Course of Exchange -The Terminology of the Exchanges-The Arithmetic of the Exchanges-Foreign Bills in the Home Currency-The Long Exchange-Fluctuations of the Exchanges-The Continental Investment-Demand for London Paper-The Money-Market and the Gold-Exchanges-The Paris Exchange-The Berlin Exchange-The New York Exchange-The Silver Exchanges-The Paper Exchanges.

. OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE YOURNAL OF THE INSTITUTE OF BANKERS.—Mr. Clare writes in a bacid style, and leaves upon the mind of the reader the impression that his knowledge is the outcome of a long practical training in the very operation be describes.

THE OBSERVER.-The characteristics of this little book are simplicity and clearness-the highest qualities which a volume on this subject can possess.

THE TIMES.—A very lucid, accurate, and instructive account of the practical mechanism of the money market. . . . In all essential respects, mereover, the lectures are lucid, accurate, and laudably free from economical or financial beresy.

Speculations from Political Economy. By C. B. CLARKE, F.R.S.

Crown Svo. Price 3s. 6d.

CONTENTS

Nine articles are included in this volume, the object of which is rather to stimulate independent thought than to work out suggestions in detail. The subjects are: Efficiency of Labour-Reciprocity and Retaliation-Universal Free Trade -The Ransom of the Land-Making the Most of our Land -Free Trade in Railways-Reform in Land Law-Equalising of Taxation-The Wealth of the Nation.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE SPECTATOR.-Mr. Clarke's is an interesting volume.

"THE SYDNEY MORNING MERALD.—it contains a good deal of felicitonslyexpressed thought, and not a little novelty. . . . Mr. Clarke's book will repay perusal, even by those conversant with the works of the great economists.

The Distribution of Wealth. By John R. COMMONS, Professor of Economics and Social Science, Indiana University. Crown 8vo. Price 7s. net.

CONTENTS

The author does not attempt to give in this volume a complete history and criticism of theories of Distribution. He has endeavoured to "cut a straight line through a tangled jungle, and to give merely a glimpse into the maze of conflicting opinions." He begins with a chapter on Value, Price, and Cost, and this is followed by chapters on the Factors in Distribution, on Diminishing Returns and Rent, and on Diminishing Returns and Distribution. A chapter on Statistical Data, and a concluding chapter, complete the volume. Ample references are given to the authorities on the various departments of the subject.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE PALL MALL GAZETTE .- Professor Commons' little book is an excellent specimen of careful and thoughtful work. He is at once clear and instructive.... There is a freshness in his treatment of the well-worn topic of wealth-distribution which is enviable and not too prevalent. THE MANCHESSER GUARDIAN.—The author has laid under contribution not only, the Austrians but also the rising school of American economists, and

the result is an extremely useful and suggestive book on this branch of economic science.

An Introduction to the Study of Political Economy. By LUIGI COSSA, Professor in the Royal University of Pavia. Revised by the Author, and translated from the Italian by LOUIS DYER, M.A., Balliol College, Oxford. Crown 8vo. Price 8s. 6d. net.

12 4

CONTENTS

The original work, of which this is a translation, is the third edition of Professor Cossa's well-known "Guide to the Study of Political Economy," which was translated and published in England and America some years ago at the suggestion and under the auspices of the late Professor Jevons. The third edition was in reality a completely new book, and the present rendering of it has been enriched by the author with important changes and valuable additions. The work is divided into two parts: the Theory and the History of Political Aconomy.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES .- Its great merit consists in its comprehensive historical survey of the progress and present condition of economical science in Europe, in England, and the United States, and in the sound, temperate and instructive judgment which Professor Cossa brings to that survey. It is full of substance, and the translation is skilfully executed. THE DAILY NEWS .-- As a survey, both concise and far reaching, of the

literature of political eronomy, Signor Cossa's brok, which has been translated. from the Italian by Mr. Louis Dyer, of Balliol College, Oxford, is without a

rival. THE WESTMINSTER GAZETTE.-Professor Cossa has done what has not, to our knowledge, been done before, and has done is well. The book is a mine of knowledge.

Researches into the Mathematical Principles of the Theory of Wealth, by AUGUSTIN COURNOT, see Economic Classics Series, page 12.

Outlines of Economic History. By HERBERT JOSEFIE DAVENFORT.

8vo. Price 8s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

Compiled by the writer to assist him in class-room work, this treatise should appeal equally to the student and general reader. Questions bearing on the discussions are given at the conclusion of the sections, which are divided according to the following headings --Wealth-Economic Motive-Value-Cost of Production-Wages and Profits defined-Rent-Population-Capital and Interest-Wages, Profits and Distribution-Minor Market Movements-International Trade-Combination and Monopoly-Trades-Unions-Taxation-Currency-Value of Money-Gresham's Law-International Trade and Currency-Commercial Crises-Tariff Taxes and Prices-EconoMics As ART: The Competitive System-Co-operation and Profit-sharing-State and Municipal Ownership-Social Functions-Population and National Survival-Fashion-Taxation-Eight-hour Day-Apprentices -Sweating System-Labour of Women and Children-Non-Employment-Currency.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

COMMERCE.-As a profound study it is laborious, subtle and exhaustive leaving as jittle more to be said as any previous writer has ever left his pages throughout indicate careful thought.

THE SCOTSMAN.-Throughout the method of expanition is clear and forcible, and the conclusions arrived at are sound. It should prove a useful text-book.

Outlines of Elementary Economics. By HERBERT J. DAVENPORT.

8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

As in the foregoing work of the author, the present text-book is supplied with copions questions at the conclusion of each chapter, so arranged as to adapt the book to the use of all students of elementary Economics in whatever grade of advancement. The following is the list of chapters:—The Scope of Science—Man and Environment—Utility and Wealth—The Factors in Production: Wages, Profits, Rents, and Interest—Value—Cost of Production—Rent of Land— Interest—Wages and Distribution—Population—Money— The Competitive System—Population, Rent; and Socialism— Some Current Questions—Taxation—Consumption, Standards of Life, Fashion.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—There are few better introductions to economics than this unpretentious volume, which is popular without being superficial, and which brings the student into contact with real questions instead of plunging him into the darkness of verbal discussions.

THE SPEAKER.-This is a useful introduction to economic theory.

The Labour Question in Britain. By PAUL DE ROU-SIERS, Author of "American Life"; with a Preface by HENRI DE TOURVILLE. Translated by F. L. D. HERBERTSON, B.A.

8vo. Price 12s. net.

OPINION OF THE PRESS

THE SPECTATOR.—After mentioning this book in the same sentence with Herodotus, to say that it is intensely interesting would be a ridiculous anticlimax. It is hard to imagine a more pleasant sense of relief than the feeling experienced when one opens a ponderous tome entitled "The Labour Question in Great Britain," only to find that it contains a series of interviews with employers, foremen, labourers and their wives, with all the details of their surroundings and conditions sketched in a few skilful strokes. . . The writer deserves our thanks for many interesting facts that are neglected by the ordinary inquirer, and for a suggestive theory lucidly worked out.

The Finances of New York City. By EDWARD DANA DURAND, PH.D., late Legislative Librarian in the New York State Library, Assistant Professor of Economics and Administration, Leland Stanford, Jr., University.

Crown 8vo. Price 7s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

PART 1. The Early City—Council Government under the Charter of 1830—The Period of Legislative Interference—The Tweed Ring.

PART II. Assessment of Taxation—Special Assessments —City Property and Franchises—The Budget and City Expenditures—The City Debt—Audit, Account, and Financial Responsibility.

Dictionary of Political Economy. See page 27. The Economic Classics Series. Edited by W. J. ASHLEY.

Globe 8vo. Price 3s. net per vol. Select Chapters and Passages from the "Wealth of Nations" of Adam Smith, 1776.

THE FIRST SIX CHAPTERS OF THE "PRINCIPLES OF POLITICAL ECONOMY AND TAXATION" OF DAVID RICARDO, 1817. 3 3

PARALLEL CHAPTERS FROM THE FIRST AND SECOND EDITIONS OF AN ESSAY ON THE PRINCIPLE OF POPULATION. By T. R. MALTHUS, 1798-1803.

ENGLAND'S TREASURE BY FORRAIGN TRADE. BY THOMAS MUN, 1064.

PEASANT RENTS. Being the first half of an Essay on the Distribution of Wealth and on the Sources of Taxation. By RICHARD JONES (1831).

THE MERCANTILE SYSTEM AND ITS HISTORICAL SIGNIFI-CANCE. Illustrated chiefly from Prussian history. Being a chapter from the "Studien ueber die Wirthschaltliche Politik Friedrichs des Grossen." By GUSTAV SCHMOLLER, 1884.

RESEARCHES INTO THE MATHEMATICAL PRINCIPLES OF THE THEORY OF WEALTH. By AUGUSTIN COURNOT, 1838. Translated by NATHANIEL T. BACON, with a Bibliography of Mathematical Economics by IRVING FISHER.

REFLECTIONS ON THE FORMATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF RICHES. By TURGOT, 1770.

Forthcoming volumes will include subjects from the works of Child, Roscher, Brentano, Wagner, etc., etc.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES .- The useful series of Economic Classics.

THE DAILY NEWS .- The series of handy volumes of Economic Classics, THE SPEAKER .- Admirably edited, and we think they will meet a real, and

not an imaginary want. THE BUSTUN LITERART WORLD,-The convenience and value of such

doctrine of the fathers of Economic Science in compact shape, so as to serve as a preparatory course to young students. If used aright, as introductory to the study of the subject and as stimulative aids to beginners, the series cannot but prove nactul.

Journal. The Journal of the British The Economic Economic Association. Edited by Professor F. Y. EDGEworth and HENRY HIGGS. Published quarterly.

8vo. Parts, price 5s. net each. Part I., April 1891.

Volumes, Price 21s. net each. Cloth covers for binding volumes, 1s. 6d. net each.

The Quarterly Journal of Economics. Published for Harvard University.

Royal 8vo. Price 2s. 6d. net per part.

Vol. II. Parts II., III., and IV., price 2s. 6d. net per part.

Vol. III .- XI., each vol. consisting of 4 parts, price 2s. 6d. net per part.

Vol. XII. Parts I. and II., price 25. 6d. net per part. Second R. R. W.
Popular Fallacies regarding Bimetallism. By Sir ROBERT P. EDGCUMBE, Bart.

> Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net. EXTRACT FROM PREFACE

"I have selected the leading current phrases, made use of by those who are opposed to the restoration of the joint standard of currency. These phrases embody the arguments monometallists rely upon, in their endeavour to maintain the existing monetary anarchy, and each of these arguments is examined in turn upon its merits. In putting to the test these several monometallist fallacies, I have striven to be concise, to use language clear and simple to those who have not made a study of economic writings, and to base the principle of a. common and stable currency upon reason rather than upon the passing conditions of trade and commerce."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS"

THE YOURNAL OF FINANCE.-Smites hip and thigh the upholders of the so-called monometallic currency. The method adopted is a very telling one, consisting as it does of selecting the current phrases made use of by those opposed to the restoration of the joint standard of currency and demonstrating their inherent absurdity. . . . A clear and convincing style. *THE NATIONAL REVIEW.*—An admirable performance.

THE MANCHESTER GUARDIAN.-It is marked by a freshness of tone which . will be appreciated even by those on both sides of the controversy."

Studies in Currency, 1898; or, Inquiries into Certain Modern Problems connected with the Standard of By the RIGHT HON. Value and the Media of Exchange. LORD FARRER.

Demy 8vo. Price 12s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The essays of this volume are chiefly on subjects connected with the questions of Bimetallism. Their principal object is to show how our system of currency works under the modern and ever-changing economic conditions. The subjects are as follows:-The Measure of Value and the Metallic Currency-England's Adoption of the Gold Standard-Bimetallism and Legal Tender-Gold, Credit, and Prices-The Quantitative Theory of Money and Prices-Bimetallism and the Foreign Exchanges—Has the Gold Standard made rich men richer and industrious men poorer ?-The Weakness of Bimetallism and the Folly of a Conference-Shall we Degrade our Standard of Value?-Wanted, a Ratio-Bimetallism and the Indian Mints-Closing of the Indian Mints-Fall in the value of Silver-The Currencies of the World. APPENDICES: Table showing production of Gold and Silver since beginning of 16th Century-Diagram showing Relative Value of Gold and Silver since beginning of 16th Century-Diagram showing Relative Gold Value of the Rupee, and of Silver since closing of Indian Mints.

Manual of Political Economy. By the late RIGHT HON. HENRY FAWCETT, M.P., D.C.L., F.R.S., Fellow of Trinity Hall, and Professor of Political Economy in the University of Cambridge.

Seventh Edition. Crown 8vo. Price 12s.

CONTENTS

This well-known book has for many years ranked among the classical works on Political Economy. The author does not profess to discuss all economic doctrines in full detail, but no important branch of the subject is omitted, so that the student has an opportunity of obtaining "a tolerably complete view of the whole science." The seventh edition was prepared by Mrs. Fawcett in accordance with Professor Fawcett's methods. Nothing on which a difference of opinion could exist was altered, but the editor brought all the facts and figures up to date, discarding such illustrations as seemed to be obsolete, and verifying the facts on which the arguments are based by reference to leading authorities on the various topics touched upon.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE DAILY NEWS.—A work which, is some important respects, is better calsulated than any that have gone before it to interest the largest number of minds in political economy, and lay a bread, firm basis for the further study of the science. . . . For several reasons we should like to see Mr. Fawcett's volume very widely diffused.

volume very widely diffused. I BE MURVING POST-BIT. Fawcett has condensed within a single volume ' of moderate size, a full outline of political sconomy, and by means of the familiar exposition of the fundamental principles of the science has much facilitated its study.

Essays and Lectures on Social and Political Subjects. By HENRY FAWCETT, M.P., Professor of Political Economy in the University of Cambridge; and MILLICENT GARRETT FAWCETT.

8vo. Price 10s. 6d.

CONTENTS

This volume includes part of a course of lectures delivered by Professor Fawcett at Cambridge in 1872 on the Programme of the International Society economically considered. The lectures and essays, of which the latter have appeared in various journals and periodicals, are upon the following subjects :--Modern Socialism-General Aspects of State Intervention-Free Education in its Economic Aspects-Pauperism, Charity and the Poor Law-Regulation of the Hours of Labour by the State-National Debts and Prosperity-Agricultural Labourers-Education of Girls-Education of Women-Electoral Disabilities of Women-Why Women require

Franchise-House of Lords-An American on Representation —Proportional Representation and Hare's Scheme explained,

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE DAILY NEWS.—In every respect a work of note and value. . . They give expression to their views with great calmness and clearness. . . They will all repay the perusal of the thinking reader. . . We can commend the earnestness of tone, and the freedom from heat and prejudice; by which their writings are characterised. They almost uniformly attain the rank of true philosophic discussion. **THE NONCONFORMIST.**—A valuable contribution to the literature of our day. . . .

THE NONCONFORMIST.—A valuable contribution to the literature of our.day. . . . No one can read them without finding something on every page to perfect his political education.

Political Economy for Beginners. By MILLICENT GARRETT FAWCETT.

Eighth Edition. Revised and enlarged. Pott 8vo. Price 2s. 6d.

CONTENTS

Mrs. Fawcett here explains, for the benefit of beginners, the fundamental principles of economic science. In all cases her exposition is made as short and simple as possible, so that the book may be intelligible, not only to the general reader, but to boys and girls. Various improvements have been introduced in successive editions.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE DAILT NEWS.—We cannot conceive a book more fitted for popularizing this knowledge than the clear, compact, and comprehensive treatise for which we are indebted to Mrs. Fawcett.

THE SPECTATOR.--Mrs. Fawcett's little treatise is perfectly suited to its purpose; it is clear, concise, and lively, putting the subject in a way as suitable for boys as could be.

First Lessons in Business Matters. By a BANKER'S DAUGHTER. Author of the "Guide to the Unprotected," etc. Second Edition. Pott 8vo. Price 1s.

CONTENTS

The author's intention in writing this little book was to state clearly and distinctly, in the most simple manner, how to write letters on business, keep accounts, invest and save money, pay taxes, effect a life insurance, make a will, etc., and help those who wish to help themselves. There are seven lessons, each dealing with matters about which inexperienced persons are likely to feel some difficulty.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE EVENING STANDARD.—A very useful guide book, that should find its way into everybody's hands, young or old, for nothing can be better than its rules for writing letters on business, keeping accounts, investing saved money, the payment of taxes, effecting a life insurance, and making a will, and helping those who want to help themselves. THE PALL MALL GAZETTE.-There are many ladies utterly ignorant of

THE PALL MALL GALETE.—There are many ladies utterly ignorant of business who would find a guide like this of great service, and the writer has, we think, supplied a distinct want. The information given is as remarkable for its accuracy as for its clearness.

Honest Money. By ARTHUR J. FONDA. Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The question of the difficulty of finding employment for labour and capital when both are anxious for profitable occupation, point, says the author, to a defect in the monetary systems. The present work is written with the object of discussing the requirements for an honest money and discovering the faults of our present systems, and of the various schemes proposed for its betterment. The chapter headings give a more exact idea of the author's plan of treatments Value and the Standard of Value-Money-Existing Monetary Systems-Stability of Gold and Silver Values-Criticism of some Gold-Standard Arguments-Foreign Commerce -Money in the United States-Some proposed Changes in our Monetary System-A new Monetary System-Hints and Objections considered.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS.

SHE ECONOMIC REFIEW. — Throughout clearly and tersely written; the arguments are well worked ont, and although we may healtate to follow him into all his conclusions, them latter are the result of a strong conviction of the value of his theory, and not of any distortion of facts.

THE SCOTSMAN.-- A contribution to the monetary and currency question that is worthy of careful reading.

The Principles of Sociology: An Analysis of the Phenomena of Association and of Social Organization. By FRANKLIN HENRY GIDDINGS, M.A., Professor of Sociology in Columbia University in the City of New York.

Third Edition. 8vo. Price 121. 6d.

CONTENTS

"An attempt to combine the principles of sociology in a coherent theory." Book I. Elements of Social Theory. Book II. The Elements and Structure of Society. Book III. The Historical Evolution of Society. Book IV. Social Process, Law and Cause.

CLEARED REAL OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

1.28

SHE ECONOMIC REFIEW .- Has plenty of good stuff and interesting sugges-

NATURE-The treatment throughout is scientific; it is well proportioned and

THE STANDARD. - Few more important contributions to the remarkable literature of social evolution have been made in recent years. . . . reasoning is clear and convincing.

l se e Mi

THE OXFORD MAGAZINE .- This able and interesting work,

The Theory of Socialization : A Syllabus of Sociological Principles for the Use of College and University Classes. By FRANKLIN HENRY GIDDINGS, M.A., etc. With references to the third edition of the author's "Principles of Sociology."

8vo. Sewed. Price 2s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The Modes of Purposive Activity-Aggregation-Association-The Social Mind and Social Control-Social Organization -The Survival of Institutions.

OPINION OF THE PRESS

THENEW YORK INDEPENDENT.—Is intended to bring together in a series of short propositions theories upon which his recent volume, "The Principles of Sociology," is based. Though of necessity an explanatory and companion book to the larger work, it contains matter not found in the "Principles," and for that reason, as also for its attempts to establish sociology as a well-defined and coherent theoretical science, it should prove of uncommon interest to all students of sociology.

Reports and Speeches on Local Taxation. Βv RT. HON. GEORGE J. GOSCHEN, M.P. Medium 8vo. Price 5s.

CONTENTS

The following are the contents of this well-known volume :-Local Taxation Report-Letter of Mr. Julian Goldsmid, M.P. -Mr. Goschen's Reply-Draft Report submitted by Mr. Goschen to the Select Committee on Local Taxation-Report of the Select Committee-Speech on Sir Massey Lopes' Resolution on Local Taxation, February 28th, 1871-Speech on Moving for Leave to bring in the "Rating and Local Government Bill," and the "Rating and House Tax Bill," April 3rd, 1871-Abstract of the "Rating and Local Government Bill "-Abstract of the "Rating and House Tax Bill."

OPINION OF THE PRESS

THE ATHENÆUM .- Containing a vast mass of information of the highest value, compiled with Mr. Goschen's usual ability and industry.

A Guide to the Unprotected in Every-day Matters relating to Property and Income. By a BANKER'S DAUGHTER, author of "First Lessons in Business Matters." Sixth Edition, revised. Extra Fcap. 8vo. Price 3s. 6d.

CONTENTS

Many ladies when suddenly called upon to undertake the management of their own affairs find themselves destitute of all knowledge-even the most elementary-relating to business. The writer of this book comes to their aid, making it her aim to avoid technicalities, to give plain and practical directions, not only as to what ought to be done, but how to do it. After an introductory chapter, in which clear directions as to various subjects are given, there are chapters with the following headings : Money Transactions with Bankers-Cheques and Bills-The Funds and Leading Securities-Shares, Loans, and Mortgages-House Property-Miscellaneous-Keeping Accounts-Technical Terms used in Business.

OPINION OF THE PRESS

THE SPECTATOR.-She has, we are persoaded, hit upon the right way to make her book really useful to the British spinster. Her information is always correct and clearly stated, and we shall be surprised if results do not prove her to have supplied a real want.

Wealth and Progress: A Critical Examination of the Wages Question and its Economic Relation to Social Reform. By GEORGE GUTTON.

Crown 8vo. Price 16s.

CONTENTS 1

In the first part of this book the author deals with " Increasing Production: Its Law and Cause." The second part is entitled, "The Law of Wages Stated and Historically · Established." In the third part " The Principles and Methods of Social Reform" are discussed,

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE SCOTSMAN.-Mr. Gunton is known in the United States as a hard student of economic questions, and as a writer of high ability. That character is fully borne out by this volume. Mr. Gunton is an acute reasoner; and an many branches of political economy he throws new light. He is, moreover, always interesting; and his refutation of Mr. George's fundamental theory is complete.

THE WORLD (New York) .- The book contains an immense amount of exact information regarding all branches of the subject, and will be valuable as a book of reference to all students of economical questions even when they find

it necessary to differ from his conclusions and dispute his premises. LA BIBLIOTHEQUE UNIFERSELLE.—On appréciera «l'importance de cet admirable ouvrage au simple exposé des thèses de l'auteur.... Il demontre avec sne évidence partaite la fausseté des principes énoncés par son illustre com-patriote, Henry George, rendant ainsi à la société humaine un service signalé.

Crown 8vo. Price 5s. net.

CONTENTS

The enquiry instituted by the author into the question which is the subject of this book is treated under the following four general heads:—The General Economic Development—The National Character—Legal Relations—Subjective Influences. OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL.—This little volume will be found very useful as a compendium of information in regard to Trusts. . . . The author has also summarized very clearly and fairly the opinions of those who attack or defend the Trust on political or economical grounds.

Trust on political or economical grounds. COMMERCE.—If the vague ideas now current are not replaced by clear and precise notions, it will not be Mr. Halle's fault. . . The well selected and well arranged collection of facts this volume contains.

THE ATHENÆUM.—A most valuable work on the subject, which is of interest to every investor and every man of business.

The Joint Standard: a Plain Exposition of Monetary Principles and of the Monetary Controversy. By ELIJAH HELM.

Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net. CONTENTS

This work is an attempt "to satisfy the needs of inquiring minds by stating, as simply and clearly as possible, the principles and the facts involved in the monetary controversy." The following are the Contents :- Money and its Functions-The Constituents of Money-Rationale of the Joint Standard-Does Increased Production of Commodities lower General Prices ?-- Consequences of an Appreciation of Gold-The Metallic Basis of Credit-Declarations of Leading Authorities upon the Movements of Gold since 1871, and their effects-The Appreciation of Gold-Commercial and Industrial Effects -The Fall of Prices, the Theory of Over-Production, and Mercantile Mental Moods-The Fall of Prices and the Growth of Protectionism Abroad-Taxation, Fixed Charges, and Customary Prices-Wages, Wage-Earners, and the Cost of Living-Trade between Gold and Silver Standard Countries -India and the Monetary Question-Proposed Conversion of the Indian Rupce Debt into Gold Debt-The Monetary Question in Germany, France, and the United States Summary.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS -

THE FINANCIAL NEWS. -- He was a friend and pupil of Professor levols, and his book is a valuable contribution to what has become practically the leading controversy of the day.

THE TIMES.-It contains better work than is usually found in suc treatises and is written clearly and coherently. THE SCOTSMAN.-The book contains a careful statement of the first bearing

THE SCOTSMAN.—The book contains a careful statement of the first bearing on the controversy, with which students of the question ought to be familiar.

The Physiocrats : Six Lectures on the French "Economistes " of the 18th Century. By HENRY HIGGS. Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The lectures, delivered before the London School of Economics, deal with the subject under the following heads :--Rise of the School-The School and its Doctrines-Activities of the School-Opponents of the School-Influence of the School.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC YOURNAL.- A graphic and vivid picture of the Physiocratic School and of its environment, of the influence which it exerted, of its principal exponents, of its friends and of its enfinics.

THE TIMES .- With conspictions learning and yet with admirable conciseness. and with a very effective power of exposition, Mr. Higgs discussed successively the rise of the school, its doctrines, its activities, its opponents, and its influence. The result is a most interesting and instructive chapter in the history of economic thought in the last century, and of its influence, contemporary and subsequent, on the policy and structure of States. YOURNAL OF THE ROYAL STATISTICAL SOCIETY.-The best bistory of these

writers yet given in English. . . . A most compact, and learned, and instructive monograph on an important epoch in economic history.

An Introduction to Modern Business Methods: Being a Guide to the Operations Incidental to the Trade of the United Kingdom, with the Customary Documents and Correspondence: a Reference Book for Business Men and a Text-Book for Commercial Students. THE HOME TRADE. By FREDERICE HOOPER, Secretary of the Bradford Chamber of Commerce, and JAMES GRAHAM, Inspector for Commercial Subjects and Modern Languages to the West Riding County Council.

Second Edition. Svo. Price 2s. 6d.

CONTENTS

The Mechanical Operations of an Office or Counting House: Letters-Indexing-Postage Book-The Telephone -Purchases and Sales-Invoices-Forwarding of Goods-Remitting Money-Receipts for Money-Correspondence-Précis Writing-Telegrams-Copying-Money-Banking-Cheques - Bills of Exchange - Business Abbreviations -Important Postal Matters (annotated).

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

OMMERCE.—To those engaged in purely commercial pursuits we can favourab.) recommend this volume for study. Farticularly interesting and instructive are the chapters on mediums of exchange, banks and banking, and bills of such age. . . . An interesting volume.

THE DAILY MAIL .- Everything is put very simply and very plainly, from the Beate" style of addressing an envelope to the mysteries and pitfalls of a bill of exchange. For a boy of say fifteen years, who is not above acquiring the rudiments of the commercial craft he will have to practise, we can think of nor more valuable introduction to his business career.

EDUCATION.—The matter is well arranged and clearly set forth, terms are explained, and the details are numerous without being burdensome. . . The book is full of useful information, and it remains to induce those entering upon business to master its contents.

Teacher's Companion to Modern' Business Methods: THE HOME TRADE. By FREDK. HOOPER and JAMES GRAHAM.

8vo. Price 2s. 6d. net.

In the same Series will appear shortly volumes on "The Import and Export Trade" and "Business Letters," besides others which are being prepared.

The Conflicts of Capital and Labour Historically and Economically Considered: Being a History and Review of the Trade Unions of Great Britain, showing their Origin, Progress, Constitution and Objects, in their varied Political, Social, Economical and Industrial Aspects. By GEORGE HOWELL, M.P., Fellow of the Statistical Society, Author of "A Handy-Book of the Labour Laws," etc., etc. Second and Revised Edition, brought down to date (1890).

Crown 8vo. Price 7s. 6d.

CONTENTS ;

The first edition of this work was published in 1878. In revising it for re-issue the author was struck with the enormous changes which had taken place as regards industrial questions. They were so great that the work had to be practically rewritten. The subjects dealt with are: Guilds, their Origin, Essence, and History-Trade Unions, their Origin, History, and Development-The Objects, Aims, Constitution and Government of Trade Unions-Political Economy and Trade Unions-Apprentices and Technical Education-Piece-Work, Hours of Labour, Systematic Overtime-Intimidation and Picketing-Restrictive Rules of Trade Unions-Strikes, Foreign Competition-Labour in Coalition-Labour and Capital in Consultation, and in Alliance-Friendly Societies in their Relation to Trade Unions-The Present Position and Future of Trade Unions. There are also various Appendices.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—The second edition of Mr. Howell's well-known book is issued opportunely at the present time, when the labour troubles that seem to be of periodical occurrence in the late summer have revived public interest in industrial \neq problems of every kind... Taken all in all, the book presents as complet $\geq p$ view of the recent history and present relations of employers, and employed i this country as is to be found anywhere.

this country as is to be found anywhere. *HE PALL MALL GAZETE*—A masterpiece of sound reasoning and use four information, and is essentially necessary for the understanding of the la¹ A Handy-Book of the Labour Laws: Being a Popular Guide to the Employers' and Workmen Act, 1875; Conspiracy and Protection of Property Act, 1875; Trade Union Acts, 1871, 1876, and 1893; The Recorder's Act, 1868; The Employers' Liability Act, 1880; Arbitration Act, 1872; etc., etc., etc. With Introductions, Notes, and the Authorised Rules and Forms for the Use of Workmen. By GEORGE HowELL, F.S.S., M.P., Author of "The Conflicts of Capital and Labour," " Trade Unionism, New and Old," etc. Third Edition, Revised. Crown 8vo. Price y. 6d. net.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL.- A new edition of a useful publication. THE ECONOMIC REFIEW.- Its reappearance in an improved and enlarged

form will be welcomed by the workmen and trade-unionists for whose use it is

THE SPEAKER.-He has done a real service, in giving, in a full digest, and THE SPEAKER.-He has done a real service, in giving, in a full digest, and with metul introductions and notes, the principal Acts which regulate the relations of employer and employed. . . . The book should be pussensed by every official of a Trade Union, and may well be purchased by all outsiders who are interested in labour disputes.

THE WESTMINSTER GAZETTE .- Contains a good deal of new matter and is an exceedingly useful book.

The Theory of Political Economy. By W. STANLET JEVONS, LL. D. (Edinb.), M.A. (Lond.), F.R.S., late Professor of Political Economy in University College, London; Examiner in Mental and Moral Science in the University of London. Third Edition. 8vo. Price tos. 6d.

CONTENTS ...

The late Professor Stanley Jevons was not the first writer who dealt with the fundamental conceptions of Political Economy from a mathematical point of view; but he applied the mathematical method more systematically than any of his predecessors. ".I have endeavoured," he explained in the preface to the first edition, "to arrive at accurate quantitative notions concerning Utility, Value, Labour, Capital, etc., and I have often been surprised to find how clearly some of the most difficult notions, especially that most puzzling of notions, Value, admit of mathematical analysis and expression," The present edition is an exact reprint of the second edition, but an Appendix has been added containing a bibliographical list of mathematico-economic books.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

1

THE MANCHESTER GUARDIAN .--- We know of no work npon the subject better deserving the title of a system --- of no work that is more consistently built

point a foundation of carefully considered principles. THE WESTMINSTER REVIEW.—Professor Jevons has done invaluable service by courageously claiming political economy to be strictly a branch of applied mathematics.

Political Economy. By W. STANLEY JEVONS, LL.D., F.R.S., etc. [Science Primers.

Pott 8vo. Price 1s.

CONTENTS

In this little treatise the author has put the truths of Political Economy into a form suitable for elementary education. The book is also intended to serve as a stepping-stone to a knowledge of the science among general readers of mature age, who may have neglected the study of Economic Science.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE SCHOOL BOARD CHRONICLE .- It is unquestionably in every respect an admirable primer of political economy. THE LCONOMIST. - A book which should be widely employed in all schools,

whether for rich or poor, whether for girls or boys, throughout the country.

Investigations in Currency and Finance. Bv W. STANLEY JEVONS, LL.D., F.R.S., etc. Illustrated by 20 Diagrams. Edited, with an Introduction, by H.S. Foxwell, M.A., Fellow and Lecturer of St. John's College, Cambridge; and Professor of Political Economy at University College, London. 8vo. Price 21s.

CONTENTS

The greater part of this work was seen through the press by the author, but at the time of his death the manuscript of the concluding paper was still unfinished, and the Introduction was hardly begun. The task of editing the volume was undertaken by Professor Foxwell, who, as he says in his Introduction, was most ably assisted by Mrs. Jevons. The subjects are: Commercial Fluctuations-The Variation of Prices, and the Value of the Currency since 1782-The Depreciation of Gold-The Frequent Autumnal Pressure on the Money Market, and the Action of the Bank of England-The Solar Period and the Price of Corn-The Periodicity of Commercial Crises and its Physical Explanation (with postscript)-Commercial Crises and Sun-Spots-The Condition of the Gold Coinage of the United Kingdom with reference to the Question of International Currency-An Ideally Perfect System of Currency-Gold and Silver: a Letter to M. Wolowiski-The Silver Question-Bi-metallism-Sir Isaac Newton and Bi-metallism. There is also an Appendix on the Theory of Cycles, with a Bibliography of Writings on Money, and Prices.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ATHENÆUM .- This volume is of high interest for several reasons. THE SATURDAY REVIEW,-Full of useful information. THE TIMES .- A valuable addition to the library of the Economist.

. Nis

. is especially admirable both to students of * Theory of Political Economy * . the subject matter of the work, and to those interested in the theory of scientific method.

Peasant Rents, by RICHARD JONES, see Economic Classics Series, page 12.

The Statesman's Year-Book : Statistical and Historical Annual of the States of the World. Edited by J. SCOTT KELTIE, Assistant Secretary to the Royal Geographical Society, with the assistance of I. P. A. RENWICK. M.A., LL.B.

Crown 8vo. Price 10s. 6d.

CONTENTS

This is not strictly speaking a work on Political Economy, yet as no library on the subject can be considered complete without a work of reference furnishing full and reliable statistics, this yearly publication may well be included as a book that should be in the possession of all students and general readers of Economics.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES .- Few books can be said to be indispensable. But among the limited number to which this praise can be given room must unquestionably be found for *The Statemen's Year-Book*. It fills a place in the reference literature of the world such as no other publication of its kind, in any language, quite occupies.

THE SPECTATOR.-It is, as usual, the most important of all the books of reference for the politician and the statistician.

THE WESTMINSTER GAZETTE .- The Year-Book, for both the quality and accuracy of its information, has really no competitor. THE DAILY CHRONICLE—In this issue he has surpassed himself.

THE ST. JAMES'S GAZETTE.-Continues to be the invaluable and admirable storchouse of reliable facts concerning all sations which it has already , proved itself to be by thirty-four years of patient work on the part of its compilers.

LE TEMPS.-La Stateman's Foor-Bood and une mine da reneignements tres prècieux, sur l'administration e, la situation politique des differents Etats du Monde.

The Scope and Method of Political Economy. By JOHN NEVILLE KETNES, M.A., D.Sc., University Lecturer in Moral Science, and formerly Fellow of Pembroke College in the University of Cambridge; late Examiner in Political Economy in the University of London.

Second Edition, revised. Crown 8vo. Price 7s. net.

CONTENTS

This book is necessarily, to some extent, controversial; but the author has sought, in the treatment of disputed questions, to represent both sides without prejudice. In an introductory chapter he dwells on the nature and importance of the inquiry and on the contrasted conceptions of political economy as a

theoretics abstract, and deductive science, and as an ethical, realistic, and inductive science. Then come chapters on the following subjects :--On the Relation of Political Economy to Morality and Practice-On the Character and Definition of Political Economy regarded as a Positive Science-On the Relation of Political Economy to General Sociology-On Definition in Political Economy-On the Method of Specific Experience in Political Economy-On the Deductive Method in Political Economy-On Symbolical and Diagrammatic Methods in Political Economy-On Political Economy and Economic History-and on Political Economy and Statistics.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.-Mr. Keynes writes lucidly, and with extensive knowledge of his subject.

NATURE.—It is a matter for rejoicing that the task of connecting and supplementing all the authorities on all the methods has devolved on one so, widely read, so impartial and exact... If the reader is under the necessity of confining himself to a single book upon the subject, the single book had best be that of Mr. Keynes.

Parallel Chapters of 1st and 2nd editions of Malthus' "Principle of Population," see Economic Classics Series, pp. 11, 12.

Principles of Economics. By ALFRED MARSHALL, Professor of Political Economy in the University of Cambridge; Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge; sometime Fellow of Balliol College, Oxford.

Vol. I. Fourth Edition. 8vo. Price 12s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

In this treatise, which already ranks among the classical works of Political Economy, an attempt is made "to present a modern version of old doctrines with the aid of the new work, and with reference to the new problems, of our own age." Its general scope and purpose are indicated in Book I. In Book II. the author deals with some Fundamental Notions —In Book III. with Demand and Consumption—In Book IV. with Supply or Production—In Book V. with the Theory of the Equilibrium of Demand and Supply—and in Book VI. with Value or Distribution and Exchange. "In this edition several chapters have been rewritten; chiefly in order to meet the need, which experience has shown to exist, for fuller explanation on certain points."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—This great treatise on Economic Science bids fair to take for the present generation the place which Mr. Mill's work took for the generation of forty years ago. It is a contribution of capital Importance to the higher literature of economic science.

NATURE.— The uniformities of action resulting from such measurable motives may be regarded as the laws of motion in what juvons called "the mechanics of industry "-- a science which Prof. blarshall has cultivated with more success than any of his predecessors, owing to an unexampled combination of antilthetical powers, the comprehensive grasp of mathematical reasoning, and the careful handling in detail of the observed facts. . . We should like to dwell upon the practical importance of these conceptions. But it is impossible here to analyze a work, almost every page of which presents a new idea. THE ANNALS OF THE AMERICAN ACADEMY (Prof.]. H. Giddings).--

THE ANNALS OF THE AMERICAN ACADEMY (Prof.]. H. Giddings).-----It does for political economy in the last decade of the sineteenth century what Smith did in the last quarter of the eightrenth, and what Mill did after the discussion of two generations had apparently fixed the fundamental hnes. It gathers and sifts the store of economic knowledge. It reconstructs the whole body of doctrine on broader grounds, and in that new spirit, at once more liberal and more severely scientific, that has characterised every department of thoughs in these later years.

THE SATURDAY REFIEW.—This book is, without doubt, among the most important contributions to political science made by English authors within secent times.

Elements of Economics of Industry: Being the First Volume of Elements of Economics. By ALTRED MARSHALL, Professor of Political Economy in the University of Cambridge; sometime Fellow of Balliol College, Oxford. Second Edition. Crown 8vo. Price 32.6d.

CONTENTS

In this volume the author seeks to adapt the first volume of his "Principles of Economics" to the needs of junior students. -"The necessary abridgment," he says, "has been effected not by systematic compression so much as by the omission of many discussions on points of minor importance, and of some difficult theoretical investigations. The changes in this edition follow those made in the third edition of my "Principles."

OPINIONS OF THE PARSS

THE SATURDAT REFIEW.—A lucid, and in all ways practical abstract. THE MANCHESTER GUARDIAN.—So far as it goes, this is out and away the best manual on economics for a plain man to buy.

The Right to the whole Produce of Labour. The Origin and Development of the Theory of Labour's Claim to the Whole Product of Industry. By Dr. ANTON MENGER, Professor of Jurisprudence in the University of Vienna. Translated by M. E. TANNER. With an Introduction by H. S. FOXWELL, M.A., Professor of Economics at University College, London.

Crown 8vo. Price 6s. net.

England's Treasure by Forraign Trade, by THOMAS MUN, see Economic Classics Series, p. 12.

Notes on Political Economy from the Colonial Point of View. By a New Zealand Colonist. (Mr. Frederick J. Moss.)

Crown 8vo. Price 4s. 6d.

CONTENTS

The writer of this interesting and invigorating little work has for one of his objects to establish a clear conception of the distinction between Capital and Credit, in which are involved a variety of economic problems. The headings of the chapters are: Individualism, Its Rise and Fall—The Nation and Nationalism — National Wealth — The Creation of National Wealth—Capital and Credit—Joint Stock Companies —Value and Price—Exchange.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE WESTMINSTER REVIEW.—An interesting and suggestive little book. It is interesting apart from its intrinsic merits as representing the political and economic views of the advanced school in our most progressive colony, where so many social experiments have been tried, and, as a rule, with a success almost phenomenal.

THE DAILY CHRONICLE.—Is written in a vigorous, lucid style, highly attractive to the average man. . . . Interesting as indicating the drift of opinion among the younger colonials of the Southern seas.

Dictionary of Political Economy. Edited by R. H INGLIS PALGRAVE, F.R.S.

Med. 8vo. Parts I. to VI. Price 3s. 6d. net, per part. Vols. I. and II. (A-E, F-M), 21s. net, per vol.

[Vol. III. nearly ready.

CONTENTS

The object of this Dictionary is to give an account of the position of Political Economy at the present time, and to bring together such references to history, law, and commerce as may be of use both in economic and in general reading. No work of an exactly similar nature exists in the English language. Among the contributors are Prof. W. Cunningham, Prof. F. Y. Edgeworth, Prof. J. S. Nicholson, Sir Frederick Pollock, Prof. Henry Sidgwick, and many other eminent writers.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

Of the first Volume

THE DAILY CHRONICLE.-Every student will feel that the enterprise of Messrs. Macmillan is rendering a marked service to economics. . . . When the present dictionary is completed, we shall possess, in conveniently accessible form, not only a handy encyclopedia of names, dates, and terms, but also ap almost exhaustive summary of economic literature and theory.

THE DAILY NEWS .- Promises to be a work of authority and of great practical atility.

THE NEW FORE INDEPENDENT .- When complete will be unique as to same and plan in the English language.

" Of the second Volume

THE ATHEN.BUM.-It would be quite needless to recommend these important volumes to the attention of serious students of economics, in whose best interests and by whose joint efforts they have been actually compiled.

THE DAILY CHRONICLE.—As a product of this are of encyclopedic knowledge, "The Dictionary of Political Economy " is one of the monumental works of the period. Edited with great skill and judgment, every article the work of an expert, the dictionary is of the atmost value to all political and economic students.

THE DAILY NEWS.—The second volume is not less remarkable than its predecessor for its vast range, the importance of the topics with which it deals, and the evidences which it everywhere presents of sareful planning out and judicious selection of contributors.... Likely long to remain the standard work of its class.

Pure Economics. By Professor MATTEO PANTALEONI; translated by T. BOSTON BRUCE, Esq., of the Middle Temple; Barrister-at-Law.

٤

Demy 8vo. Price 10s. net.

CONTENTS 5

This work, having met with general acceptance in Italy, it is hoped may be welcomed by English Economists, and find recognition both for its comprehensive treatment of the subject and for its lucidity of exposition. The manual is intended "as a succinct statement of the fundamental definitions, theorems, and classifications, that constitute economic science, properly so called, or Pure Economics." The subject is treated under three general heads: The Theory of Utility—The Theory of Value—Application of the General Theory of Value to Determinate Categories of Commodities.

Introduction to Public Finance. By CARL C. PLEHN, PH.D., Assistant Professor in the University of California. Crown 8vo. Price 6s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

Intended as an elementary text-book, this work contains "a simple outline of those things which are necessary to prepare the student for independent research; a brief discussion of the leading principles that are generally accepted; a statement of unsettled principles with the grounds for controversy; and sufficient references to easily accessible works and sources to enable the student to form some opinion for himself." The four parts into which the book is divided are: Public Expenditure — Public Revenues — Public Indebtedness — Financial Administration

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE PALL MALL GAZETTE.—Convincing, condensed, and clear. THE MANCHESTER GUARDIAN.—A little work which ought to prove of very great use.

THE LIVERPOOL POST.—A thoughtful elementary text-book on a muchdiscussed, but little-understood subject... The book is a valuable one within its scope.

Industrial Peace : Its Advantages, Methods and Difficulties. A Report of an Inquiry made for the Toynbee Trustees. By L. L. F. R. PRICE, formerly Scholar of Trinity College, Oxford. With a Preface by ALFRED MARSHALL, Professor of Political Economy in the University of Cambridge. With a portrait of Arnold Toynbee.

Medium 8vo. Price 6s.

CONTENTS

In this Report, the material for which was collected in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, Mr. Price deals with three stages in the theoretical order in which the methods of industrial peace. are developed. The first is Irregular Negotiations, as illustrated by a shipbuilding strike on the Tyne and the Wear, and the manner in which it was brought to a conclusion. The second stage is the creation of Boards of Arbitration and Conciliation, as illustrated by the manufactured iron trade of the north of England. The third stage is the establishment Sliding Scales, as illustrated by the Durham and of Northumberland coal trades. Each of these stages forms the subject of a chapter. In an introductory chapter the author dwells on the need of diversity of character in economic and industrial reform, and he indicates in the concluding chapter various industrial circumstances favouring peace. Professor Marshall, in the preface, deals with some of the more general aspects of the question discussed by Mr. Price.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ACADEMY.—Theory and fact are seldom so happily united as in this work. Professor Marshall, in an important preface, explains the rationale of arbitration and conciliation between employers and workmen. A theoretical exposition of this subject was much needed. It lies beyond the scope of the text-books, which, for the most part, assume a law of supply and demand. For detailed illustrations we refer the reader to Mr. Price's exhaustive work. We must content ourselves here with the summary encomium that the book is worthy of the preface.

worthy of the preface. THE PALL MALL GAZETTE.—The results of Mr. Price's investigations in Newcastle and its neighbourhood are embodied in this monograph, which by its fulness of matter and sobriety of judgment argues most favourably of his future as an economist. Professor Marshall of Cambridge, supplies ar admirable preface explanatory of the scope of Mr. Price's work.

Tableau (Economique. By FRANÇOIS QUESNAY. First printed in 1758, and now Reproduced in Facsimile for the British Economic Association.

4to. Price 23. 6J. net.

CONTENTS

This edition contains an explanatory Preface, and a bibliography of the Editions of the "Tableau," besides Quesnay's "Explication," and the "Extrait des Œconomies Royales de M. de Sully."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

SCIENCE SIFTINGS.—A remarkable document of considerable intrinsic value and no small bibliographical interest. . . . The tableau remains indubitably the most original and striking contribution to the theory of economics. . . . The value of this pamphlet is further enhanced by the inclusion of a commentary on the subject compiled by M. de Sully. THE ECONOMIC REFIEW.—This is not the moment to estimate Queenay's

THE ECONOMIC REFIEW. This is not the moment to estimate Quesnay's work, but only to notice with gratitude the beautiful reproduction by the French photographer and the Cambridge engraver.

The American Foreign Policy: Three Historical Essays. By UGO RABBENO, Professor of Political Economy in the University of Modena. Second Edition. Partly rewritten and entirely revised by the author.

8vo. Price 123. net.

CONTENTS

The author has in this work endeavoured to treat the subject impartially from a scientific and a historical point of view; to apply the theories formed from the abstract study of the laws regulating international trade to the facts as they have gradually developed in the course of history; to compare theory and practice with the object in view of benefiting both. The three essays are entitled respectively: The English Commercial Policy in the North American Colonies—The Causes of the Commercial Policy of the United States—The Theory of Protectionism in the United States and the Historical Circumstances of its Development.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL. - No other book has attempted to cover the ground with the same completeness, and the present English version ought to had a hearty veloces, and plenty of readers on both sides of the Atlantic. THE PALL MALL GALETTE. - His studies have a wide general bearing, and

THE PALL MALL GALLTE.—His studies have a wide general bearing, and will be found extremely helpful by all students of the Free Trade Question, to whatever belief they may incline.

L'ECONOMISTA,-Meritæra certamente d'essere fatta conoscere al pubblico Inglese e americano per l'interesse storico e dottrinale, che presentano le ricerche dell'egregio Autore ... La traduzione ... é stata esegnita fedelmente.

. .

Eight Hours for Work. By JOHN RAE, M.A., Author of "Contemporary Socialism." Crown 8vo. Price 4s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The author was led to deal with this subject because he "could find no solid bottom in any of the current prognostications, favourable or unfavourable, as to the probable consequences of a general adoption of an cight-hours' working day." The best way of finding out what would probably happen under the proposed system seemed to be to discover what had been its effect in those cases in which it had been tried-" to learn how the ten-hours' day, and the nine-hours' day, and especially the eight-hours' day itself have worked out where they have been in actual operation." "The available evidence," says Mr. Rae, " is unexpectedly copious, and itsteaching is unexpectedly plain and uniform." The questions dealt with are the following :- The Balance-Sheet of Short Hours-The Eight-Hours' Day at Work-The Reserves of Personal Efficiency-The Eight-Hours' Day and Foreign Competition-The Eight-Hours' Day and the Unemployed-Eight Hours' Work and Ten Hours' Wages-The English Eight-Hours' Movement of 1833-The Eight-Hours' Day in-Victoria-Eight Hours by Legislation.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.- Deals with a burning question, and deals with it not by meansof barren speculations, but by investigation of facts.

THE DAILY CHRONICLE.-- A very convincing volume, full of interest and instruction, which ought to be in the hands of every economic student.

THE DAILY TELEGRAPH.—An interesting and almost enthusiastic work. Mr. Rae has carefully sifted such evidence as he can obtain as to the exact effect of limiting the hours of labour.

THE ECHO.—It is a timely contribution to the discussion of the subject, and is sure to make many converts to the cause of the short working day.

THE ATHENÆUM.—In large extent a reprint of most excellent articles which, from time to time, have appeared in *The Contemporary Review*, and have been read by everyone interested in labour questions. There are, however, in the present volume, chapters on the connection between hours and wages, on the eight-hour movement of 1833, and on the present proposals for legislation, which are new, and which are up to the high level of the rest of the author's work.

Principles of Political Economy and Taxation, by DAVID RICARDO. First Six Chapters, see Economic Classics Series, page 11.

The Mercantile System, by GUSTAV SCHMOLLER, see Economic Classics Series, page 12.

Essays in Taxation. By EDWIN R. A. SELIGMAN, Professor of Political Economy and Finance, Columbia College. 8vo. Price 123, 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The following subjects are included in the essays :- Development of Taxation-General Property Tax-Single Tax-Double Taxation-Inheritance Tax-Taxation of Corporations-Classification of Public Revenues-Recent Reforms-Betterment Tax-Recent European Literature in Taxation-American Reports on Taxation.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE GUARDIAN.-Professor Seligman makes his subject attractive because he writes out of the fulness of knowledge with unusual dialectical vigour, and in an admirably transparent style.

THE NEW YORK OBSERVER.—All these subjects are discussed not merely in an academic way, but also on the basis of the facts and figures yielded by observation and experience. Two general impressions are made by the book, namely, the difficulties that attend taxation, and the gradual emergence out of these into the light of established principles. The best refutation ever written of Henry George's ductrine of the single tax is given within the compass of thirty bages. Besides the thorough treatment of every topic and careful definitions of terms, American bibliographics of the corporation and general property tax and of reports on taxation, point the student to special lines of investigation.

THE LEEDS MERCURY .- The volume is one of those rare works which transcend all common praise.

The Principles of Political Economy. By HENRY SIDGWICK, Knightbridge Professor of Moral Philosophy in the University of Cambridge; Author of "The Methods of Ethics."

Second edition, revised. 8vo. Price 16s.

CONTENTS

In the Introduction the author points out that during the last thirty years Political Economy in England has risen from the state of controversy on fundamental principles and method into that of an apparently established science, and again relapsed into the state of controversy. His special aim in the present work is "to eliminate needless polemics by a guarded restatement of traditional doctrines, with due recognition of the advances made in economic theory by recent writers." After discussing the scope of political economy and the method of economic science, he deals with Production, the subject of Book I. In Book II. he discusses Distribution and Exchange, and in Book III. the Art of Political Economy. The work has given rise to much controversy, which the author carefully considered in preparing the second edition.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ATHENEUM.-Probably no book on the subject since Ricardo's is more difficult reading, owing to the amount of solid thinking which has been exercised on it, and which, in return, it requires for pernsal.

THE ACADEMP.-- Unquestionably the weightiest book on the subject which has appeared in this country for some time.

An Introduction to the Theory of Value on the Lines of Menger, Wieser, and Böhm-Bawerk. By WILLIAM SMART, M.A., Lecturer on Political Economy in Queen Margaret College, Glasgow.

Crown 8vo. Price 3s. net.

CONTENTS

The theory set forth in this volume is that enunciated by Menger and Jevons, and worked out by Wieser and Böhm-Bawerk. "I do not consider," says the author, "that the last word on Value has been said by the Austrian school, but that seems to me no reason why the principles of the new theory should remain any longer beyond the reach of the ordinary English student." The application of the Value-theory to the theory of Distribution will be found in "Natural Value," Mrs. Malloch's translation of Prof. F. von Wieser's "Natürlichen Werth."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE SPEAKER.—Places before us in a concise form the view of the Austrian school on one of the most difficult questions of economic science.

THE YOURNAL OF EDUCATION.—His introduction will be equally useful to the student who has no time to master elaborate treatises on the theory of value, and to the student who desires to gain a clear general view of that theory before entering into its details.

Studies in Economics. By William SMART, M.A., I.L.D., etc.

Extra Crown 8vo. Price 8s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS -----

The author, who is a disciple and representative of the Austrian School of Economics, which looks upon the theory of value as the foundation of the science, here discusses the subjects of Wages, Currency, and Consumption.

the first the second states of

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL. -- Dr. Smart is the possessor of a literary style, which should redeem Economics in the minds of his readers from the common reproach of being dry and uninteresting.... The instinct of the business man may be traced, not merely in the style, but in the selection of subjects and in the method of treatment.... Few will rise from the perusal of this book without having learned something fresh, and much that is highly instructive. THE SUME the conducts his accomments with no little dialectical kill and

THE TIMES.—He conducts his arguments with no little dialectical skill, and he displays a wide acquaintance with recent economical literature and a marked sympathy with new social aspirations and ideals.

NATURE.—He never fails to be interesting and suggestive, and he is, with rare exceptions, uniformly lucid; and these are qualities as admirable as they are rare in combination. The economic student and in a more especial degree—the practical man will find material for proitable reflection in the careful perusal of these interesting "studies."

careful perusal of these interesting "studies." THE SATURDAT REVIEW.—Dr. Smart has a happy gift of presenting his arguments in an interesting and attractive form; he is unmistakably desirous to keep in touch with actual fact, and to resolve problems, which yew the mind of the practical man; and so far is he from being unprogressive that he has fastened his economic faith to the discrimes of a school which has only recently come into prominence in this country. . . . For the admirable and hummous manner in which, both in this book and in his previous writing, he has tried to familiarize English readers with foreign thought, we have nothing but grateful praise.

THE SPEAKER.-Both economic students and men of business will peruse the book with interest and advantage.

THE WESTMINSTER REFIEW.-Few will rise from the perusal of this book without having learned something fresh, and much that is highly instructive. THE ACADEMY.-This book deserves to be mentioned as far superior to the

THE ACADEMI. - This book deserves to be mentioned as the superior to the general run of the works dealing with economic and social publicms which are so numerous at present. . The author's treatment of his topics shows considerable originality and breadth of view.

THE MORVING POST. Throughout, Dr. Smart discusses his abstrase propositions with a closeness of reasoning from which it is difficult to escape.

Adam Smith's Wealth of Nations, see also under Economic Classics Series, page 11.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

TRE SPEAKER.-Admirably edited, and we think it will meet a real, and not an imaginary want.

THE SATURDAY REFIEW.—The "Adam Smith" selections before us are undoubtedly chosen with excellent judgment, and presented in a form that is admirably clear and well knit. The book comprises chapters and passages from See Wealth of Nations, selected with the aim of giving a gravine view of Adam Smith's economic philosophy. This object, we think, is realised with considerable skill, and we shall not demur to the editor's conclusion, that nothing is emitted that is essential to the "real structure of Adam Smith's argument."

Wages and Capital: An Examination of the Wages Fund Doctrine. By F. W. TAUSSIG, Professor of Political Economy in Harvard University; Author of "Tariff History of the United States, 1789-1888," "The Silver Situation in the United States," etc.

Crown 8vo. Price 6s. net

CONTENTS

The work is divided into two parts: a statement of the author's views; the History of the Wages Fund Discussion. The author has endeavoured to make his meaning clear, not only to those who have already studied Economic Theory, but to those who are new to the subject. The following are the chapter-headings:—Part I. Present Work and Present Wages—Capital and Wages—Machinery of Distribution— Elasticity of Wages Fund. Part II. Before Adam Smith— Adam Smith—Immediate Followers of Adam Smith—Ricardo —From Ricardo to John Stuart Mill—John Stuart Mill— Longe, Thornton, Mill, Cairnes—Wages Fund in Germany —Contemporary Discussion.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC REFIEW,-The book is altogether a good one, and gives us

an interesting discussion of a question of great importance in its bearing on-many of the problems that occupy men's minds at present. The ideas are original and well thought out, and whether we can agree with them all or not it is always helpful to come across a new and well-considered statement of an old subject. It is well written and readable . . . to be commended to the The ACADEMY.-Should be welcomed by the student of Economics as an

example of skilful analysis and penetrating criticism.

Reflections on the Formation and Distribution of Riches, by TURGOT, see Economic Classics Series, page 12.

The Wages Question : A Treatise on Wages and the Wages Class. By FRANCIS A. WALKER, M.A., PH.D., LL.D., etc., President of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Professor of Political Economy and History, Sheffield Scientific School of Yale College.

8vo. Price 8s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

This treatise is divided into two parts, the first dealing with Production and Population, the second with Distribution. It is strongly controversial in form, but "the fact is," says the author, "certain doctrines which I' deem to be wholly unfounded have become so widely spread that one can make no progress, by so much as a step, towards a philosophy of wages without encountering them."

Political Economy. By FRANCIS A. WALKER. Third Edition, Revised and Enlarged. 8vo. Price 12s. 6d.

CONTENTS

This book belongs to the American Science Series, Advanced Course. The author goes over the whole ground of Political Economy, dividing his work into six parts. The following are the subjects :- Character and Logical Method of Political Economy—Production—Exchange—Distribution —Consumption—Some Applications of Economic Principles.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE SATURDAY REFIEW .- He may, indeed, be credited with having produced a book which keeps much closer to the facts than most treatises on political economy.

THE ACADEMY.—The work is one which should command a good deal of attention. With the merits of brevity and clearness, it combines those of forcible statement and original thought. In a condensed yet readable shape it presents all the chief doctrines hitherto ascertained in political economy, and summarises with great fairness the arguments on both sides on those points

which are matters of debate rather than doctrins. . . . It is enough to say that, whether his views on these and other topics of economists are orthodox or heterodox, they are always ably stated and defended, and serve to throw new light on the matter in hand.

A Brief Political Economy. By FRANCIS A. WALKER.

Crown 8vo. Price 6s. 6d.

CONTENTS (

An 'abridgment of the Third Edition of the author's "Political Economy." It is intended to serve as a text-book in colleges and academies where only one term is devoted to the study of the subject. Some structural changes have been made, but the work of abridgment has been effected mainly through excision.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

NATURE.-Deserves to be received with the highest commendation as supplying a much-feit want in English literature of the subject. THE DUBLIN UNIVERSITY REVIEW.-As a text-book for students we can thoroughly recommend it.

First Lessons in Political Economy. By FRANCIS A. WALKER.

Crown 8vo. Price 5s.

CONTENTS

Although this book is written for pupils of fifteen or seventeen years of age, the author has not thought it desirable "to avoid words as long as are necessary fully to carry the meaning intended." His aim has been to arrange his topics clearly, to write simply and forcibly, and to make a literal use of concrete illustrations, drawn from facts of common experience or observation.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE LITERARY WORLD.—The style is simple but not childish, and beginners in political economy who have long left high schools and academies may find the book useful.

THE GUARDIAN,-There is not a single passage in the "First Lessons" which is not quite comprehensible by beginners; this is the more creditable to Dr. Walker because he has not shirked any important difficulties.

Money. By FRANCIS A. WALKER. 8vo. Price 8s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

This work aims at being a systematic treatise on Money, and was written without special reference to the existing financial situation. The author discards the word "Currency,"

the vagueness of which, he thinks, has done much to obscure the real issues in the controversies relating to money. He begins with the consideration of metallic money, and then passes to paper money, inconvertible and convertible.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIST .-- Painstaking, laborious, and states the question in a clear

THE SCOTSMAN.—The book will be found full of instruction and suggestion to the student of the particular branch of economic science with which it deals.

Money in its Relations to Trade and Industry. By FRANCIS A. WALKER.

Price 7s. 6d. Crown 8vo.

CONTENTS

To a certain extent this work is an abridgment of the author's larger treatise on "Money." It is, however, more popular in style, and deals with many questions which lay beyond the scope of the earlier work. The subjects are: The Medium of Exchange-The Value Denominator, or Common Denominator in Exchange, usually called the Measure of Value—The Standard of Deferred Payments, usually called the Standard of Value—Metallic Inflation, or the Effects of an Increase of Metallic Money-Metallic Contraction, or the Effects of a Decrease of Metallic Money-Silver and Gold as Money-Modern Bi-metallism-Government Paper Money-The Abuses of Government Paper Money -Bank Money-English Bank Money and the Act of 1844-Bank Money in the United States.

OPINION OF THE PRESS

THE SCOTSMAN.-The book will be found full of instruction and suggestion to the student of the particular branch of economic science with which it deals.

International Bimetallism. By FRANCIS A. WALKER. Crown 8vo. Price 5s. net.

CONTENTS

The author, who is a well-known champion of Bimetallism, treats his subject from a wide-minded standpoint, regarding it without prejudice or passion, an advantage which should recommend his work to many readers. The chapters' are: Early Production of the Precious Metals - Augustus to Columbus-Bimetallism in England, 1666-1816-French and American Bimetallism to 1851-French Bimetallism to 1873-Demonetization-The Great Debate-Review and Summary.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS ·

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL .- He is plain and he is direct; and his argument

"Is easy to grasp, and free from subilety. . . . The "man in the street," who is prome to dismuss bimetallism as beyond his comprehension, will be mithed of his exeme, when he reads this book. . . . To the great body of bystanders, who are wasting for the guidance of the conomic expert, this able, listed and persuasive statement of the case for international bimetallism may be commended. . . . We believe that in economic circles it promises to take its place as a text-book for students, along with other writings from the same pen. THE BOSTON LITERARY WORLD.-Will take rank at once as the most.

Bad Times: An Essay on the Present Depression of Trade, tracing it to its Source in Enormous Foreign Loans, Excessive War Expenditure, the Increase of Speculation and of Millionaires, and the Depopulation of the Rural Districts, with Suggested Remedies. By ALFRED RUSSEL WALLACE, LL.D., F.R.S.

Crown 8vo. Price 28. 6d.

CONTENTS

The title of this book sufficiently indicates the general nature of the contents. A personal explanation by the author may, however, be noted. "This scems," he says, "the proper place to state that twelve years of the writer's early life were spent in active employment as a land-surveyor and valuer, during which time he lived chiefly among farmers and country people in various parts of England and Wales. The interest is agricultural and rural life then acquired has been supplemented by observation and study during recent years; and in now coming forward as a writer on the land question, he is not —as is generally assumed by his critics—taking up a new and unfamiliar subject, but is returning, with wider experience and more matured judgment, to one which occupied much of his attention during the best years of his early life."

OPINION OF THE PRESS

THE GUARDIAN.-This is a very interesting book. Both professed political economists and the general reader will find in it ample material for reflection.

The Alphabet of Economic Science. By PHILIP H. WICKSTEED. Part I. Elements of the Theory of Value or Worth. With Diagrams.

Globe 8vo. Price 2s. 6d.

CONTENTS

The author's object in this elementary treatise is "to bring Economics down from the clouds and make the study throw light on our daily doings and experiences, as well as on the great commercial and industrial machinery of the world." He adopts, and seeks to enforce and illustrate, the guiding principle of Jevons's "Theory of Political Economy."

OPINION OF THE PRESS

Prof. F. Y. EDOXWORTH IN THE ACADEMY.—On the important subject which , this manual introduces, it is the best educational treatise known to us.

Natural Value. By FRIEDRICH VON WIESER, Professor in the German University of Prague. Edited, with a Preface and Analysis, by WILLIAM SMART, M.A., LL.D., Lecturer on Political Economy in the University of Glasgow. The Translation by CHRISTIAN A. MALLOCH.

8vo. Price ros. net.

CONTENTS -

The subjects discussed in this volume are: The Elementary Theory of Value—Exchange Value and Natural Value—The Natural Imputation of the Return from Production—The Natural Value of Land, Capital, and Labour—The Natural Cost Value of Products—and Value in the Economy of the State. The theory of value of which Professor von Wieser and other Austrian economists are now the chief exponents, is, as the editor of the present translation explains, the Final or Marginal Utility Theory, best known in this country through the work by Professor Jevons published in 1871. In "Natural Value Professor von Wieser carries the whole theory, with its applications," says Dr. Smart, "to a higher level of completencess."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—Of the school of Austrian economists which has applied itself to the elaboration and utility of that theory of value known as "The Final or Marginal Utility Theory," which the late Professor Jevons was one of the first to expound in this country, Professor von Wieser, of Prague, is one of the most distinguished leaders.... His work on Natural Value is the latest and most complete exposition of the whole theory. As such it will be welcomed by all serious economical students in this country.

serious economical students in this country. THE SCOISMAN.—The translator's work is admirably done, and the editor endorses its every word . . . It is a mine of characteristically German hard thinking and close reasoning. . . It is not too-much to say that few readers who make any progress in the mental excursion on which the German Professor sets out will fail to experience the fascination of which his editor is so clearly possessed.

An Examination of the Nature of the State: A Study in Political Philosophy. By WESTEL WOODBURY WILLOUGHEY, PH.D., Lecturer in Political Philosophy in the John Hopkins University.

8vo. Price 12s. 6d.

CONTENTS

This treatise, in its attempt to determine the grounds upon

which the authority of the State may be justified, shows clearly the distinction between essential nature and mero appearance, and discriminates between the legal and political character of institutions and forces, and their actual operation in the arena of civic life. The chapters include the following subjects:—Preliminary Definitions and Distinctions—Origin of the State—The Contract Theory—The True Origin of the State—The Nature of Law—Analytical Jurisprudence—The Power of the State—Nature of the Composite State—Location of Sovereignty in the Body Politic—The Aims of the State— Governments: their Classification—Recapitulation: Present Political Characteristics and Tendencies.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC REFIER.—This book must be regarded as a serious and thoughtful contribution to the scientific study of politics. . . . It has the merit of arouning reflection and stimulating criticism.

THE OXFORD MAGAZINE .- This book would be a neeful one for students taking up Political Philosophy for the I.C.S.

SOCIAL ECONOMY

The Training of Girls for Work: An Expression of Opinions. By EDITH A. BARNETT, Author of "Dr. and Mrs. Gold: an Episode in the Life of a Cause," etc. Globe Syo. Price 28. 6d.

CONTENTS

The following chapters, written with bright good-sense, constitute this useful work:—The Girl's Health—Girls' Schools—A Girl's Character—Household Work—Professional Work—Professional Wages—The Girl's Money—Marriage— The Girls' Mothers.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—Entirely without pretence and dealing only with subjects she understands, Miss Barnett has a healthy scorn of shams and conventionalities, and withial a firm grasp on the realities of life and the responsibilities of conduct, which lends a fine ethical fervour to her blunt and outspoken exhortations. . . Few mothers can read it without profit, and few daughters without advantage.

THE DAILT CHRONICLE.—The best contribution to the subject we have seen ; it is written in a style which the public, to which it is more especially offered, will keenly appreciate, and it will not fail to bring a sense of comfort and guidance to parents. THE NEW YORK CRITIC.-- To any woman perplexed by the responsibilities attending the education of girls this book should be a valuable help. It is eminently practical,

Pauperism : A Picture, and the Endowment of Old Age: an Argument. By CHARLES BOOTH. Crown 8vo. Price 5s. Cheap Edition. 8vo. Price 6d. sewed.

CONTENTS

The basis of this work is the investigation of pauperism carried on by the author in the Parishes of Stepney, St. Pancras, and Ashby-de-la-Zouche. "Questions as to the true volume of pauperism, and especially of old age pauperism, as to the method to be adopted in enumerating paupers, and as to the relative advantages of different plans of affording them relief, came into prominence while my inquiry was proceeding. The second part of this book consists of an argument in support of one of these proposals, and some suggestions regarding its practicability."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ACADEMY.—The first part of the book, the Picture of Pauperism, is one that must always retain its historical value, even when its utility for practical purposes shall have long since passed away.

THE REVIEW OF REVIEWS.—Mr. Booth's appendices are monuments of painstaking industry. This volume will materially assist in enabling the general reader to understand somewhat of the immense complexity of the pauper problem.

THE ECONOMIC REVIEW.—A work which is indispensable to the student of the economic and social condition of the lower strata of the labour-classes.

THE SATURDAY REVIEW.—This convenient and most readable volume will, we hope, be in the hands of everybody. . . . A volume of ascertained facts and solid reasoning.

Life and Labour of the People in London. Edited by CHARLES BOOTH.

Svo. Price 7s. 6d. net each volume. [Case of five accompanying Maps. Cr. 8vo. Price 5s.]

CONTENTS

Vol. I. East Central and South London-Vol. II. Streets, and Population Classified-Vol. III. Blocks of Buildings, Schools, and Immigration-Vol. IV. The Trades of East London-Vols. V., VI., VII., and VIII. Population Classified by Trades-Vol. IX. Comparisons, Survey, and Conclusions (with an Abstract of Vols. I.-IX.).

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—The first true account of the economy of London life, is virtually finished; and were Mr. Booth to stop at the point which he has reached, he would have more than fulfilled his promise. He could say with pride that he had done for the greatest of cities what no previous inquirer had done for any community ; that he had cleared up many problems hitherto veiled in obscurity ; and that he had prepared the way of the economist and the philanthropist more than any half-dozen Royal Commissions. For the first time, thanks to Mr. Booth, one haif of the world of London may know how the other half lives.

• . . His chosing chapters are models of temperate, judicious statements. THE DAILY MALL.—He has secomplished a very great piece of work, and the vast store of trustworthy facts which he has accumulated and elassified, provide material which can be found nowhere else in secomprehensive a form, and upon which the philanthropist, the economist, the municipal reformer, and the practical politician must necessarily depend for their future deliberations on this important and complex subject, the second second

The Aged Poor in England and Wales-Condition. By CHARLES BOOTH.

Extra Crown 8vo. Price 81. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

Mr. Booth here tries to bring together and arrange for ready reference and comparison all the official statistics relating to the condition of the Aged Poor of England and With these statistics, and deductions drawn from Wales. their comparison, are collated reports from local authorities in all parts of the country. As to conclusions, he says, "I do not seek to do more than suggest the way in which they may be reached." 'This volume provides an itinerary of highways and byways, and indicates the principal points of interest, but leaves its readers to use their own eyes and form their own opinions on the journey they are invited to make.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.-An immense reportory of facts. THE DAILY NEWS.-Mr. Charles Booth has completed another of those pemarkable books on the life of the Poor which will give him an enduring name in the social history of this country.

THE STANDARD.-What the observations and calculations of Kepler were to astronomy, Mr. Charles Booth's patient collation of facts will, we trust, prove to be to the department of social science which he has made his own.

Aspects of the Social Problem : By Various Writers. Edited by BERNARD BOSANQUET.

Crown Svo. Price 2s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The essays contained in this volume are contributed by the -Editor, and Messrs. H. Dendy, M. M'Callum, and C. S. Loch, all of whom have gained experience in the field of social philanthropy, and whose common principle arises from the conviction that the tone of the masses is influenced by each

individual person, and that "Society as a whole is a structure in which will and character 'are the blocks with which we build." "The essays are entitled as follows:—Duties of Citizenship— Children of Working London—Protection of Children— Position of Women in Industry—Marriage in East London— Industrial Residuum—Character in its Bearing on Social Causation—Old Pensioners—Pauperism and Old Age-Pensions—Meaning and Methods of True Charity—Some Aspects of Reform—English Poor Law—Administration of Poor Relief—Returns as an Instrument in Social Science— Socialism and Natural Selection—Principle of Private Property —Reality of the General Will.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.- These very interesting essays . . . cover a wide field of observation and reflection.

THE STANDARD. — Thoughtful people who are seeking in any way to brighten and better the lot of the poor will find many suggestive statements and practical hints in this group of singularly able essays. THE DAILY NEWS. — One of the most important works on the social problems.

THE DAILY NEWS.—One of the most important works on the social problems. which we have had since the appearance of the Fabian Essays. THE NEW YORK INDEPENDENT.—We regard these essays as upon the

THE NEW YORK INDEPENDENT.--We regard these essays as, upon the whole, of very great value, and heartily commend them. . . The book should be owned by everyone interested in social progress.

Rich and Poor. By Mrs. BERNARD BOSANQUET.

"Second Edition. Crown Syo. Price 35. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

This useful and now well-known work has just reached its second edition. The object of the author is to inspire old and new workers with a knowledge of "the underlying unities and, principles which are capable of bringing order and a higher life into an apparent chaos." The first part describes the Parish and its Institutions—The Family and its Income— Women of the East. The second part comprises suggestions for workers under the heads: Natural Links between Rich and Poor—On Giving Money—Amongst the Children—Local Responsibilities—Charity.

: OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE ECONOMIC JOURNAL.-To Economic readers in general . . . the book has something to convey of instruction and suggestion.

1. A 1

THE CHARITY ORGANISATION REVIEW.-She never loses her calm judgment or her sense of true proportion.

THE SPEAKER.—Her book is a brilliant literary performance; it should be inthe hands of every worker, and its interest—artistic and human—is such that we trust it will be widely read by many who are not workers and will lead themat least to discriminate in their charity, and to pay some attention to theworking of the machinery alike of poor relief and of local government.

The Standard of Life and other Studies. By Mrs. BERNARD BOSANQUET. Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net. The Unemployed. By GEOFFREY DRAGE, Secretary to the Labour Commission.

Crown 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The work is divided as follows:-Part I. Classification of Agencies dealing with the Unemployed-Part II. What has been done hitherto to solve the Problem of the Unemployed-Part III. Nature and Cause of the present Distress-Part IV. What can be done in the future to Solve the Problem of the Unemployed.

The Evolution of Industry. By HENRY DYER, C.E., M.A., D.Sc.; Honorary Principal, Imperial College of Engineering, Japan; Life Governor, Glasgow and West of Scotland Technical College; Master of the Institution of Naval Architects, etc., etc.

8vo. Price 10s. net.

CONTENTS.

The aim of the work is to stimulate individual investigation of the subject, and to indicate the method of studying social problems with a view to controlling undue haste in charges of administration and legislation. Chapter-headings are: Conditions of Development-Early Corporate and State Regulation of Industry-Individual Industry — Trade Unions-Position of Women-Co-operation — Municipal Control-Modern State Control-Industrial Training — Modern Industrial Guilds-Industrial Integration.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—A thoughtful and suggestive contribution towards the study of many of the social and economical questions of the day. THE PALL MALL GAZETTE.—The work is sound and solid, and gives a very

THE FALL MALL CALETIZ.- The work is sound and solid, and gives a very sensible estimate of the tendencies of the time.

THE NEW YORK OBSERVER .- It is well written and quite readable.

The Poor and their Happiness: Missions and Mission Philanthropy. By JOHN GOLDIE. Crown 8vo. Price 33. 6d. net. CONTENTS

Philanthropy—The Church's Influence on Philanthrophy— The Political Philanthropist and the Claim of Right—The Old and New Philanthropists: the Gospel of Discontent and Socialism—A Chapter of Advice: Individuality, Habit, Imitation—Labour—The Submerged Tenth—Some Missions: Attitude of the Poor towards the Mission—A Sentimental

Mission-A New Philanthropy-Nature as an Educator: The Duties of the New Philanthropist-The New Philanthropist as Doctor and Nurse.

Homes of the London Poor. By OCTAVIA HILL, Second Edition. Crown 8vo. Sewed. Price 1s.

CONTENTS

Cottage Property in London-Four Years' Management of a London Court-Landlords and Tenants in London-The Work of Volunteers in the Organization of Charity-Cooperation of Volunteers and Poor-Law Officials-Why the Artizans' Dwellings Bill was wanted-Space for the People.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE GLOBE .- We know nothing in literature of this kind more touching than the simple, unaffected tale of her struggles, disappointments and triumphs. There is not a word of mere sentimentalism in any one of her papers; she is clear, practical and definite. . . . We know no book more likely than this to stimulate ladies to undertake work of this kind, and to undertake it with ideas and motives certain to lead at least to partial success.

Diseases and Worse Remedies : Social Letters to The Times on Mr. Booth's Scheme, with a Preface and (reprinted) Introductory Essay by T. H. HUXLEY, F.R.S. Crown 8vo. Sewed. Price 1s. net.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE NATIONAL OBSERVER.-A masterpiece of servied, argument and damaging criticism. THE WORLD.-Takes us into a world of wholesome common sense, of keen,

pltiless logic, of wit, of humour. . . Everybody has read the letters ; every-body should buy the pamphlet and read them again.

THE SATURDAY REVIEW.-Will greatly enlighten the general public,

Social Evolution. By BENJAMIN KIDD.

4 E -

New (Third) Edition. Svo. Price 7s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

The feature of the new edition of this well-known work, now in its twentieth thousand, is an appendix comprising a reply to criticisms since its appearance in English and in the six foreign editions which have been issued. For those as yet unacquainted with the work it may be as well to add that it is an "attempt to state in simple scientific terms . . . that which has presented itself to the writer as a natural law of human evolution hitherto unenunciated."

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE GUARDIAN.-May be thoroughly recommended to any one who wants a broad, clear statement of the most pressing of social problems, with reasoned suggestions towards its solution-the whole in a volume of moderate compass, printed in comfortable type. ST. JAMES'S GAZETTE.-We can heartily commend the book to all serious

thinkers spon social subjects, as a very able and earnest effort to cope with the

almost overwhelming differulties of our complex labour problems. L'ECONOMISTA.---Una interessante o intruttiva opera sui disoccupati Viene appunto a forniro molti elementi per lo studio dell' importante argomento. e certo duvrà essera consultata da chiunque veglia conoscere quella manifestazione patologica del moderno sistema economico-

Statistics and Sociology. By RICHARD MATO-SMITH, PH.D., Professor of Political Economy and Social Science in Columbia College.

Svo., Price 12s. 6d. net.

CONTENTS

This book is Part I. of the author's work on "Science of Statistics," the second volume of which is being prepared under the title "Statistics and Economics.") The object of the present work is " to present the statistics of population in such a way as to show their real significance." The book is divided into four parts : Demographic, Social, Ethnographic, and Environment; and the Introduction, which contains chapters on Statistics in the service of Sociology-The Criteria of Statistics-and Method of Study.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES. The first part of an elaborate and comprehensive work. . . It presents its results in a form well adapted for intelligent study and reference.

THE OXFORD MAGAZINE .- It is a very complete and admirable account of the statistics of population of the last great censuses of the countries of Europe and the United States. . . . The book is prefaced by valuable and luminous essays on the value of statistics in sociology, the criteria by which their usefulness may be judged, and the methods by which they should be studied. . . . No more useful method could have been devised, and the judgment shown in the selection of the statistical data, and the critical acumen brought to bear on their discussion, should make this work a standard handbook of the subject for many years to come.

National Life and Character : A Forecast. By CHARLES H. PEARSON, Hon. LL.D. St. Andrews; late Fellow of Oriel College, Oxford; and sometime Minister of Education in Victoria; author of "A History of England in the Early and Middle Ages"; and of "Historical Maps of England."

Second Edition. Crown 8vo. Price 5s. net.

CONTENTS :

Introduction-Unchangeable Limits of the Higher Races-Stationary Order in Society-Some Dangers of Political Development-Some Advantages of an enhanced National Feeling-Decline of the Family-Decay of Character. **OPINIONS OF THE PRESS**

THE NINETEENTH CENTURY .- This remarkable book illustrates the manner and direction in which " the thoughts of men are widening with the process of the suns"; it records the impression left on a cultivated and reflective mind by our increasing knowledge of distant countries and by the writer's own careful observation of the political and economic changes that are taking place among non-European peoples. The point of view is novel, and the conclusions are somewhat unexpected. We have had some valuable histories of civilization, tracing its growth and evolution in the past; we have seldom, if ever, met with so elaborate and so interesting an attempt to forecast the future. . . . Possesses in a very high degree the quality of stimulating the imagination and suggesting reconsideration of accepted ideas. . . Nor whether we agree or disagree with its author's conclusions can we doubt that he has made a valuable and original contribution to political philosophy.

THE WESTMINSTER REVIEW.—Mr. Pearson has done a great national service. He has called attention to what may indeed become a pressing national danger. This book should be in the hands of every British—indeed every European—statesman.

THE ATHENÆUM.-An opportune reprint of the late Dr. Pearson's most interesting work.

Domestic Service. By LUCY MAYNARD SALMON. Extra Crown 8vo. Price 7s. 6d.

CONTENTS

Historical Aspects of Domestic Employments—Domestic Service during the Colonial Period—Domestic Service since the Colonial Period—Economic Phases of Domestic Service— Difficulties of Domestic Service from Standpoint of Employer —Advantages of Domestic Service—Industrial Disadvantages of Domestic Service—Social Disadvantages—Doubtful Remedies—Possible Remedies (five chapters)—Conclusion.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE TIMES.—The results are tabulated with care and discretion, and the author's comment on them displays a firm and comprehensive grasp of the problem considered.

THE DAILY CHRONICLE.—A very interesting book. . . . Mrs. Salmon may write in the practical, matter-of-fact style that befits a scientific treatise, but she manages all the same to make her account of the domestic arrangements of the early colonists vastly entertaining. . . . Utopian as these propositions may seem, they are based upon sound economic principles, for Mrs. Salmon is no mere theorist. It is a pleasure indeed, in this age of fluent ignorance and hurry, to find a woman who has mastered her subject so completely, and can state her case so clearly.

Clubs for Working Girls. By MAUDE STANLEY, Author of "Work about the Five Dials." Crown 8vo. Price 35. 6d.

CONTENTS

The London Work-Girl—The Way to Start and Manage a Girls' Club—Evening Classes—Country Visits and Excursions—Amusements in the Club—Religion of the Working Girl—Difference in the Social Position of Working Girls— Homes for Working Girls.

THE CHARIT ORGANIZATION REVIEW, To three who desire to help working girls, and, as an essential preliminary, to acquaint themselves with the characteristics of the class which they wish to belp, Miss Stanley's well-informed and themughly sensible pages can be heartily recommended.

THE GUARDIAN.—A most valuable contribution to the literature about the E-ondon poor. We recommend the book most heartily to all whe either have started or are starting girls' clube in London or elsewhere, as absolutely die best help they will be likely to obtain in furthering their work, and in making it fruitful of good results.

Socialism : Being Notes on a Political Tour. By SIR HENRY WRIXON, Late Attorney-General of Victoria, Australia, and Commissioner for Inquiry from that Province.

8vo. Price 10s. 6d.

CONTEXTS

This work will be found helpful in giving its readers an impartial prospective view of international Socialism. The following chapter headings show the countries which the author specially studied in connection with the subject :-Sydney-The Pacific, Fiji, and Honolulu-Canada-England-Socialism in England-Meetings-Socialists I have met-The United States (two chapters)-Socialistic Lierature-Thoughts of the Man in the Street-Religion and the Family under Socialism.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

THE MATIONAL REFILM, One of the very best books lately produced in Greater Britain. . . . It is really an admirable piece of work which will interest all political students who have access to it.

THE ECONOMIC REFIEW.-A book that none can read without considerable profit and interest.

THE SOUTH AUSTRALIAN REGISTER. The book, which is well written, is eminently readable and worth studying.
The Control of the Tropics. By BENJAMIN KIDD, Author of "Social Evolution."

Crown 8vo. Price 3s. net.

OPINIONS, OF THE PRESS,

• ST. JAMES'S GAZETTE.—Mr. Benjamin Kidd, in the very interestinb chapters on 'The Control of the Tropics,' which Messrs. Macmillan have puglished in volume form, draws attention to what must be a very vital question of the future. Mr. Kidd's arguments are exceedingly important at the present moment in the history of civilisation, and deserve close attention.

SCOTSMAN.— The writer has made a thorough and exhaustive study of his subject, and no more suggestive or well-informed treatise on colonisation has appeared than this.

Outlines of Sociology. By LESTER F. WARD, Author of "Dynamic Sociology," "The Psychic Factors of Civilisation," etc.

Crown 8vo. Price 7s. 6d. net.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS

SPEAKER .- Both style and thought are admirably clear.

The Elements of Sociology. A Text-Book for Colleges and Schools. By FRANKLIN HENRY GIDDINGS, M.A., Ph.D., Professor of Sociology in Columbia University, New York, Author of "The Principles of Sociology."

Extra Crown Svo. Price 6s. net.

The National Income and Its Distribution. By WILLIAM SMART, M.A., D.Phil., LL.D., Adam Smith Professor of Political Economy in the University of Glasgow. Crown 8vo. In the Press.

Local Government. By M. D. CHALMERS. Re-written by W. BLAKE ODGERS, of the Middle Temple, M.A., I.L.D., Q.C.

Crown 8vo. 2s. 6d. In the Press.

Philosophical Theory of the State. By BERNARD BOSANQUET.

8vo. In the Press.

The Finances of New York City. By EDWARD DANA DURAND, Ph.D., late Legislative Librarian in the New York State Library, Assistant Professor of Economics and Administration Leland Stanford, Jr., University.

Crown Svo. Price 7s. 6d. net.

Economics. By EDWARD THOMAS DEVINE, Ph.D., General Secretary of the Charity Organization Society of New York.

Globe 8vo. Price 4s. 6d. net.

The Shifting and Incidence of Taxation. By FDWIN R. A. SELIGMAN, Professor of Political Economy and Finance, Columbia University. Second Edition, completely revised and enlarged.

8vo, Price 12s. 6d. net

Friendly Visiting among the Poor. A Handbook for Charity Workers. By MARY E. RICHMOND, General Secretary of the Charity Organization Society of Baltimore.

Crown 8vo. Price 41. 6d.

The Economic Journal. The Journal of the British Economic Association. Edited by F. Y. EDOEWORTH and HENRY HIGGS.

Published Quarterly. Price 5s. net.

Quarterly Journal of Economics. Published for Harvard University.

Price 2s. 6d. net. each number

MACMILLAN AND CO., LTD., ST. MARTIN'S STREET. LONDON. W.C.

50